
 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 1 

 
  

 

 

 

 

EVOLVING GOLD CORP. 
605 – 1166 Alberni Street 

Vancouver British Columbia 
Canada V6E 3Z3 

Telephone: (604) 685-6375 
Fax: (604) 909-1163 

 
Web site: www.evolvinggold.com 

 

 
LISTING STATEMENT 

FORM 2A 
 

July 22, 2014

http://www.evolvinggold.com/


 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 2 

 
  

1. Table of Contents 
 
 
1. Table of Contents ................................................................................................... 1 
2. Corporate Structure ................................................................................................ 3 
3. General Development of the Business ................................................................... 4 
4 Narrative Description of the Business ..................................................................... 9 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information ......................................................... 26 
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis ................................................................. 28 

Annual MD&A ..................................................................................................... 28 
7. Market for Securities ............................................................................................... 37 
8. Consolidated Capitalization .................................................................................... 38 
9. Options to Purchase Securities .............................................................................. 40 
10. Description of the Securities ................................................................................... 42 
11. Escrowed Securities ............................................................................................... 43 
12. Principal Shareholders ........................................................................................... 43 
13 Directors and Officers ............................................................................................. 44 
14. Capitalization .......................................................................................................... 47 
15. Executive Compensation ........................................................................................ 48 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers .................................................. 62 
17.  Risk Factors............................................................................................................ 62 
18. Promoters ............................................................................................................... 69 
19. Legal Proceedings .................................................................................................. 69 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions ................................ 69 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars ............................................................... 69 
22. Material Contracts .................................................................................................. 70 
23 Interest of Experts .................................................................................................. 70 
24. Other Material Facts ............................................................................................... 71 
25. Financial Statements .............................................................................................. 71 

 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 3 

 
  

2. Corporate Structure 

Evolving Gold Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act on June 19, 2003 under the name “6109527 Canada Ltd.”  On September 30, 
2003, 6109527 Canada Ltd. changed its name to “Evolving Gold Corp.” 

The head office of the Company is located at 605 – 1166 Alberni Street, Vancouver British 
Columbia, V6E 3Z3 and the registered office of the Company is located at 1500 – 1055 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 4N7. 

 

The Company has the following subsidiaries: 

  
 Incorporation

Jurisdiction % Owned 
 
Evolving Gold Corporation  

 
USA 

 
100% 

5210 Nunavut Ltd. (inactive) Nunavut 100% 
Exemplar Gold Corp.(inactive) Canada 100% 
Rattlesnake Mining Corporation (inactive) Canada 100% 
Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Corporation  USA 100% 

 

The Company’s principal subsidiary, Evolving Gold US, is wholly-owned by the Company and 
was incorporated under the laws of Nevada.  Evolving Gold US is engaged in the exploration 
and development of the Company’s gold properties in the United States. 

5210 Nunavut is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was incorporated under the 
laws of Nunavut.   

Exemplar Gold Corp. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was incorporated under 
the CBCA. 

Rattlesnake Mining Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was 
incorporated under the CBCA. 

Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Corporation, is wholly-owned by the Company and was 
incorporated under the laws of Wyoming.  Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Corporation is the 
holding company for the Rattlesnake property in the State of Wyoming. 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 4 

 
  

 
3. General Development of the Business 

Evolving Gold Corp. is a Canadian-based gold exploration company engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of natural resource properties.  The Company's focus is drill 
intensive exploration of properties believed to have potential for the discovery of bulk tonnage 
and/or high grade gold deposits of significant economic interest, most notably on its discovery 
properties at Carlin, Nevada and Jake Creek, Nevada.   

Year ending March 31, 2012 

Effective April 1, 2011, the Company appointed William (Bill) Gee as the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company and a member of the Board. 

On May 4, 2011, the Company commenced trading on the OTC Markets Group Inc.’s OTCQX 
International tier, under the symbol “EVOGF”.  This quotation was subsequently downgraded to 
OTCBB reduce costs in 2013. 

On June 24, 2011, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement (the “Rattlesnake JV 
Agreement”) with Agnico-Eagle Mines Limited and its operating subsidiaries (collectively 
“Agnico-Eagle”) with respect to the Rattlesnake Hills Property.  Pursuant to the Rattlesnake JV 
Agreement, Agnico-Eagle could earn up to a 70% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills Property over 
a seven-year period.  Agnico-Eagle could earn an initial 51% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills 
Property by: 

(a) making cash payments of an aggregate of US$12,000,000 over a four-year period; 

(b) purchasing Common Shares totalling an aggregate $9,000,000 over a four-year period; 
and 

(c) funding aggregate work expenditures on the Rattlesnake Hills Property of 
US$26,000,000 over a five-year period. 

Agnico-Eagle could then earn an additional 19% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills Property by: 

(a) purchasing Common Shares totalling an aggregate $14,000,000 on or before June 
2017; 

(b) funding aggregate work expenditures on the Rattlesnake Hills Property of 
US$15,000,000 on or before June 2018; and 

(c) completing a feasibility study on the Rattlesnake Hills Property on or before June 2018. 

During June 2012, Agnico-Eagle provided notice to the Company of its intention to terminate the 
Rattlesnake JV Agreement.  The termination of the Rattlesnake JV Agreement was effective 
June 29, 2012. 

On August 23, 2011, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 10,290,000 
units at a price of $0.56 per unit for gross proceeds of $5,762,400 (US$5,715,783).  Each unit 
consisted of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant.  Each 
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whole warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share at a price of $0.75 until 
February 23, 2013.  In connection with the non-brokered private placement, the Company paid 
certain arm’s length finders a cash commission equal to 6% of the gross proceeds raised by 
such finder and issued to the finders Common Share purchase warrants equal to 6% of the 
number units sold by such finder.  Each warrant will entitle a finder to purchase one Common 
Share at a price of $0.60 until February 13, 2013. 

On November 9, 2011, the Company announced the resignation of Quinton Hennigh from the 
Board and on December 23, 2011 announced the resignation of R. Stuart (Tookie) Angus from 
the Board.  Mr. Steven Koehler assumed the role of Chief Geologist with the Company following 
Mr. Hennigh’s resignation.  On February 27, 2012, the Company announced Mr. Hennigh had 
been appointed to the technical advisory board of the Company. 

Effective February 22, 2012, R. Bruce Duncan succeeded William (Bill) Gee as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company.  Mr. Gee stepped down from the Board and as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company to pursue other opportunities in the mining sector. 

On March 12, 2012, the Company announced the closing of the first tranche of the sale of a 
portion of the Company’s interest in Prosperity for gross proceeds of approximately $2,812,500 
(US$2,820,094).  

Year ending March 31, 2013 

On April 25, 2012, the Company announced the completion of the final tranche of the sale of a 
portion of the Company’s interest in Prosperity for gross proceeds of approximately $1,200,000.  
Following the sale, the Company continues to hold approximately 3,975,000 common shares of 
Prosperity, representing 9.8% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Prosperity, and 
1,667,000 Prosperity Warrants.   

On June 6, 2012, the Company announced Agnico-Eagle had provided notice of its intention to 
terminate the Rattlesnake JV Agreement.  The termination of the Rattlesnake JV Agreement will 
be effective June 29, 2012. 

On August 13, 2012 the Company announced the completion of a non-brokered private 
placement of 12 million units at $0.30 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,600,000.  Each unit 
consisted of one common share and one common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.40 
per common share until August 13, 2015.  The Company paid total cash commissions of 
$14,700 and issued 49,000 finders warrants exercisable at $0.30 per common share until 
August 13, 2014. 

On December 31, 2012 the Company announced an agreement with Pinetree Capital Ltd. 
whereby the Company issued 5,555,555 common shares in consideration for the issuance of 
1,176,470 common shares of Pinetree Capital All shares were subject to a four month hold 
period. This share issuance was valued at $1,003,100 based on the quoted market price of 
Pinetree Capital on the transaction date. 

On January 21, 2013 the Company announced that 5,145,000 previously issued common share 
purchase warrants which were to expire on February 23, 2013 were extended to February 23, 
2014.  The exercise price was further amended down from $0.75 per common share to $0.40 
per common share. 
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On February 7, 2013 the Company announced , subject to shareholder and regulatory approval, 
a Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) whereby Evolving’s wholly owned subsidiary, 
Evolving US, would transfer specific Rattlesnake net assets to a newly incorporated US 
company named Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Company ( “Rattlesnake Wyoming”).   
 

Year ending March 31, 2014 

On April 2, 2013 at a special meeting of Securityholders, the shareholders of the Company 
approved the Plan of Arrangement announced on February 7, 2013.  The POA remains subject 
to final court approval, financing and stock exchange approval of the listing. 
 
On August 19, 2013, the Company announced a non-brokered private placement to raise gross 
proceeds of up to $300,000.  The Company authorized up to 6,000,000 units at $0.05 with each 
unit consisting of one common share in the capital of the Company and one common Share 
purchase warrant, with each whole warrant being exercisable for the purchase of an additional 
Common Share for a period of three years from closing at $0.08 per Common Share.  
 
The Company also announced that Robert W. Barker had resigned as director of the Company.  
 
On August 23, 2013, the Company announced the closing of the non-brokered private 
placement announced on August 19th.  Gross proceeds of $300,000 were raised through the 
issuance of 6,000,000 units at $0.05.  T securities issued in the Private Placement are subject 
to a statutory hold period expiring on December 22, 2013.  
 
On September 30, 2013 the Company provided an update on its mineral properties. Due to 
market uncertainties, the Company re-evaluated the land position on its properties with a focus 
on refining its holdings to emphasize the strongest targets and assets.  
 
The Rattlesnake Hills gold project in Wyoming remained as a core asset to the company and 
was unchanged. The Company has explored this property over the last 5 years with  
extensive drilling, surface mapping and rock and soil sampling,  
 
The Carlin property and agreement with Newmont remained unchanged. The Arch Discovery at 
Carlin with its high grade gold mineralization and extensive gold system remains the 
cornerstone of Evolving Gold's exploration program in Nevada. The Carlin property is on the 
southern end of the prolific Carlin Trend. 
  
Evolving Gold released the Humboldt property. This property which was adjoining the Carlin 
property and has a number of interesting geological and geophysical targets proved to be an 
untenable asset since ongoing expenses were beyond those the Company could justify with its 
current financial position and the state of the capital markets for junior explorers. 
  
Evolving Gold's Jake Creek property is situated between Newmont's Carlin-style Twin Creeks 
Mine and the bonanza-grade epithermal gold deposit at Midas. Jake Creek exhibits 
characteristics of both deposit types and the focus of the preliminary exploration  
program has been on following the epithermal system and local high grade gold mineralization 
identified on the main part of the property. Using high resolution gravity and magnetic surveys in 
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conjunction with detailed surface mapping program the Company has refined its claim package 
to focus on the strongest targets while minimizing expenses.  
 
On October 25, 2013 the Company announced the grant of up to 2,900,000 stock options to 
Directors, Officers and employees of the Company, exercisable at a price of $0.05 per share for 
a period of up to five years from the date of grant.  
 
On March 5, 2014 the Company announced a non-brokered private placement of up to 
10,000,000 units at $0.03. The units consist of one common share and one half common Share 
purchase warrant, with each whole warrant being exercisable for the purchase of an additional 
Common Share for at $0.05 per Common Share for the first 12 months and  
at $0.10 thereafter.  
.  
The Company also announced that William F. Lindqvist had resigned as director of the 
Company, and that Mr. Robert Horsley had been appointed as a director.  
 
On March 17, 2014 the Company announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement with 
NV Gold Corporation to option its 100% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills Project. Under the 
Agreement, NVX may acquire Rattlesnake Hills by completing the following:  
 
• paying US$100,000 as a non-refundable deposit; 
• paying US$300,000 as a down payment to EVG US;  
•  within 3 business days following receipt of TSX Venture Exchange acceptance of the option 

agreement, delivering US$100,000 and issuing to the Company 1,000,000 common share 
purchase warrants, each such warrant exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at 
CDN$0.10 per share for 36 months from the date of issue; 

• On or before August 1, 2014 paying US$200,000; 
• On or before September 15, 2014, issuing 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants to 

the Company, each such warrant exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at 
CDN$0.10 per share until September 15th, 2016; 

• On or before November 1, 2014, paying US$800,000; 
• On or before the first anniversary of TSXV acceptance of this option agreement, paying  

US$1,000,000 and 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants, each such warrant 
exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at CDN$0.10 per share for a period of 18 
months from the date of issue; and 

• On or before the second anniversary of the date of this option agreement, paying 
$1,000,000 and issuing 1,000,000 common shares of NVX;  

 
On March 17, 2014 the Company also announced that the private placement announced on 
March 5, 2014 had been cancelled. 

Events subsequent to March 31, 2014 
 
On April 28, 2014, the Company announced a private placement agreement with certain related 
parties of the Company. The Company proposed to issue a total of 16,250,000 common shares 
at a deemed price of $0.02 per share in consideration for settlement of debts of $325,000, being 
the regulatory maximum eligible for debt settlement. The agreement is subject to regulatory 
approval, and the common shares will be subject to a four-month hold. In connection with the 
settlement of debt for shares, Bruce Duncan, CEO and Chuck Jenkins, CFO agreed to amend 
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their existing management agreements to remove bonus and RRSP contribution obligations, 
reduce change in control benefits to 6 months and reduce management fees to $7500 and 
$5000 per month respectively. As of June 30, 2014, a total of $ 519,691 was deferred to long 
term debt, pending equity or other settlement. These amounts are in Canadian dollars. 
 
The Company also entered into discussions regarding additional debt settlement agreements 
with certain vendors.  In this regard, during the first quarter of 2014-15, certain key vendors 
agreed to the postponement and, in some cases, a reduction of the debt outstanding.  
 
Accordingly, as a result of the above, as of June 30, 2014, a total of US$1,226,121 in 
management fees and third party payables was reclassified and deferred to long term debt, 
pending final equity or other settlement on terms established with the vendors.  
 
As of June 30, 2014 the working capital position of the Company is: 
 
Cash    $210,868  
Available for sale securities      156,722  
Amounts receivable          1,950  
Prepaid expenses        77,232  
  

Current Assets      446,772  

  Account payable and accrued liabilities   (243,992) 

  Current Liabilities   (243,992) 

  Working Capital as of June 30, 2014    $202,780  
 
 
The Company intends to take additional steps as part of a repositioning plan to ensure the 
future viability of the Company.   
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4. Narrative Description of the Business 

Since its incorporation, the Company’s principal business has been the acquisition and 
exploration of natural resource properties, with the goal of moving key properties into 
production.  Currently, the Company’s focus is on projects in the United States, particularly in 
Nevada.  The Company continues to emphasize the development of properties where 
management believes there is potential for the discovery of high grade deposits. 

Mineral Properties 
 
Newmont Mineral Properties 
 
In September 2007, the Company signed a Letter of Intent to enter into an agreement with 
Newmont USA Limited, Newmont Capital Limited and Elko Land and Livestock Company 
(collectively “Newmont”) concerning an exploration partnership on the Sheep Creeks, Boulder 
Valley, Carlin and Cottonwood Creek properties. A fifth property, identified as Susie Creek, has 
not had any activity to date. Sheep Creeks was released back to Newmont in 2009. During 
fiscal 2010 the Company terminated the Cottonwood portion of the agreement. During fiscal 
2012, the Company decided to terminate any further exploration on Boulder Valley, and wrote 
off $1,588,118 of deferred exploration costs. 
 
In addition, the Company acquired the Humboldt Properties adjacent to the above mentioned 
Carlin properties as well as additional properties which fell within the Carlin Agreement 
boundary. A Mineral Lease, Sublease and Agreement which was signed effective November 28, 
2007 continues to govern the Company’s interest in the Boulder Valley and Carlin mineral 
properties.  
 
Under the terms of this Agreement, Newmont would lease or sublease to the Company its 
interest in certain lands, unpatented mining claims and fee interests in these areas, subject to a 
back-in right in exchange for the Company: 
 
• Assume all of Newmont’s lease obligations insofar as they pertain to these project areas. 
• Incur US$3,500,000 in aggregate exploration expenditures (70% of exploration expenditures to 
be incurred for direct drilling) within the project area over five years. 
• Reimburse Newmont for all payments and filings necessary to keep the properties in good 
standing. 
• Provide semi-annual reports to Newmont for each project area’s work program and costs 
incurred 
• After six years, in the event that US$750,000 was not incurred on exploration expenditures 
during the preceding lease year on any project area, Evolving would pay annual rental on each 
project area calculated at $10 per acre, escalating by 5% each year, for each project area so 
defined. 
• Pay a 3% to 5% sliding scale net smelter return royalty on production from the property less 
any underlying royalties with a minimum of 2% 
 
Newmont can elect to terminate the agreement and enter into one or more joint venture 
agreements with the Company covering all or a portion of each project area. Newmont may 
earn a 51% interest in each joint venture property by expending on the property 200% of the 
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exploration expenditures made by the Company from the date of the agreement to the date 
Newmont elects to exercise its joint venture option and may elect to earn an additional 19% 
interest in the joint venture property by expending on the property an additional 150% of the 
Company’s expenditures on the joint venture property. If the Company decides to commence 
mineral production of the project area and Newmont elects not to exercise the joint venture 
option or elects not to complete its earn-in expenditures, Newmont would agree to sell its 
interest in the project area property to the Company. 
 
The Company has the right to provide sixty days written notice at any time to surrender the 
agreement as to all or any part of the property. If Evolving decides to commence mineral 
production of any project area and Newmont elects not to exercise the joint venture option or 
elects not to complete its earn-in expenditures Newmont would agree to sell its interest in the 
project area property to Evolving. 
 
Carlin Mineral Property 

Steven R. Koehler, B.Sc., C.P.G. #10216, the former Chief Geologist of the Company prepared 
the Humboldt and Carlin Technical Report entitled “Evolving Gold Corp. National Instrument 43-
101 Technical Report on the Carlin and Humboldt Projects, Elko and Eureka Counties, Nevada, 
USA” dated January 23, 2012.  Steven R. Koehler is a qualified person under NI 43-101.  The 
following is the summary of the Humboldt and Carlin Technical Report.  The following summary 
is derived from the Humboldt and Carlin Technical Report and is qualified by reference to the 
Humboldt and Carlin Technical Report.  Readers are encouraged to review the Humboldt and 
Carlin Technical Report which is available for review on the SEDAR website located at 
www.sedar.com under the Company’s profile. 

The Company is conducting exploration activities on the Carlin Property and the Humboldt 
Property, immediately south of Carlin, Nevada.  The exploration projects are a complex 
combination of privately-owned mineral rights and unpatented mining claims that cover 
approximately 145 km2 on the Carlin Trend. 

General geology of the project area includes unmineralized Quaternary sediments, Tertiary 
volcanic rocks, and Paleozoic siliciclastic rocks that overlie and obscure Paleozoic age 
carbonate rocks.  Paleozoic carbonate rocks are the favorable host for bulk-tonnage, sediment-
hosted gold deposits elsewhere on the Carlin Trend.  The Company is exploring beneath 
unmineralized cover rocks for sediment-hosted gold deposits using systematic data compilation, 
geophysical surveys and drilling. 
 
Carlin comprises approximately 10,880 acres, made up of a combination of Federal lode claims 
that were staked or leased by the Company, fee surface and mineral rights acquired or leased 
by the Company, and earn-in rights to both fee surface and mineral rights, as well as lode 
claims on Federal lands, held by Newmont. 
 
The Company commenced a diamond drill program on the property on June 7, 2009 to test for 
favourable stratigraphy on its property in the south end of the Carlin Trend. Results from a 
vertical hole, CAR-002, included 35.1 m @ 1.21 gpt Au (115 ft @ 0.035 opt Au) starting at 858.0 
m and 22.8 m @ 1.11 gpt Au (75 ft at 0.032 opt Au) starting at 1420.4 m. Both intercepts occur 
in calcareous units favourable for the development of high grade gold mineralization typical of 
other gold deposits in the highly productive Carlin Trend. The Company subsequently drilled 
hole CAR-007 approximately 500 m northwest of CAR-002, to a depth of 1,312 m. CAR-007 
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intersected high grade gold mineralization including 18.3 meters at 11.7 grams per tonne (60 
feet at 0.34 opt) gold. Such thickness, grades and depths are comparable to other gold deposits 
currently being mined underground on the Carlin Trend. 
 
In September, 2010, the Company completed a Titan Magnetic Tellurics (MT) survey over the 
area around the CAR holes to evaluate the structural controls on the high grade gold values 
encountered in hole CAR-007. Based on these results, the Company continued to drill structural 
targets. Hole CAR-010 intersected 10.1 m at 11.09 grams per tonne (gpt) Au starting at 892 m, 
and a wedge hole, CAR-010.1, intersected 14.7 m at 8.76 gpt Au starting at 885 m. These 
encouraging results from CAR-010 coupled with the high grade results from CAR-007 confirmed 
the discovery of a significant, high grade zone of Carlin-style gold mineralization. A lower zone 
of extensive brecciation and low grade mineralization is blanket style and is currently interpreted 
as a source reservoir for the high grade gold mineralization in the favorable calcareous 
stratigraphy. 
 
Holes Car-016 through CAR-019 were short step outs (50 meters maximum to the SE, SW, NE, 
and NW), designed to test the extent of mineralization around CAR-007 and CAR-010. Drilling 
has identified a zone of high grade, open and thickening to the East/Southeast with the base of 
mineralization dipping steeply in this direction. The top of the mineralization appears to be lying 
relatively flat and coinciding with an internal fold structure within the carbonate package dipping 
shallowly to the East/Southeast. 
 
To follow up on results in hole CAR-002 the Company re-entered this hole in March, 2011, to 
drill a series of wedge holes. Results from these wedges include 15.7 m at 5.08 gpt Au in hole 
CAR-002.3.1 starting at 921 m. This wedge indicated the discovery of a new elevated grade 
zone in the vicinity of hole CAR-002 Long intervals of gold mineralization have identified a large 
footprint for this gold system with total drilling outlining a 1,000m by 600m Carlin-style gold 
system that is open in all directions. High grade gold mineralization has been identified in two 
zones within what is identified by the Company as the Arch Zone or Arch target. 
 
On November 14, 2012 the Company announced high grade gold intersections in drill holes 
CAR-016.2 and CAR-021 at its Arch target. Drill hole CAR-016.2 intersected 9.4 meters at 
12.51 grams per tonne gold (30.8 ft at 0.365 opt Au), which included 3.4 meters at 28.22 grams 
per tonne gold (11.2 ft at 0.824 opt Au). Drill hole CAR-021 intersected an upper interval of 27.7 
meters at 4.97 grams per tonne gold (90.9 ft at 0.145 opt Au) including 7.6 meters at 11.34 
grams per tonne gold (24.9 ft at 0.331 opt Au), and a lower interval of 10.2 meters at 17.92 
grams per tonne gold (33.5 ft at 0.523 opt Au): Gold mineralization in both holes is accompanied 
by decalcification of limestone host rocks, remobilized carbon, fine pyrite and realgar. The high 
grade zone projects to the east southeast and is open in that direction. The nearby Saddle 
(Premier Gold) and Rain (Newmont Mining Corp) deposits, about five kilometers to the south 
have similar orientation. Evolving Gold geologists believe that this drilling now shows that the 
Arch Zone high grade mineralization follows a structural corridor along the crest of a 
pronounced anticline in the underlying rocks and that high grades in hole CAR-002 and its 
accompanying wedge holes (approximately 700 meters southeast of CAR-007) are related to a 
similar structure. 
 
On January 17, 2013 the Company announced the continuation of drilling in the extension of 
high grade gold mineralization at the Arch Zone discovery. Drill hole CAR-021.2 continued to 
expand the length of the high grade Arch Zone to the southeast, intersecting multiple intervals of 
high grade gold: 7.0 meters at 7.87 grams per tonne (gpt) gold that included 0.9 meters at 17.66 
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gpt gold, 0.4 meters at 18.92 gpt gold, and 1.5 meters at 11.32 gpt gold, followed by 1.5 meters 
at 20.59 gpt gold, and followed further by 2.7 meters at 14.62 gpt gold. These high grade gold 
intervals were distributed over a down hole length of approximately 139 meters, significantly 
longer than the 60-90 meters in other nearby drill holes.Drill hole CAR-021.2 expands one of 
two high grade zones in the Arch Zone to approximately 100 meters north-south and east-west. 
The strike direction of this high grade zone is interpreted as northwest-southeast, and it is open 
in all directions. 
 
In 2010, the company increased its mineral and surface rights within the Carlin Project as 
follows: 
 
• On January 11, 2010 the Company signed a ten year surface lease agreement for the lands 
described as the Carlin property in exchange for cash of $16,000 (paid) and $10,000 payable 
annually on January 11, 2011 and each year thereafter. Prior to commencement of commercial 
production the Company is obligated to purchase the area for US$2,000 per applicable acre. 
The agreement can be terminated by Evolving upon thirty days written notice and can be 
extended if certain conditions are met including providing compensation for surface area 
disturbance. 
• On March 29, 2010 the Company signed a purchase option and royalty reservation agreement 
for a 50% undivided fee mineral interest in additional lands on the Carlin property in exchange 
for cash of $10,000, cash of $190,000 paid on completion of due diligence and the issue of 
noninterest bearing promissory notes for $1,200,000 payable in annual $300,000 instalments 
commencing May 27, 2011. The Company will be committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR on 
production. 
• On April 13, 2010 the Company signed an additional option purchase agreement for a 100% 
undivided fee interest in additional adjacent lands in exchange for cash paid on signing of 
$10,000, cash of $290,000 paid on completion of due diligence and the issue of promissory 
notes for $2,200,000 payable in annual $550,000 instalments, commencing August 10, 2011. 
The Company will be committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR on production.  
 
The Company subsequently renegotiated the terms of the Carlin Property promissory note to a 
$2,200,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest 
rate shall be the Wall Street Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%. Payments of $360,000 
are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each year thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which 
time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. 
 
Additional unpatented lode claims were staked, amounting to approximately 150 acres. 
Additional agreements that increased surface and mineral rights affecting both the Carlin Project 
and Humboldt Project are described below. 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company notified the vendors of the additional Carlin 
properties that it would be unable to comply with the payment obligations on their due dates and 
thus was released from any further obligation under this note. 

At March 31, 2014, in connection with its annual audit, the Company assessed the carrying 
amount of its Carlin property for indicators of impairment such as changes in (1) the period for 
which the entity cannot explore in the specific area or whether these rights have expired during 
the period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed and (2) whether 
substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the 
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
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by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use (being the present value 
of the expected cash flows) of the relevant assets. In this particular case the recoverable 
amount is considered to be $5,517,366. 

As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $16,552,099 for the year ended 
March 31, 2014 in respect of the Carlin property.  

 
Humboldt Property 
 
The Humboldt property lies adjacent to the Carlin project. It is 100% controlled by Evolving Gold 
and is not subject to any terms of the Newmont agreement described above. This land package 
is one of the largest land holdings in the Carlin Trend. The Company carried out an aggressive 
exploration program on the Humboldt property in calendar 2010, including geophysics, mapping 
and drilling, and has generated numerous drill targets many of which are still untested by 
drilling. One hole, EHB-002, completed in early September, 2010 to a depth of 1,310 m, 
encountered favourable stratigraphic host rocks similar to those encountered in the CAR holes 
on the Company’s Carlin property approximately 4.5 km northwest. Anomalous gold, arsenic 
and antimony were encountered between 1,115-1,150 meters. 
 
Two reverse circulation pre-collars were drilled in the western part of the property in late 2010. A 
core tail, FC-001, was completed on one of these pre-collars on June 16, 2011 to a depth of 
approximately 680 meters, but it did not reach its target depth of 1000 m and terminated in 
rocks above the prospective host horizon. 
 
In 2010, the company increased its mineral and surface rights within the Humboldt Project. 
• On March 29, 2010 the Company signed a purchase and royalty reservation agreement for a 
50% undivided fee interest in additional mineral lands on the Humboldt property in exchange for 
cash paid of $15,000, cash of $285,000 paid on completion of due diligence, and the issue of 
noninterest bearing promissory notes for $2,800,000 payable in annual $700,000 instalments, 
commencing May 27, 2011. The Company will be committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR on 
production. Subsequent to year end the Company paid the first promissory note instalment of 
$700,000. 
• At April 13, 2010 the Company also signed two other purchase agreements for a 100% 
undivided fee interest in additional adjacent lands in exchange for cash of $20,000 paid, cash of 
$480,000 paid on closing and the issue of promissory notes for $1,800,000 and $3,200,000 
payable in annual $450,000 and $800,000 instalments respectively, commencing August 10, 
2011. The Company will be committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR on production Subsequent to the 
quester end, the Company agreed with the vendor to postpone the August 10, 2011 payment by 
six months in return for a payment of $150,000. 
• In 2009 and 2010 Evolving staked 602 unpatented lode claims within the Humboldt project 
During the 2010, the Company re-negotiated the terms of the Humboldt Property promissory 
notes to the following: 
1) $3,200,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest 
rate shall be the Wall Street Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%. Payments of $523,000 
are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each year thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which 
time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. 
2) $1,800,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest 
rate shall be the Wall Street Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%. Payments of $295,000 
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are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each year thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which 
time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. 
 

During the ended March 31, 2014, the Company notified the vendors of the additional Humboldt 
properties that it would be unable to comply with the payment obligations on their due dates and 
was thus released from any further obligations under the promissory notes. The Company 
consequently abandoned the claims in the Humboldt property and recorded an impairment charge 
of $6,357,127 in respect of the mineral expenditures deferred on this property.    

 
Carlin and Humboldt Properties 
 
Additional agreements that increased surface and mineral rights affecting both the Carlin Project 
and Humboldt Project are described below. 
 
On October 26, 2009 the Company signed a mineral lease and property option agreement 
comprising sixty-two unpatented mining claims located in Elko County, Nevada, part of the 
Humboldt property. In addition on February 28, 2010 the Company signed a mineral lease and 
royalty buy down agreement comprising eight unpatented mining claims located within the 
Carlin Project. Both agreements have a primary term of fifteen years and so long thereafter as 
exploration, development or mining is being conducted on the property but can be terminated at 
any time in whole or in part after the Company provides thirty days written notice.  
 
Pursuant to the terms of these two agreements the Company is required to pay: 
• Cash of $ 25,000 (paid) 
• Advance royalty payments: 

- $ 10,000 (paid) 
- $ 12,500 on October 26, 2010 (paid) 
- $ 15,000 on October 26, 2011 (paid) 
- $ 17,500 on October 26, 2012 (paid) 
- $ 20,000 on October 26, 2013 (deferred) 
- $ 25,000 on October 26, 2014 and 
- $ 25,000 consumer price index adjusted, to be paid annually on October 26, 2015 and 
each year thereafter for the duration of the lease 

• Advance royalty payments: 
- $ 10,000 on February 28, 2011 to 2015 ($20,000 paid) 
- $ 15,000 on February 28, 2016 to 2020 
- $ 20,000 on February 28, 2021 and 
- $ 20,000 consumer price index adjusted, to be paid annually on February 28, 2021 and 
each year thereafter for the duration of the lease 

• Shares to be issued: 
- 50,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent) by October 26, 2014 
- 50,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent) by February 28, 2015 
- 200,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent), at commencement of production. 

• Pay claim maintenance fees and filings to maintain the unpatented claims. 
 
The agreements are subject to a royalty of 2.775% to 3% of net smelter returns which the 
Company can, with respect to the 8 unpatented claims, reduce to 2% with the payment of 
$1,000,000 for each 0.5% reduction. Pursuant to the terms of the October 26, 2009 Agreement, 
the Company has the right to acquire ownership of the 62 unpatented claims (and royalty) in 
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exchange for a cash payment of $4,000,000 subject to recoupment of any royalty payments 
made by the Company. 
 
On April 13, 2010, the Company signed a ten year surface lease agreement to obtain access to 
drill over fee ground within the Carlin and Humboldt project areas in exchange for cash of 
$42,503 on execution and on each anniversary thereafter if acreage is not decreased. The 
Company will also pay a one-time payment of $1,500 for each drill site and $100 per acre per 
year for other surface disturbance if ranching and grazing is not possible. One half of these 
costs have been allocated to each of the Carlin and Humboldt properties. 
 
On April 13, 2010 the Company signed two mineral lease agreements encompassing a total of 
4,635.76 acres of additional lands in the Elko and Eureka counties in Nevada in exchange for 
cash paid for advance mineral royalties of $55,725. One half of these costs have been allocated 
to each of the Carlin and Humboldt properties. Future royalties will be payable annually based 
on the amount of acreage utilized but will be at least $20,000. The term of each lease is ten 
years which can be extended if certain conditions are achieved. Pursuant to the terms of both 
leases the Company can decrease the leased acreage or can otherwise terminate the lease 
after thirty days written notice is provided and has also been granted the right of first refusal to 
purchase either property. The agreements are subject to a non-participating production royalty 
of 5% of net smelter returns. 
 
The Carlin Property and the Humboldt Property warrant further exploration based on proximity 
to other Carlin-style gold deposits, the presence of Paleozoic host rocks that are favorable for 
hosting Carlin-style gold mineralization, the presence of numerous untested geophysical 
anomalies, and the positive drill results to date. 
 
Due to market conditions and the difficulty of raising funds in these conditions, an exploration 
budget has not been proposed. Current work focuses on reworking existing data and targeting 
for upcoming exploration and marketing. A program to follow up on recent high grade intercepts 
on Carlin with 3 full hole tests and 3-5 wedges and test the Eastern expression of mineralization 
around CAR-002 with a further 2 holes would require approximately $5 million. 
 
Work done to date will allow the Company to hold the core property assets for payments of 
approximately $ 35,000 on an annual basis, with work carried forward to cover the annual work 
requirements of the agreement with Newmont. 
 
Jake Creek Mineral Property 

William J. Crowl, R.G., MMSA and Jennifer J. Brown, P.G., SME-RM prepared the Jake Creek 
Technical Report entitled “NI 43-101 Technical Report on Exploration, Jake Creek Gold Project, 
Humboldt County, Nevada” dated June 19, 2012.  William J. Crowl and Jennifer J. Brown are 
qualified persons under NI 43-101.  The following is the summary of the Jake Creek Technical 
Report.  The entire Jake Creek Technical Report is incorporated by reference into this listing 
statement.  The following summary is derived from the Jake Creek Technical Report and is 
qualified by reference to the Jake Creek Technical Report.  Readers are encouraged to review 
the Jake Creek Technical Report which is available for review on the SEDAR website located at 
www.sedar.com under the Company’s profile. 

The Jake Creek Property is located in northern Humboldt County, Nevada, approximately 45 
miles northeast of Winnemucca.  The Jake Creek Property consists of 699 generally 
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contiguous, unpatented mining claims covering a total of approximately 14,405 acres.  The 
claim block is situated among the buttes and adjoining slopes of the western foothills of the 
Snowstorm Mountains, along a north-northwest trending structural corridor known as the Jake 
Creek Trend.  Local terrain is gentle to relatively steep, with elevations ranging from roughly 
5,000 to 5,800 feet above mean sea level. 

The Company is the sole owner of the Jake Creek Property claim block and holds an undivided, 
100% interest in the Jake Creek Property. 

The Jake Creek Property is located along the western margin of the north-northwest trending 
Northern Nevada Rift, the presumed source of local mid-Miocene igneous activity and related 
precious metal mineralization.  A series of slightly younger, east-northeast oriented faults 
dissect the Jake Creek Property, and may provide structural control of gold mineralization within 
the project area.  The geology of the Jake Creek Property is dominated by bi-modal, mid-
Miocene extrusive rocks, including felsic (rhyolite) to intermediate (dacite) flows and welded 
tuffs.  Within the project area, these Tertiary volcanic rocks unconformably overlie Paleozoic 
sedimentary rocks at depths of 300 to 1,000 feet.  Gold mineralization at the Jake Creek 
Property is known to occur in the Tertiary volcanic rocks near the unconformable contact, and in 
association with basaltic intrusive rocks interpreted as probable feeder dikes. 
 
In late December, 2007 the Company acquired by staking approximately 435 claims totalling 
approximately 8,900 acres 6 kilometres east of Twin Creeks mine in north-central Nevada. A 
mercury vapour study was completed at Jake Creek in August, 2008. Results from this survey 
defined at least four drill targets for possible buried Carlin-style mineralization. In September, 
2010, the Company drilled two reverse circulation drill holes on two of these mercury vapour 
targets both of which intersected sedimentary rocks considered favourable for hosting Carlin 
type gold deposits beneath volcanic cover. 
 
Hole JC-005 intersected 45.7 meters at 0.97 gpt Au, including 28.9 meters at 1.33 gpt Au, and 
1.5 meters at 11.3 gpt Au in the volcanic units. Anomalous gold and alteration continued into the 
underlying Paleozoic sedimentary units.  
 
The Company subsequently increased its land holdings at Jake Creek to approximately 21,000 
acres. 
 
The 2011 Jake Creek reverse-circulation (RC) drilling program included 3,580.8 meters of 
drilling in eleven holes to the west and east from drill hole JC-005. Results of the eleven-hole 
program included 39.6m of 0.873 g/t gold in JC-002, 19.8m of 0.676 g/t gold in JC-006, and 
1.5m of 3.1 g/t gold within 16.7m of 0.605 g/t gold in JC-013. This drilling outlined an epithermal, 
volcanic-hosted gold system containing sub-horizontal and laterally extensive low-grade gold 
mineralization. Gold mineralization includes locally banded epithermal veins and gold in quartz-
stockwork zones up to 11.3 g/t. The drilling indicates a gold system over 550 meters wide east-
west that remains open to the north, south and east. 
 
On June 28, 2012 the Company released a 43-101 report on the property prepared by 
Gustavson Associates, an independent consulting company. 
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Rattlesnake Hills Mineral Property 

David Turner, M.Sc., PGeoscientist #33785 (British Columbia) and # 16927 (Saskatchewan), 
prepared the Rattlesnake Hills Technical Report entitled: “Independent Technical Report on the 
Rattlesnake Hills Property, Natrona County, Wyoming, USA” dated December 13, 2012.  David 
Turner is a qualified person under NI 43-101.  The following is the summary of the Rattlesnake 
Hills Technical Report.  The entire Rattlesnake Hills Technical Report is incorporated by 
reference into this LISTING STATEMENT.  The following summary is derived from the 
Rattlesnake Hills Technical Report and is qualified by reference to the Rattlesnake Hills 
Technical Report.  Readers are encouraged to review the Rattlesnake Hills Technical Report 
which is available for review on the SEDAR website located at www.sedar.com under the 
Company’s profile. 

The Rattlesnake Hills Property lies in Natrona County, Wyoming in Section 6, T31N, R87W; 
Sections 1, 2, 3, and 4, T31N, R88W; Sections 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 
29, 30, and 31, T32N, R87W; and Sections 1, 2, 3, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 
26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 33, 34, 35, and 36, T32N, R88W.  The Rattlesnake Hills Property is located 
approximately 47 miles west-southwest of Casper and is easily accessible from Wyoming State 
Highway 220.  Access to the Rattlesnake Hills Property is made by turning north onto Natrona 
County Road 323, also known as the Dry Creek Road, approximately 48 miles west of Casper 
at UTM 328400 – 4712440 (NAD27 CONUS).  After approximately 16 miles, the Rattlesnake 
Hills Property is reached via a turn-off in Section 36, T32N, R88W. 

Golden Predator retains a 0.5% net smelter royalty (NSR) on any future production from the 
Rattlesnake Hills Property. 

David Miller, agent and legal representative of the 30 original claim owners, has an 
approximately 4% production royalty interest on the net smelter returns for all gold and silver 
“products”.  Processing costs are deductible before the royalty is calculated so the gross royalty 
equivalent will be less than 4% by an amount dependent on the ratio between recovered grade 
and processing cost/ton.  Surface rights in areas covered by unpatented lode mining claims at 
the Rattlesnake Hills Property are vested with the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”).  
Surface rights on Wyoming State lease lands are vested with the State of Wyoming.  
Environmental permits are applied for and obtained from both the BLM and State of Wyoming. 

The Rattlesnake Hills Property is 100% owned by the Company, subject to the option described 
below.  The Rattlesnake Hills Property consists of 30 unpatented lode mining claims that were 
staked between 1985 and 1987, 97 unpatented lode mining claims that were staked in 2006, 
515 unpatented lode claims that were staked in 2008 and 2009, and approximately 515 
hectares of Wyoming State lease lands.  The Company signed the Rattlesnake JV Agreement 
with Agnico-Eagle in 2011.  During June 2012, Agnico-Eagle provided notice to the Company of 
its intention to terminate the Rattlesnake JV Agreement.  The termination of the Rattlesnake JV 
Agreement was effective June 30, 2012. 

The Rattlesnake Hills Property is located within the Rattlesnake Hills Alkalic Intrusive (“RAI”) 
Complex, one of many alkalic centers occurring along the eastern margin of the Rocky 
Mountains from New Mexico to Canada.  Alkalic settings are host to many, multi-million-ounce 
gold deposits, including Cripple Creek (Colorado), Bald Mountain (South Dakota), and Golden 
Sunlight (Montana).  The Rattlesnake Hills of central Wyoming lie along the north-eastern edge 
of the Granite Mountains.  The Granite Mountains consist primarily of Archean rocks.  During 
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the Eocene, Archean rocks in the Rattlesnake Hills were intruded by the RAI Complex that 
hosts the most important mineralization in the area.  Approximately 50 mid-Tertiary alkalic and 
felsic stocks, domes, and dikes, as well as coeval pyroclastic, volcaniclastic, flow, and diatreme 
breccia facies rocks scattered over a roughly 10 by 15 mile area comprise the complex. 

Four volumetrically major and eight minor alteration types are recognized in drill core from the 
Rattlesnake Hills Property.  Major alteration types in relative order of abundance include 
carbonate, potassic (adularia), clay, and Fe/Mn oxide-hydroxide alterations.  Subordinate 
alteration styles include silica, bleaching, actinolite-riebeckite-magnetite, roscoelite, anhydrite, 
talc, epidote/hematite, garnet-pyroxene, and potassic (biotite). 

Two deposits have thus far been identified - North Stock and Antelope Basin.  North Stock is 
about 400m by 200m wide, trends north-northeast, and is open at depth and along strike.  
Mineralization has been followed to as much as 500m below the surface. 

Mineralization at Antelope Basin has been identified in an area of 200m by 350m to a depth of 
200m, trends northeast, and is open along strike. 

The Rattlesnake Hills Property gold mineralization styles include: 

• Archean massive sulphide/exhalative horizons predominantly south and west of South 
Stock; 

• quartz monzodiorite-hosted veinlet mineralization at the Antelope Basin area; 

• adularia + sulfide veinlet mineralization at the North Stock area; 

• late, higher-grade, carbonate-associated vein/breccia cement mineralization at the North 
Stock area; and 

• disseminated and stockwork sulfide mineralization associated with alkalic porphyry dikes 
and other intrusions south and east of North Stock. 

Late carbonate-associated gold mineralization at North Stock is by far the most important style 
of gold mineralization.  Adularia+sulfide mineralization is locally important at North Stock.  
Quartz monzodiorite-hosted mineralization dominates Antelope Basin mineralization.  Archean 
massive sulphide mineralization occurs predominantly outside the area of interest but is an 
exploration target.  Porphyry style disseminated and stockwork sulphide mineralization has 
been identified outboard and between North Stock and Antelope Basin and is a target for 
additional exploration.  This suggests the presence of a porphyry target below the North Stock – 
Antelope Basin areas. 

Exploration of the area probably began in the early 1900s when a number of shallow trenches 
and shafts were excavated.  None of these workings amounted to significant commercial 
production. 

In the 1970s, American Copper and Nickel Company (“ACNC”) explored the area for gold 
associated with Archean iron formations.  In the early 1980s ACNC returned and was 
apparently the first company to conduct a widespread exploration effort on the Rattlesnake Hills 
Property.  Geologic mapping, surface geochemistry, and geophysical surveys were completed 
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in 1983 and 1984.  ACNC continued exploration through 1987 by completing more geologic 
mapping, as well as some surface geochemical sampling and geophysical surveys.  This was 
accompanied by test drill programs in 1985, 1986, and 1987, and a total of 9,815 feet in 32 
reverse circulation (“RC”) drill holes were completed. 

Canyon Resources acquired the Rattlesnake Hills Property in 1992 and performed additional 
geologic mapping and surface rock chip sampling; the results of this work are currently 
unavailable. 

Between 1993 and 1995, Newmont Exploration Limited (“NEL”) completed extensive geologic 
mapping, soil, road cut, and trench geochemical sampling, as well as some geophysical 
surveying and drilling of 13 RC and two core drill holes. 

In 2003 Bald Mountain Mining Co. (“BMMC”) leased 30 unpatented lode-mining claims from 
David Miller and Dick Fruchey of Riverton, Wyoming and all available geologic, geochemical, 
geophysical, and drill data gathered by ACNC and NEL were entered into database files. 
 
In July, 2007, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent with Golden Predator Mines, Inc. and 
Golden Predator Mines (US) Inc. (collectively “GPM”) for the acquisition of Golden Predator’s 
mining option on a 100% interest in Bald Mountain Mining Company’s (“BMM”) Rattlesnake Hills 
mineral property located in Natrona County, Wyoming. An amended and restated Option 
Agreement was signed on December 11, 2007 between GPM and BMM. 
 
In January, 2008 a Letter of Agreement was signed to formalize the terms by which BMM would 
assign its interest in the underlying option agreement between itself and Golden Predator in 
exchange for a cash payment of $200,000 (paid) and the issue of 400,000 shares (issued). Also 
in January, 2008 Evolving signed a property option agreement with GPM. Pursuant to the terms 
of this Agreement Evolving subsequently acquired its interest in the property option in exchange 
for the issue of 3,000,000 shares over approximately a two year period. As part of the 
agreement GPM retains a 0.5% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) with respect to the property. 
Evolving had the option to purchase one-half of the NSR royalty for $ 375,000, reducing the 
royalty to 0.25%, however this option has expired. The property is currently subject to a 4% 
production royalty payable to the underlying owners. The production royalty is equal to the gross 
proceeds less all milling, smelting, refining, treatment and other processing costs. A finder’s fee 
was paid by the issue of 75,000 shares in connection with this transaction. Prior to the Company 
completing the acquisition of this mineral property option, GPM had the right to purchase up to 
10% of the shares offered in private placements undertaken by the Company, such purchases 
to be at the same terms and conditions as other purchasers participating in the offering. 
Pursuant to these terms 1,000,000 units were issued to GPM in April, 2008 for proceeds of 
C$1,000,000 and an additional 1,234,578 units were issued as part of the November, 2009 
private placement for proceeds of C$1,111,120. Each unit was comprised of one common share 
and one-half of a share purchase warrant. The 500,000 warrants attached to the April, 2008 unit 
issue have expired. 
 
Subsequent to entering into the Rattlesnake Hills Option Agreement and the Rattlesnake Hills 
Letter Agreement, the Company acquired, through staking and filing lode mining claims an 
additional 10,700 acres thereby increasing its total Rattlesnake Hills Property land position to 
approximately 14,500 acres. 
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Modern exploration in the Rattlesnake Hills includes geological mapping, surface rock sampling, 
geophysical surveys, and RC and core drilling by a number of operators. 

ACNC and NEL drilled RC and core holes in the area.  This data is available to the Company 
but the Company has not been able to verify it.  Use of this data has been limited to exploration 
planning. 

The Company has drilled 156 core holes (62,398.67m) in the area.  Drilling procedures are 
consistent with industry best practices.  Under the Rattlesnake JV Agreement (2011 and 2012 
drilling), the Company and Agnico-Eagle drilled 26 core holes (28,494.4 ft or 8,685.1 m) in the 
area.  The Rattlesnake JV Agreement was terminated by EVG in 2012. 

Geological logging of all core is performed by the Company and/or Agnico-Eagle personnel and 
consists of descriptions of lithology, mineralogy, structure, and alteration. 

Collar and downhole surveys have been performed to industry standards for all drill holes 
completed by the Company and/or Agnico-Eagle. 
 
The Rattlesnake Hills area is host to an alkaline volcanic center comprised of over 40 intrusions 
and diatremes and gold is closely associated with these alkaline volcanic and intrusive rocks. 
The Rattlesnake Hills project has been the focus of an extensive drill campaign by the Company 
designed to test three sizeable targets evident on the property. The Phase One drilling began 
on June 21, 2008, with 6,524 m (21,405 feet) of drilling in fifteen holes. Assay intervals of 
significance include 146 m grading 2.92 gpt Au (480 ft @ 0.085 opt Au) including 27.4 m 
grading 5.98 gpt Au (90 ft @ 0.175 opt Au) in hole RSC-003, 131 m grading 2.84 gpt Au (430 ft 
@ 0.083 opt Au) in hole RSC-007 and an aggregate composite interval of 360 m grading 0.90 
gpt Au (1180 ft @ 0.026 opt Au) in hole RSC-012 (North Stock target). An interval of 36.5 m 
grading 1.46 gpt Au (120 ft @ 0.043 opt Au) including 9.3 m grading 3.21 gpt Au (30 ft @ 0.094 
opt Au) was also encountered in hole RSC-001 in the Antelope Basin target. 
 
Phase 2 drilling began May 22, 2009, and the Company intersected a high grade interval of 67 
m grading 10.8 gpt in hole RSC-20. During 2009 the Company drilled total of approximately 
29,500 m in 78 holes. Assay results for Phase 2 drilling included 175.3 m grading 1.86 gpt Au 
(575 ft @ 0.054 opt Au) in hole RSC-039, 141.7 m grading 1.56 gpt Au (465 ft @ 0.046 opt Au) 
in hole RSC-041 and 158 meters grading 2.64 gpt Au (520 ft @ 0.077 opt Au) in hole RSC-089 
for the North Stock target. Drilling intersected a new zone of gold mineralization associated with 
a trachytic porphyry dike swarm southeast of the diatreme complex. At Antelope Basin, hole 
RSC-019 intersected 163.1 m grading 1.25 gpt Au (535 ft @ 0.037 opt Au) and hole RSC-042 
intersected 76.2 m grading 1.70 gpt Au (250 ft @ 0.050 opt Au). 
 
Beginning in June, 2010, the Company commenced a third diamond drill program, completing 
25,600 m in 63 drill holes. Approximately 35% of the 2010 drilling targeted new areas including 
deep porphyry style mineralization. Additional significant results from 2010 included 161.5 m at 
1.84 gpt Au in hole RSC-126 and 313 m at 1.94 gpt Au in hole RSC-145. 
 
On June 24, 2011 the Company entered into a definitive Joint Venture and Subscription 
agreement with Agnico-Eagle Mines Limited and its operating subsidiaries (collectively “Agnico-
Eagle”) for exploration at its Rattlesnake Hills property. Under these agreements, Agnico-Eagle 
had the option to earn up to a 70% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills project over a seven year 
period. Agnico-Eagle was required to fund 100% of the exploration program. 
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The Joint Venture completed 8,193 m (26,880 ft) of core drilling in 24 holes during 2011. 
Significant results included extension of the North Stock target to depth and to the south west. 
Drill hole RSC-160 intersected 282.9 m at 1.08 g/t Au (927.9 ft at 0.031 oz/t), including 39.6 m 
at 2.57 g/t Au (129.4 ft. at 0.075 oz./t), confirming vertical continuity of gold mineralization to 
below a depth of 300 meters. Drilling between the North Stock and Antelope Basin gold 
deposits encountered broad intersections of gold mineralization with the potential to form a 
connection between the two deposits. The Joint Venture also initiated an extensive surface 
exploration effort and a district-wide airborne magnetic and radiometric survey. Drilling during 
2011 also identified high grade gold mineralization at a new target at South Stock, including 3.1 
m of 9.30g/t Au, identified a new porphyry target at Northeast Stock with intense alteration 
below cover, expanded the North Stock mineralization, and confirmed the porphyry target, 
including mineralized stockwork veining and intense potassic alteration between North Stock 
and Antelope Basin. 
 
During the course of the Joint Venture, the Company partner made $1 million in cash payments 
to the Company, and funded approximately $3 million of exploration work, including 24 diamond 
drill holes drilled for approximately 8,000 meters. On June 29, 2012 Agnico-Eagle terminated 
the joint venture due to economic conditions not related to the property. The Company is 
actively considering its options for this property, which we believe continues to present the 
potential for economic deposits. Surface work, including 371 rock chip samples and 4,175 soil 
samples covered approximately half of the large land package. This surface work identified 
eight new, untested gold targets. Follow up prospecting and surface sampling by the Company 
identified high gold values in two new target areas, including rock chip samples of 1.97 grams 
per tonne at the Black Jack target, and 3.97, 5.17 and 7.45 grams per tonne gold at the Bald 
Mountain target. The rock chip gold values at Bald Mountain are the highest grades identified in 
any surface sampling at Rattlesnake Hills. At Black Jack the gold is associated with strong 
potassic alteration and occurs as both disseminated and stockwork vein mineralization. At Bald 
Mountain, the gold is tied to Tertiary breccias and associated faulting with the target partially 
covered by late, post mineral alluvium. The Company plans to drill test both targets. 
 
On December 18, 2012, an independent 43-101 technical report prepared by David Turner, 
M.Sc., P. Geo. dated December 13, 2012 was posted to SEDAR. 
 
Work on Rattlesnake Hills during the 2013 field season focused on surface exploration (soil and 
rock samples, mapping, and prospecting), reclamation verification and certification, and site 
improvements at the Casper core shed). Future work on the Rattlesnake Hills Property might 
include an initial mineral resource estimate, drilling, continued rock chip and soil sampling, and 
geophysics to search for new targets and sharpen up existing ones. 
 
Rattlesnake Plan of Arrangement and Option Sale 
 
On February 7, 2013, the Company announced, subject to shareholder and regulatory approval, 
a Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) whereby Evolving’s wholly owned subsidiary, 
Evolving US, would transfer specific Rattlesnake net assets to a newly incorporated US 
company named Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Company ( “Rattlesnake Wyoming”).  
 
Subsequently, as a result of interest in purchasing the Rattlesnake property by third parties, and 
reflecting the difficult market conditions existing to date, the Company initiated a plan to 
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potentially sell its Rattlesnake Hills mineral property. Discussions with various potential 
purchasers continued throughout 2013. 
 
On March 17, 2014 the Company announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement with 
NV Gold Corporation to option its 100% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills Project. Under the 
Agreement, NVX may acquire Rattlesnake Hills by completing the following:  
 
• paying US$100,000 as a non-refundable deposit; 
• paying US$300,000 as a down payment to EVG US;  
• within 3 business days following receipt of TSX Venture Exchange acceptance of the option 

agreement, delivering US$100,000 and issuing to the Company 1,000,000 common share 
purchase warrants, each such warrant exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at 
CDN$0.10 per share for 36 months from the date of issue; 

• On or before August 1, 2014 paying US$200,000; 
• On or before September 15, 2014, issuing 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants to 

the Company, each such warrant exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at 
CDN$0.10 per share until September 15th, 2016; 

• On or before November 1, 2014, paying US$800,000; 
• On or before the first anniversary of TSXV acceptance of this option agreement, paying  

US$1,000,000 and 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants, each such warrant 
exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at CDN$0.10 per share for a period of 18 
months from the date of issue; and 

• On or before the second anniversary of the date of this option agreement, paying 
$1,000,000 and issuing 1,000,000 common shares of NVX;  

 
Malone Mineral Property 
 
On April 17, 2006 the Company entered into a quitclaim deed and royalty agreement with 
Newmont North America Exploration Limited whereby the Company was granted all rights, title, 
estate and interest in 80 unpatented mineral claims covering 665 hectares located in Lordsburg, 
New Mexico, United States of America in exchange for payment of US$ 20,000 (paid). The 
agreement is subject to a royalty of 2% of net smelter returns. 
 
An amended technical NI 43-101 report on the Malone property was filed on SEDAR in 
November, 2007. The report was prepared by Gerald E. Ray, Ph.D. as the qualified person. 
 
By January 2008, the Company completed detailed mapping, surveying, sampling and a 
diamond drill program, including 950 meters of shallow drilling in 10 holes. All ten holes 
encountered significant gold and silver mineralization. Better intercepts included 17.6 m grading 
0.48 grams per tonne (“gpt”) gold and 41 gpt silver in MAL-04, 5.5 m grading 1.53 gpt gold, and 
164 gpt silver in MAL-06, 12.7 m grading 0.58 gpt gold and 57 gpt silver in MAL-07. The 
Company completed Phase Two drilling in April, 2009 for an additional 2,000 m in eleven holes 
to test the gold and silver mineralization to depths up to 300 meters. Significant results include 
29.0 meters at 0.51 gpt Au and 25.5 gpt Ag (95 ft at 0.015 opt Au and 0.74 opt Ag) in hole MAL-
09-003 and 15.3 meters at 0.79 gpt Au and 81.4 gpt Ag (50 ft at 0.023 opt Au and 2.38 opt Ag) 
in MAL-09-001. A preliminary review indicates that near surface mineralization is of modest 
potential. 
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During 2013, the Company decided not to pursue any further activities on the Malone property, 
and accordingly the property was dropped and written off in the financial statements. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets as of March 31, 2014 

 
Carlin Humboldt Jake Creek Malone 

 
Rattlesnake 

 
March 31, 2014 

 Acquisition costs 
    

 
   

Opening  Balance     2,553,789  
        

2,533,445  
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

2,978,952 $ 8,066,186  

Additions     43,804  
                 

26,853 
                 

47,123  
                       

-  
 

- 
 

                     
117,780  

Write down of mineral properties - 
         

(2,560,298) - - 
 

-  
              

(2,560,298) 

 
2,597,593 

                          
-  

                 
47,123  

                       
-  

 
2,978,952 

 

                  
5,623,668  

     
 

  Deferred exploration costs 
    

 
  

Opening balance   18,634,195  
         

3,746,829           2,393,125  
           

863,716  
 

8,505,366 
 

34,143,231  

Assays and reports      7,612  
                           

-  
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

- 
 

                          
7,612  

Drilling     5,020  
                           

- 
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

- 
 

                      
5,020  

Field expenses        86,433  
                           

-  
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

321,881 
 

                     
408,314  

Geological consulting     198,116  
                           

- 
                           

-                    -  
 

- 
 

                   
198,116  

Geophysical and geological studies      695  
                           

- 
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

- 
 

                              
695  

Staking, recording and land 
maintenance      51,550  

                           
- 

                           
-  

                       
-  

 
- 

 

                    
51,550  

 
  18,983,621  

            
3,746,829  

            
2,393,125  

           
863,716  

 
8,827,247 

 
34,814,538  

     
 

  
     

 
  

Reclamation bonds        167,978  
                           

-  
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

286,000 
 

                     
453,978  

Asset retirement obligation       320,273  
                         

50,000  
                 

30,000  
                       

-  286,000 
 

                     
686,273  

Write-down of mineral properties 
             

(16,552,099)  
         

(3,796,829) 
                          

(1,235,124)  
         

(863,716)  
 

(9,547,449) 
 

                
(31,995,217) 

Property payment            -  
                           

-  
                           

-  
                       

-  
 

(100,000) 
 

(100,000) 

 
(16,063,848)       

         
(3,746,829) 

                 
(1,205,124)  

                      
(863,716)  

 
(9,075,449) 

 

                 
(30,954,966) 

     
 

  
 

$    5,517,366   $                -   $      1,235,124   $                -  $2,730,750 $ 9,483,240               
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Products 

The Company is not commercially producing.  At this stage, the Company does not have an 
estimate of the costs and timing to reach commercial production. 

Specialized Skill and Knowledge 

The Company requires specialized skill and knowledge to conduct its exploration activities. 
Success in the mining industry requires its personnel to possess a very high level of 
technological sophistication and solid experience to meet the challenges of the industry. The 
officers and directors of the Company are industry professionals who have extensive expertise 
and highly-technical experience specific to the mining industry. They provide a strong 
foundation of advanced field skills and advanced knowledge and specialized mineral exploration 
experience, complemented by their demonstrated ability to succeed in the management and 
administration of a mineral exploration company. 

Competitive Conditions 

The mining industry in the United States and Canada is highly competitive in all aspects, 
including the exploration for and development of new sources of supply; the acquisition of 
mineral interests; the construction and operation of processing facilities; and the refining, 
distributing and marketing of mineral products. The Company competes with numerous other 
companies in the search for and the acquisition of mineral properties. The Company’s 
competitors include gold producing companies that have substantially greater financial 
resources, staff, and facilities than those of the Company. The Company’s ability to successfully 
bid on and acquire additional property rights, discover reserves, participate in drilling 
opportunities, and identify and enter into commercial arrangements will depend upon developing 
and maintaining close working relationships with its future industry partners and joint operators, 
selecting and evaluating suitable properties, and consummating transactions in a highly 
competitive environment. The Company’s ability to define mineral reserves in the future will 
depend not only on its ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects for 
exploratory drilling, but also on its ability to develop or continue development of its existing 
properties.  

Cycles 

The Company’s business can be cyclical. The exploration and development of mineral 
properties is dependent on access to areas where production is to be conducted. Seasonal 
weather variations can affect access in certain circumstances.  

Environmental Protection 

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulations (including regular 
environmental impact assessments and permitting) in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Such 
regulations cover a wide variety of matters, including, without limitation, the prevention of waste, 
pollution, and protection of the environment, labour regulations, and worker safety. Under such 
regulations, there are clean-up costs and liabilities for toxic or hazardous substances which may 
exist on or under any of the Company’s properties or which may be produced as a result of its 
operations. Environmental legislation and legislation relating to exploration and production of 
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natural resources are likely to evolve in a manner which will require stricter standards and 
enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental 
assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and 
their directors and employees. Such stricter standards could impact the Company’s costs and 
have an adverse effect on results of operations. Although the Company believes that it will be in 
material compliance with current applicable environmental regulations no assurance can be 
given that environmental laws will not result in a curtailment of production or a material increase 
in the costs of production, development or exploration activities or otherwise adversely affect the 
Company’s financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

Employees 

The Company has 2 employees located at its Vancouver office. These employees are devoted 
to administrative functions. 

The Company uses contract personnel to perform various professional and technical services, 
including but not limited to drilling, construction, site surveillance, environmental assessment, 
and field and on-site operating services.  These services are intended to minimize the 
Company’s development and operating costs as well as allow its management staff to focus on 
directing its exploration operations. 

Foreign Operations 

The majority of the Company’s operations are based in the United States and the Company is 
largely focused upon these foreign operations. The Company’s results are subject to financial 
market risk as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Expenses, capital 
expenditures and related net assets of the Company’s operations outside Canada are primarily 
United States dollar denominated. Currency fluctuations may affect these operations. 

Reorganizations 

On March 3, 2011, the Company completed the transfer of all of its interest in the Kiyuk Lake 
Property to Prosperity in connection with the Spin-Out Transaction. 

On April 25, 2012, the Company announced the completion of the sale of a portion of the 
Company’s interest in Prosperity for gross proceeds of approximately $4,000,000.  Following 
the sale, the Company continues to hold a nominal amount of the common shares of Prosperity.   

 
On March 17, 2014 the Company announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement with 
NV Gold Corporation to option its 100% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills Project. 
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5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
Selected Annual Information    
 
All amounts in US$ presented under IFRS 2014 2013 2012 
    

Interest income 35,679 56,764 61,507 
Gain on sale of marketable securities - - 4,084,065 
Share Based Payments 54,883 897,398 1,146,031 

Write-down of Exploration Costs 35,555,515 11,085,765 1,588,118 
Net loss for the year 35,711,754 15,722,060 788,633 

Loss per share, basic and fully diluted  0.22 0.11 0.04 
Total assets 9,659,671 45,306,669 56,071,811 
Deferred exploration expenditures (net of 
write downs and proceeds received)  9,483,240 43,561,963 45,833,701 

Working capital (1,358,189) 40,193 8,606,925 

 
 

Summary of Quarterly Results (Unaudited) 
 
The following is a summary of the results from the eight previously completed financial quarters: 
 
 

 
 

Fiscal 2013-2014 
 

All amounts in US$ presented under 
IFRS 

March 30, 
2014 

December 31, 
2013 

September 
30, 2013 June 30, 2013 

     
Interest and other income - 6,661 (394) 29,412 

Gain (loss) on marketable securities (401,719) (6,652) (142,087) (636,449) 
Share based payments  (1,568) (40,391) (16,060) - 
Write-down of Exploration Costs (27,424,393) - (7,131,122) - 
Net Income (Loss) (663,239) (147,534) (7,369,986) 135,484 
(Loss) earnings per share, basic and fully 
diluted  (0.169) (0.004) (0.05) 0.003 
Total assets 9,659,671 37,121,293 37,337,073 44,456,855 
Incurred deferred exploration 
expenditures (net of write downs and 
proceeds received)  575,850 225,559 294,327 128,936 

Working capital 
(1,358,189) 10,845,466 11,096,282 11,228,966 
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Fiscal 2012 -2013 
 

 
 

March 31, 
2013 

 
December 
31, 2012 

 
September 

30, 2012 

 
June 30, 2012 

     
Interest   29,274 12,252 13,873 1,365 
Gain (loss) on marketable securities (606,755) (132,341) (164,643) (1,448,361) 
Share based payments (153,002) - (400,686) (343,710) 
Write-down of Exploration Costs 11,110,245 (11,110,245) - - 
Net Income (loss), continuing operations (2,736,278) (11,237,545) (726,695) (1,021,542) 
(Loss) earnings per share, basic and fully 
diluted  - 12,252 (0.01) (0.03) 
Total assets 45,306,669 (132,341) 56,871,873 53,928,544 

Deferred exploration expenditures (net of 
write downs and proceeds received)  

295,939 - 2,503,355 3,671,924 

Working capital 
12,096,511 11,110,245) 3,326,782 2,760,862 

 
Diluted calculations have not been provided due to the anti-dilutive effect of outstanding stock 
options and warrants. The table above has been modified to present amounts calculated under 
IFRS and US dollar reporting requirements only for the periods so noted. 

 
The Company has not paid any dividends to date, and does not anticipate paying and dividends 
at this time. 
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6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 
Annual MD&A for the year ended March 31, 2014 
 
This report was dated June 27, 2014.  
 
During the year ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 the Company reported a net loss as follows: 

 Year ended March 31, 

  2014 2013 

Loss for the year  $35,711,754 $15,722,060 

Loss per share from continuing operations  $0.22 $0.11 

 

Most operating expenditures for the year ended March 31, 2014 are at reduced levels as those 
of the comparative 2013 fiscal year, reflecting the ongoing efforts of the Company to reduce 
costs.  The most significant variations are: 

• Accounting and audit expense of $49,149 (2013 - $105,190) reflecting the cost of annual 
audits and tax services;   

• Bank charges and interest of $6,174 (2013 - $18,757) in 2013 reflect additional fees related 
to the banking services which were terminated during that year;  

• Consulting expense of $4,886 (2013 - $94,392) reflects an ongoing reduction in consulting 
agreements and third party service providers; 

• Directors fees of $nil (2013 - $98,960) reflect the elimination of directors fees in 2014; 

• Legal expense of $11,827 (2013 – $448,468) reflects legal activities related to the proposed 
Rattlesnake plan of arrangement in 2013, and reduced legal services in 2014.  Certain 
accrued fees from 2013 were discounted when actually billed in 2014, which also resulted in 
reduced fees for 2014;  

• Management fees of $327,522 (2013 – $572,055) reflects the reduction of management 
fees primarily due to the elimination of bonuses and other fees.  A majority of the fees 
expensed were accrued and payable as of year-end, and had not been paid; 

• Office, rent and salaries expense of $274,486 (2013 - $712,602) which reflects decreased 
staffing in the offices and generally lower costs.  Included in 2013 is approximately $104,000 
of one time charges incurred in closing the Longmont office in 2012;   

• Promotion and advertising of $nil (2013 – $60,802) which reflects the elimination of all 
promotion related activities and contractors; 

• Stock-based payments of $54,883 (2013 - $897,398) represents non-cash charges incurred 
in connection with the granting of stock options, options granted in prior periods and vesting 
during the period, calculated using the Black Scholes option valuation model;   

• Transfer agent and filing fees of $74,197 (2013 - $103,040) reflect AGM charges; 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 29 

 
  

• Travel of $2,446 (2013 - $205,528) reflects the elimination of almost all travel during the 
year. 

• The change in the fair value of warrant liability represents a derivative liability due to the 
denomination of the Company’s shares and warrants in Canadian dollars while we report in 
US dollars. The change was a gain in both 2014 and 2013 respectively of $473,358 and  
$1,194,924;   

• Write-down on disposal of mineral properties of $34,555,515 (2013 - $11,085,765) 
comprised of costs relating to the cumulative exploration expenditures written down with 
respect to Carlin, Humboldt, Jake Creek and Malone. 

• Write down of available for sale securities of $217,325 (2013 - $2,352,100) reflects the loss 
incurred on our portfolio of investments in other companies.  The loss on disposition in 2014 
of $767,783 (2013 - $nil) reflects the actual loss on disposal of the securities. 

• A loss of $43,003 (2013 – $131,492) was recorded with respect to foreign exchange, as a 
result of the volatility of the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar; and 

• Interest and other income of $35,679 (2013 - $56,764) was recorded due to non-refundable 
deposits received from possible purchasers of exploration assets.   

 
Q4 Results 
 
During Q4 the most significant expenses were: 
 

• Management fees of $55,860 which are lower than the previous three quarters; 
• Office expenses of $97,911 which are slightly higher than previous quarters due to audit, 

filing and transfer agent fees; 
• Foreign exchange of $33,977 due to the greater volatility of the US – Canadian dollar 

exchange rate in the quarter; 
• A recalculation of the loss on the sale of securities resulted in a loss of $401,719 being 

recognized; and 
• A mineral property write down of $27,424,393 as the Company reevaluated all its 

holdings, and recognized a write down to reflect the estimated value of the loss on the 
option sale of Rattlesnake. 

 
 
Capital Expenditures 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company paid $117,780 (2013 - $1,131,578) in 
cash with respect to the land acquisition of the Carlin and Humboldt mineral properties.  In 
addition Evolving incurred $458,070 (2013 - $7,681,354) in deferred exploration expenses 
relating to its various mineral property interests.  During the year ended March 31, 2014, the 
Company also received proceeds of $28,002 from the disposal of fixed assets and incurred 
expenditures of $nil (2013 - $86,018) for additions to fixed assets in various categories. 
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Financing Activities 

During the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, no options were exercised.   
 
During 2014, 6,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net 
proceeds of $289,260.  Each Unit consisted of one common share and one common share 
purchase warrant, for which proceeds of $149,918 were allocated at their fair value determined 
by the Black Scholes pricing model using the following inputs: Exercise Price - CDN$0.08; 
Share price  - $CDN 0.05; expected life – 3 years; volatility – 90%; dividend yield – 0.00% .  
Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one common share of the Company at a 
price of CDN$0.08 until August 23, 2016. All securities issued in the Offering are subject to a 
four-month hold period ending December 22, 2013 in accordance with applicable Canadian 
securities laws.   
 
During 2013, 12,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net 
proceeds of $3,587,313.  Each Unit consisted of one common share and one common share 
purchase warrant, for which proceeds of $1,523,394 were allocated at their fair value 
determined by the Black Scholes pricing model using the following inputs: Exercise Price - 
CDN$0.40; Share price  - $CDN 0.30; expected life – 3 years; volatility – 78%; dividend yield – 
0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one common share of the Company 
at a price of CDN$0.40 until August 13, 2015. In connection with the Offering, the Company also 
issued finder’s compensation warrants totaling 49,000 warrants exercisable into one common 
share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.30 until August 13, 2014. All securities issued in the 
Offering are subject to a four-month hold period ending December 14, 2012 in accordance with 
applicable Canadian securities laws.   
 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The Company’s aggregate operating, investing and financing activities for the year ended March 
31, 2014 resulted in a cash decrease of $76,986 (March 31, 2012: $5,278,846). As at March 31, 
2014, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance was $52,531 and the Company had a 
working capital deficit of $1,358,189 (March 31, 2013: surplus of $40,193).  

The Company has not as yet put into commercial production any of its mineral properties and as 
such has no operating revenues. Accordingly, the Company is dependent on the equity markets 
as its sole source of operating working capital. The Company’s capital resources are largely 
determined by the strength of the junior resource markets and by the status of the Company’s 
projects in relation to these markets, and its ability to compete for the investor support of its 
projects.  

The Company will continue to require funds to meet its obligations under its property option 
agreements and as a result, will have to continue to rely on equity and debt financing during 
such period.  There can be no assurance that financing, whether debt or equity, will always be 
available to the Company in the amount required at any particular time or for any particular 
period or, if available, that it can be obtained on terms satisfactory to the Company. 

The Company continues to review its mineral property holdings on an annual basis.  Other than 
some advance royalty payments required with respect to its mineral properties the Company 
does not have any other commitments for material capital expenditures either in the near or long 
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term over normal operating requirements and none are presently contemplated other than as 
disclosed above. 

In August 2011 the Company signed an agreement to lease new head office space.  The term 
of the agreement is for five years, commencing September 1, 2011 and ending August 31, 
2016.  The Company has committed to lease payments as follows: 

 
 

2014 80,600 
2015                       82,597 
2016  83,928 
2017      55,952 

  
 $ 303,077 
 

Transactions with Related Parties 
 
Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of an entity, and include executive and non-executive directors. Payments to key 
management are recorded as management, consulting and directors’ fees. During the year 
ended March 31, 2014, the Company incurred share-based payment charges for its key 
management totaling $40,696 (2013: $650,204).  

In addition, the following related key management compensation transactions were incurred: 

 
  March 31, 2014  March 31, 2013 
     
Consulting fees $ - $ 71,832 

Directors fees  -  99,618 

Management fees and salaries   407,642  572,055 

 $ 407,642 $ 743,505 

Unpaid and accrued management fees  
included in accounts payable $ 436,184 $ - 
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Critical Accounting Estimates 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, actual experience may 
differ from these estimates and assumptions. 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it 
in comprehensive income in the year of the change, if the change affects that year only, or 
in the year of the change and future years, if the change affects both. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognized in the financial statements within the next financial year are discussed 
below: 

 

i) Rehabilitation Provisions 

Rehabilitation provisions have been created based on the Company’s internal estimates. 
Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, have been made which 
management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. 
These estimates take into account any material changes to the assumptions that occur 
when reviewed regularly by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based 
on current regulatory requirements. Significant changes in estimates of contamination, 
restoration standards and techniques will result in changes to provisions from year to year. 
Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future market prices for the 
rehabilitation costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the rehabilitation costs 
are actually incurred.  The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions 
may be higher or lower than currently provided for.  

ii) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
expenditure requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic 
benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events 
or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available 
suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off 
in the profit or loss in the year the new information becomes available. 

iii) Title to Mineral Property Interests 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be 
subject to prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects. 
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 iv) Income Taxes 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There 
are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of 
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company 
recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the 
Company’s current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable 
that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best estimate of the tax 
liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. 
Management believes they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of 
these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different 
outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities. 

 In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried 
forward to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which a deductible temporary difference can be utilized.  This is deemed to be the 
case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same 
taxation authority and the same taxable entity which are expected to reverse in the 
same year as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference, or in 
years into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or 
forward. However, utilization of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the 
taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped. 

 

v) Share-based Payment Transactions and Derivative Liabilities related to 
Equities 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are 
granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms 
and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most 
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the stock 
option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.   Similar 
methodology is used to determine the fair value of derivative liabilities related to 
warrants denominated in Canadian dollars. 

vi) Impairment of mineral interests, property, plant and equipment 
 

Impairment testing is done at the cash generating unit level and judgment is involved 
in assessing whether there is any indication that an asset or cash generating unit 
may be impaired. This assessment is made based on an analysis of, amongst other 
factors, changes in the market or business environment, events that have transpired 
that have impacted the asset or cash generating unit, and information from internal 
reporting. 
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vii) Impairment of AFS Securities 

The determination of whether an investment is impaired requires significant 
judgment. In making this judgment, the company evaluates, amongst other things, 
the duration and extent to which the fair value of the investment is less than its 
original cost at each reporting period. 

 
Changes in Accounting Policies  

During the year ended March 31, 2014 the Company applied the accounting policies referred to 
in Note 3 of the annual audited financial statements as of March 31, 2014 on a consistent basis 
with the previous year.  The reader is referred to those notes for a detailed discussion of the 
Company’s accounting policies.  
 
Future Accounting Changes – Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet 
Effective 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that 
are mandatory for accounting years beginning after April 1, 2014 or later years. None of these is 
expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements, except for the 
following: 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
instruments and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with 
early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

• IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets 

IFRS 36 was amended by recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets. The 
amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014. The change in accounting standard will not have a significant impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

There are no other IFRS’s or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

 
Financial Instruments 

The company is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks: 

• Market Risk 

• Credit Risk 

• Liquidity Risk 
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In common with all other businesses, the company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of 
financial instruments. This note describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing those risks and the methods used to measure them. Further quantitative information 
in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements. 

There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s exposure to financial instrument 
risks, its objectives, polices and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to 
measure them from previous years unless otherwise stated in the note. 

General Objectives, Policies and Processes: 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk 
management objectives and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has 
delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective 
implementation of the objectives and policies to the Company’s finance function.  

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible 
without unduly affecting the Company’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding 
these policies are set out below. 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market prices are comprised of four types of 
risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity price risk and equity price risk.  

Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar 
and US dollar or other foreign currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial 
results.  The Company has significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuation. The 
Company is exposed to currency risk to the extent that monetary assets and liabilities held by 
the Company are not denominated in US dollars. The Company has not entered into any foreign 
currency contracts to mitigate this risk. The Company holds balances in Canadian dollars which 
could give rise to exposure to foreign exchange risk.  Sensitivity to a plus or minus 10% change 
in the foreign exchange rate of the US dollar to the Canadian dollar would affect the reported 
loss and comprehensive loss by approximately $141,748 (March 31, 2013: $9,964) as detailed 
below:    
 

Canadian Dollar Denominated Balances 
March 31,  

2014 
March 31, 

 2013 

Cash          52,531           129,517  

Available for sale securities       14,031        1,261,134  

Accounts payable    (1,484,039)    (1,291,010) 

 
(1,417,477) 99,641 

10% change in exchange rate impact  $       141,748   $            9,964  
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  Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or a counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Financial instruments which are 
potentially subject to credit risk for the Company consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. 
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with financial institutions of reputable credit and may 
be redeemed upon demand.  

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The 
Company has gross credit exposure at March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013 relating to cash and 
cash equivalents of $52,531 and $129,517 respectively.  All cash and cash equivalents are held 
in deposits at a Canadian chartered bank. The Company considers this credit risk to be minimal 
for all cash and cash equivalent assets based on changes that are reasonably possible at the 
reporting date 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
become due. The Company’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow 
it to meet its liabilities when they become due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The key 
to success in managing liquidity is the degree of certainty in the cash flow projections. If future 
cash flows are fairly uncertain, the liquidity risk increases. 

Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected 
operational expenses. To achieve this objective, the Company prepares annual capital 
expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary.  
Further, the Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on exploration projects to further 
manage expenditure.   

The Company monitors its risk of shortage of funds by monitoring the maturity dates of existing 
trade and other accounts payable.  

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual 
cash flows) of financial liabilities: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accounts payable 
and other liabilities 

Up to 3 
months 

Between 3 
and 12 
months 

Between 1 
and 2 
years 

Over 5 
years Total 

March 31, 2014 
 
$1,484,039  $             -   $             -   $             -  

 
$1,484,039 

March 31, 2013 $1,291,010   $             -   $             -   $             -  $1,291,010 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 37 

 
  

Determination of Fair Value: 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in 
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

The Statement of Financial Position carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash and trade and other payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. Due to 
the use of subjective judgments and uncertainties in the determination of fair values these 
values should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the financial 
instruments. 

Fair Value Hierarchy: 

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are 
grouped in Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:    

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities; and  

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and  

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 
include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The available-for-sale securities are based on quoted prices and are therefore considered to 
be Level 1. 

The fair value of the warrant liabilities are determined with the use of a fair value pricing 
model and are determined to be Level 3 liabilities. 

 

7. Market for Securities 
 
The Company is currently listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “EVG”, 
however the company intends to voluntarily delist from that exchange upon listing with the 
CNSX. 
 
The Company is also quoted on the OTCBB under the symbol “EVOGF” and on Frankfurt under 
the symbol “EV7”. 
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8. Consolidated Capitalization 
During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company completed the following transactions: 

• 6,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net proceeds of 
$289,260 (Canadian $300,000).  Each Unit consisted of one common share and one 
common share purchase warrant, for a total of 6,000,000 warrants for which proceeds of 
$138,260 were allocated at their fair value determined by the Black Scholes pricing model 
using the following inputs: Exercise Price - CDN$0.08; Share price  - $CDN 0.05; expected 
life – 3.0 years; volatility – 90%; dividend yield – 0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles the holder 
thereof to acquire one common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.08 until August 
23, 2016.  

• 20,000 shares were issued with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for 
Prosperity Goldfields Corp., pursuant to the property agreement previously signed by the 
Company prior to the sale of Prosperity.  The value attributed to these shares was $942 
based on the quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date of their issuance.  
The Company received 25,313 additional Prosperity shares as repayment for this issuance 
(prior to the consolidation of Prosperity common shares). 

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company completed the following share related 
transactions: 

• 12,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net proceeds of 
$3,587,313.  Each Unit consisted of one common share and one common share purchase 
warrant, for a total of 12,000,000 warrants for which proceeds of $1,523,394 were allocated 
at their fair value determined by the Black Scholes pricing model using the following inputs: 
Exercise Price - CDN$0.40; Share price  - $CDN 0.30; expected life – 3.0 years; volatility – 
85%; dividend yield – 0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one 
common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.40 until August 13, 2015. In connection 
with the Offering, the Company also issued finder’s compensation warrants totaling 49,000 
warrants having a fair value of $28,928 and recorded as a share issue cost. These 
compensation warrants are exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price 
of CDN$0.30 until August 13, 2014. All securities issued in the Offering are subject to a four-
month hold period ending December 14, 2012 in accordance with applicable Canadian 
securities laws.  

• 5,555,555 common shares were issued in consideration for the issuance of 1,176,470 
common shares of Pinetree Capital at a price of $0.85 CAD cents per share based on the 
quoted market price of Pinetree Capital on the date of the transaction for a total of 
$1,003,100.  

• 20,000 shares were issued with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for 
Prosperity Goldfields Corp., pursuant to the property agreement previously signed by the 
Company prior to the sale of Prosperity.  The value attributed to these shares was $5,674 
based on the quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date of their issuance.  
The Company received 25,250 additional Prosperity shares as repayment for this issuance. 
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 Note

 Number of 
shares Amount Reserves Deficit

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity

Balance at March 31, 2012 139,013,445        72,258,755$        11,952,510$        (29,551,240)$       54,660,025$        

11 12,000,000          3,587,313             -                              -                              3,587,313             
Warrant l iabil ity valuation on Private placement 11 -                             (1,523,394)           -                              -                              (1,523,394)           

11 5,555,555            1,003,100             -                              -                              1,003,100             
11 20,000                  5,674                     -                              -                              5,674                     

Share-based payments 11 -                             -                              897,398                -                              897,398                
Warrants expired 11 -                             -                              (3,974,332)           3,974,332             -                              
Net loss for the period -                             -                              -                              (15,722,060)          (15,722,060)         

Balance at March 31, 2013 156,589,000        75,331,448$        8,875,576$          (41,298,968)$       42,908,056$        

11 6,000,000            289,260                -                              -                              289,260                
Warrant l iabil ity valuation on Private placement 11 -                             (149,918)               -                              -                              (149,918)               

11 20,000                  942                        -                              -                              942                        
Share-based payments 11 -                             -                              54,883                  -                              54,883                  
Adjustment to options reserve 11 -                             -                              (7,124,466)           7,124,466             -                              
Net loss for the period -                             -                              -                              (35,711,754)          (35,711,754)         

Balance at March 31, 2014 162,609,000        75,471,732$        1,805,993$          (69,886,256)$       7,391,469$          

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Shares issued for property payments

Share Capital

Shares issued in relation to a private placement

Shares issued in relation to a private placement

Shares issued for property payments

Shares issued in exchange for 1,176,470 shares of 
Pinetree Capital
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9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
The Company established a share purchase option plan (the “Plan”) in September 2004.  In 
September, 2007 shareholder approval was obtained to adopt a “rolling” stock option plan.  The 
Board of Directors administers the Plan, pursuant to which the Board of Directors may grant 
from time to time incentive stock options up to an aggregate maximum of 10% of the issued and 
outstanding shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees, consultants or advisors.  
All options granted under the Plan shall expire not later than the tenth anniversary of the date 
the options were granted. The exercise price of an option is determined by the Board of 
Directors, but shall not be less than the market price of the common shares of the Company on 
the TSX on the last business day before the date on which the options are granted, less any 
discount permitted by the rules of the exchange.  Vesting and terms are at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors.  The vesting of options range from vested immediately, a vesting period of 
three months to a two year period from the date of the grant, at 25% and 20% respectively.  
Options granted for Investor relations vest in accordance with TSX regulation.   

Details of options outstanding as at March 31, 2014 and as of the date of this listing statements 
are as follows: 

Expiry Date 
Exercise Price 

 (CDN$) 
Options 

Outstanding 

   

November 30, 2014 $1.25 255,000 

May 21, 2015 $0.92 350,000 
December 2, 2015 $1.14 105,000 
January 24, 2016 $0.97 500,000 
February 2, 2016 $0.94 600,000 
February 27, 2017 $0.37 1,345,000 
November 14, 2018 $0.17 85,500 
January 15, 2019 $0.35  100,000 
April 15, 2019 $0.35                50,000 
May 26, 2019 $0.42  350,000 
July 12, 2017 $0.32 2,550,000 
October 25, 2018 $0.05 2,700,000 

           8,990,500 
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The changes in options during the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2014 are as follows: 

 

 

Number of 
options 

March  31,  
2014 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(CDN $) 

 

Number of 
options 

March 31, 
 2013 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(CDN $) 
Options outstanding, beginning of 

period 10,349,000 $ 0.52  9,524,000  $ 0.84 

Options granted 2,900,000  $ 0.05  3,175,000          $  0.32 

Options exercised - -  -  - 

Options cancelled - -  (280,000) $  0.90 

Options expired (4,258,500)            $ 0.48  (2,070,000)            $  0.83 

Options outstanding, end of period 8,990,500  $ 0.39  10,349,000  $ 0.52 

Options exercisable, end of period 7,190,500  $ 0.47  8,232,333  $  .57 

 

The following table sets forth all options to purchase Common Shares of the Company that are 
outstanding as at the date of this listing statement: 

 
Persons holding 
Options (as a group) 

Number of Shares 
under Option 

Purchase Price of 
Shares under Option Expiration Date 

Executive officers(1) 350,000 
500,000 
200,000 
850,000 

1,050,000 
1,200,000 

$0.92 
$0.97 
$0.94 
$0.37 
$0.32 
$0.05 

May 21, 2015 
January 24, 2016 
February 2, 2016 
February 27, 2017 
July  12, 2017 
October 25, 2018 

Directors (who are not 
also executive 
officers)(2) 

100,000 
800,000 
300,000 
85,500 
100,000 
300,000 
400,000 

$1.25 
$0.94 
$0.37 
$0.17 
$0.35 
$0.32 
$0.05 

November 30, 2014 
February 2, 2016 
February 27, 2017 
November 14, 2018 
January 15, 2019 
February 12, 2017 
October 25, 2018 

Consultants and 
Employees 

155,000 
105,000 
495,000 
350,000 
50,000 
900,000 

1,500,000 

$1.25 
$1.14 
$0.37 
$0.42 
$0.35 
$0.32 
$0.05 

November 30, 2014 
December 2, 2015 
February 27, 2017 
May 26, 2019 
April 15, 2019 
February 12, 2017 
October 25, 2018 

Total 8,990,500 $0.39  

Notes: 
(1) Consists of R. Bruce Duncan (Chief Executive Officer) and Charles Jenkins (Chief Financial Officer 

and Corporate Secretary). 
(2) Consists of William Majcher and Robert Horsley. 
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10. Description of the Securities 

Common Shares 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value.  
As of the date of this listing application there were 162,609,000 Common Shares issued and 
outstanding.   

Holders of the Common Shares are entitled to notice of, to attend, and vote at any meeting of 
the shareholders of the Company, and to one vote per share on a ballot.  Shareholders will be 
entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Board as a class, subject to prior 
satisfaction of all preferential rights to dividends attached to other classes of shares ranking in 
priority to the Common Shares in respect of dividends.  Shareholders shall be entitled in the 
event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets among its shareholder for the purpose of 
winding-up its affairs, and subject to prior satisfaction of all preferential rights to return of capital 
upon dissolution attached to all shares of other classes of shares ranking in priority to the 
Common Shares in respect of return of capital on dissolution, to share rateably, together with 
the holders of shares of any class of shares ranking equally in respect of return of capital, in 
such assets of the Company as are available for distribution. 

Warrants 

The following table sets forth all options to purchase Common Shares of the Company that are 
outstanding as at the date of this listing statement: 

 
Date of Issue Warrants Outstanding Exercise Price ($) Expiration Date 

August 13, 2012 12,000,000(1)  $0.40 August 13, 2015 

August 13, 2012 49,000(2) $0.30 August 13, 2014 

August 23, 2013 6,000,000(1) $0.08 August 23, 2016 

Total 18,049,000   

Notes: 
(1) These Common Share purchase warrants were issued to subscribers pursuant to the non-brokered 

private placements which closed on August 23, 2014 and August 13, 2012 respectively. 
(2) These Common Share purchase warrants were issued to certain finders in connection with the non-

brokered private placement which closed on August 13, 2012. 
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Prior Sales 

The Common Shares trade on the TSX under the symbol “EVG”.  The following table shows the 
high and low trading prices and monthly trading volume of the Common Shares on the TSX for 
the periods listed. 
 

Period High ($) Low ($) Volume 

2014    

July 1 - 18 0.02 0.01 2,071,400 

June  0.02 0.01 2,496,900 

May 0.02 0.01 1,959,400 

April 0.02 0.01 2,555,300 

March 0.05 0.02 26,770,400 

February 0.05 0.03 2,025,200 

January 0.05 0.03 1,984,600 

2013    

December 0.03 0.02 1,200,700 

November 0.04 0.02 936,900 

October 0.05 0.04 970,000 

September 0.07 0.04 1,142,200 

August 0.07 0.04 2,912,700 

July 0.07 0.04 1,665,600 

June  0.09 0.05 1,814,000 

May 0.10 0.06 1,124,100 

April 0.13 0.08 1,443,900 

March 0.14 0.10 2,746,100 

February 0.18 0.10 2,849,200 

January 0.20 0.17 1,164,700 

 
11. Escrowed Securities 

The Company has no securities held in escrow or subject to contractual restrictions on transfer. 
 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 
The only principal shareholder know to the Company is Goldcorp Inc., which holds 19,047,721 
common shares (11.7%) 
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13. Directors and Officers 

The following are the names and jurisdiction of residence of the directors and executive officers 
of the Corporation the positions and offices they hold with the Corporation and their principal 
occupations.  The directors are elected at the Annual General Meeting for a period of one year.  
Each director will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Corporation unless his 
office is earlier vacated in accordance with the CBCA and the articles of the Corporation. 

 

Name, Jurisdiction 
of Residence and 
Position with the 

Company 
Date Appointed 

as a Director 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Common Shares 
owned or 

Controlled(1) 
Principal Occupation During 

the Last Five Years 

R. Bruce Duncan, 
Ontario, Canada 
Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 

May 21, 2010 235,000 
(0.14%) 

Mr. Duncan’s principal 
occupation is president of West 
Oak Capital Partners Inc.  Prior 
to this, he was with Gordon 
Capital Corporation. Mr. Duncan 
currently sits on the boards of 
several private companies and is 
the President and CEO of Bolero 
Resources Corp. and he is also 
the former President and CEO of 
AusPotash Corp., an Australian 
potash company. 

Charles Jenkins, 
CPA, CGA 
British Columbia, 
Canada 
Chief Financial Officer 
and Corporate 
Secretary 

N/A Nil Mr. Jenkins’s principal 
occupation is as the CFO of the 
Compay. Previously he has been 
the CFO of a number of public 
mining companies, including 
Aurcana Corporation, Oremex 
Resources Corp. and White 
Mountain Titanium Corporation  
He is currently also a director 
and CFO of Naturally Splendid 
Enterprises Ltd. and CFO of 
Rock Tech Lithium Inc. 
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Name, Jurisdiction 
of Residence and 
Position with the 

Company 
Date Appointed 

as a Director 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Common Shares 
owned or 

Controlled(1) 
Principal Occupation During 

the Last Five Years 

William Majcher, 
Hong Kong, China 
Director 

September 21, 
2007 

50,000 
(0.03%) 

Mr. Majcher is an Independent 
director of Chanceton Financial, 
a HK listed financial advisory 
firm.  He was an advisor to Sparx 
Group, a Japanese investment 
manager from 2012 to 2014; an 
executive director of China 
Investment Fund from 2007 to 
2013; and he  was the managing 
director for International 
Business, Baron International 
Limited, a Hong Kong based 
merchant bank until 2010. 

Robert Horsley 

British Columbia, 
Canada 

March 5, 2014 Nil Mr. Horsley has over eight years of 
public issuer experience in investor 
relations, exploration management 
and merger & acquisitions.   He is a 
co-founder and a consultant to 
several private mining companies. 
 

Notes: 
(1) Based on the total of 162,609,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at June 30, 2013, on an 

undiluted basis. 

The directors and officers of the Company as a group beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or 
exercise control or direction over an aggregate of 315,000 Common Shares, representing 
approximately 0.17% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (on an undiluted basis). 

The Company’s audit committee is comprised of Mssrs. Majcher, Lindqvist and Barker.  All of 
the members of the audit committee are independent.  All members are considered financially 
literate. 

The Company’s compensation committee is comprised of Mssrs. Majcher, Lindqvist and Barker.  
All of the members of the compensation committee are independent. 

The Company’s corporate governance committee is comprised of Mssrs. Majcher, Lindqvist and 
Barker.  All of the members of the corporate governance committee are independent. 

The following sets out the principal occupation of the directors and executive officers of the 
Company who act as officers of a company other than the Company or its subsidiaries, with the 
principal business of the company as also set forth below: 
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Name Company Official Title Principal Business of the Company 

R. Bruce Duncan West Oak Capital 
Partners Inc. 

President Strategic advisory services for public 
companies 

 Bolero Resources 
Corporation  

President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

Mineral exploration and development 

Charles Jenkins Naturally Splendid 
Enterprises Ltd. 

Chief Financial 
Officer and Director 

Natural Food Products 

 Rock Tech Lithium 
Inc. 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

Mineral exploration and development 

Except as disclosed below, as at the date of this listing statement and within ten years before 
the date of this listing statement, no director or executive officer of the Company is or has been 
a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any person or company, that while 
such individual was acting in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of 
more than 30 consecutive days; or 

(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be 
a director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease trade or 
similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption 
under securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

Mr. Jenkins was formerly a director and officer of White Mountain Titanium Corporation (“White 
Mountain”), a U.S. incorporated and OTCBB quoted company conducting exploration on a 
wholly-owned Chilean rutile property.  White Mountain was subject to a cease trade order by the 
British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”) from January 16, 2008 to April 30, 2008 
due to a failure to file a technical report in compliance with NI 43-101 to support a previously 
disclosed, internally prepared mineral resource estimate.  The cease trade order was lifted on 
April 30, 2008 upon the acceptance by the BCSC of a complete, independent technical report 
filed by White Mountain with the BCSC on February 29, 2008.  This technical report confirmed 
White Mountain’s mineral resource estimate.  White Mountain is not listed on any Canadian 
stock exchange and was not a reporting issuer in British Columbia during the time the cease 
trade order was in effect.  Under provisions relating to OTCBB quoted companies contained in 
British Columbia Policy 51-509 - Issuers Quoted in the US Over-The-Counter Markets which 
came into effect September 15, 2008, White Mountain is currently deemed a reporting issuer in 
British Columbia. 

As at the date of this listing statement and within ten years before the date of this listing 
statement, no director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company is or has 
been a director or executive officer of a company, that while that person was acting in that 
capacity: 

(a) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
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with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 
or 

(b) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of 
the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has, within the past ten years, 
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement, or compromise with creditors or had 
a receiver, receiver manager, or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that individual. 

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of 
the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a 
securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body, including a self-
regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable 
securityholder making an investment decision. 

 
 

14. Capitalization 
 

Issued Capital 
 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

 
 

   

Total outstanding (A)  162,609,000 189,648,500 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees held) (B) 

      315,000    9,305,500 0.17% 4.91% 

      
Total Public Float (A-B) 162,294,000 180,343,000 99.83% 95.09% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions (C)  

                -                  - - - 

     
Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 162,294,000 180,343,000 99.83% 95.09% 
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Related Persons means shares held by Related Persons or employees of the Issuer or Related Person of 
the Issuer, or by persons or companies who beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer (or who would beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more than 
a 5% voting position in the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of other securities held).  Fully diluted 
numbers above include options granted to related parties but not yet exercised totalling 8,990,500 shares 
if, as and when exercised. 
 
Number of outstanding securities subject to resale restrictions, including restrictions imposed by pooling 
or other arrangements or in a shareholder agreement and securities held by control block holders  
 
 

15. Executive Compensation 

This section is prepared as of the last date of the last audited year end, being March 31, 2013.  
Subsequent to that year end, management contracts were substantially amended, as discussed 
below. 
 
Named Executive Officers  
In this section “Named Executive Officer” means the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), the Chief 
Financial Officer (“CFO”) and each of the three most highly compensated executive officers (the 
“NEOs”), other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the 
most recently completed financial year and whose total compensation was more than $150,000 
as well as any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided except that 
the individual was not serving as an executive officer of the Corporation at the end of the most 
recently completed financial year. 

R. Bruce Duncan, CEO, Charles E. Jenkins, CFO, Quinton Hennigh, former President and Chief 
Geologist and William Gee, former CEO are each an NEO for the purposes of the following 
disclosure. 

  
Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Compensation Committee is solely empowered to review and recommend all compensation 
within the Corporation.  The Board then reviews and approves the recommendations of the 
Compensation Committee.  Generally, the Compensation Committee requests a 
recommendation from the CEO with respect to contract terms, salary levels, bonuses and option 
grants, however the Compensation Committee can and during the past year did vary those 
recommendations based upon their assessment of performance, general market conditions, and 
the state of the Corporation.  No specific performance goals are established.  No compensation 
consultants are retained by the committee, although the committee is entitled to do so. 

During the year ended March 31, 2014 no salary increases were awarded, and the Corporation 
limited bonuses due to market conditions.  The committee awarded 2,900,000 share purchase 
options at a weighted average exercise price of $0.05 per share to directors, officers, 
employees and consultants of the Corporation. 
 
Compensation Committee 

At March 31, 2013, the compensation committee was comprised of three members – William 
(Bill) Majcher (Chair), William F. Lindqvist and Robert W. Barker.  Mr. Barker resigned from the 
Board on August 14, 2013 and Mr. Lindqvist resigned on March 5, 2014.  Mr. Horsley is now a 
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member of the committee.  The two current members of the Compensation Committee are 
independent directors.  The Corporation’s compensation policies and programs are designed to 
be competitive with similar mining companies and to recognize and reward executive 
performance consistent with the success of the Corporation’s business. These policies and 
programs are intended to attract and retain capable and experienced people. The 
Compensation Committee’s role and philosophy is to ensure that the Corporation’s 
compensation goals and objectives, as applied to the actual compensation paid to the 
Corporation’s CEO and other executive officers, are aligned with the Corporation’s overall 
business objectives and with shareholder interests. 

In addition to industry comparables, the Compensation Committee considers a variety of factors 
when determining both compensation policies and programs and individual compensation 
levels.  These factors include the long-range interests of the Corporation and its shareholders, 
overall financial and operating performance of the Corporation and the Compensation 
Committee’s assessment of each executive’s individual performance and contribution toward 
meeting corporate objectives. 

The function of the compensation committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities 
relating to the compensation practices of the executive officers of the Corporation.  The 
compensation committee has been empowered to review the compensation levels of the 
executive officers of the Corporation and to report thereon to the Board, to review the strategic 
objectives of the stock option plan of the Corporation and set stock based compensation, and to 
consider any other matters which, in the compensation committee’s judgment, should be taken 
into account in reaching the recommendation to the Board concerning the compensation levels 
of the Corporation’s executive officers. 
 
Report on Executive Compensation 

This report on executive compensation has been authorized by the compensation committee.  
The Board assumes responsibility for reviewing and monitoring the long-range compensation 
strategy for the senior management of the Corporation, although the compensation committee 
guides it in this role.  The Board reviews the compensation of the Corporation’s senior 
executives and determines the type and amount of compensation for the executive officers.   
 
Risks Associated with the Corporation’s Compensation Practices  

The Board has not proceeded to a formal evaluation of the implications of risks associated with 
the Corporation’s compensation policies and practices.  The Board review the risks at least 
once annually, if any, associated with the Corporation’s compensation policies and practices at 
such time. 

Executive compensation is comprised of short-term compensation in the form of a base salary 
and long-term ownership through the Corporation’s share option plan.  This structure ensures 
that a significant portion of executive compensation (stock options) is both long-term and “at 
risk” and, accordingly, is directly linked to the achievement of business results and the creation 
of long-term shareholder value.  As the benefits of such compensation, if any, are not realized 
by officers until a significant period of time has passed, the ability of officers to take 
inappropriate or excessive risks that are beneficial to their compensation at the expense of the 
Corporation and the shareholders is extremely limited.  Furthermore, the short-term component 
of the executive compensation (base salary) represents a relatively small part of the total 
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compensation.  As a result, it is unlikely that an officer would take inappropriate or excessive 
risks at the expense of the Corporation or the shareholders that would be beneficial to their 
short-term compensation when their long-term compensation might be put at risk from their 
actions.  

Due to the small size of the Corporation and the current level of the Corporation’s activity, the 
Board is able to closely monitor and consider any risks which may be associated with the 
Corporation’s compensation policies and practices.  Risks, if any, may be identified and 
mitigated through regular meetings of the Board during which financial and other information of 
the Corporation are reviewed.  No risks have been identified arising from the Corporation’s 
compensation policies and practices that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect 
on the Corporation. 

Philosophy and Objectives 

The compensation program for the Corporation’s senior management is designed to ensure that 
the level and form of compensation achieves certain objectives, including: 

(a)  attracting and retaining talented, qualified and effective executives; 

(b)  motivating the short and long-term performance of these executives; and 

(c)  better aligning their interests with those of the Corporation’s shareholders. 
 
Elements of the Compensation Program 

In compensating its senior management, the Corporation has employed a combination of base 
salary, bonus compensation and equity participation through its stock option plan.  

Base Salary 

In the Board’s view, paying base salaries competitive in the markets in which the Corporation 
operates, is a first step to attracting and retaining talented, qualified and effective executives. 
Competitive salary information on comparable companies within the industry is compiled from a 
variety of sources, including surveys conducted by independent consultants and national and 
international publications.  

Bonus Incentive Compensation 

The Corporation wishes to achieve certain strategic objectives and milestones. The Board sets 
general performance goals that incorporate critical strategic objectives and milestones, including 
geological success, reputation, share price, financial stability, budget fidelity, investor relations 
and employee satisfaction. The Board will consider executive bonus compensation dependent 
upon the Corporation meeting those strategic objectives and milestones and sufficient cash 
resources being available for the granting of bonuses. The standard annual performance bonus 
for all executive officers for target performance is set at 33% of the annual base salary. 
 
Benefits and Perquisites  
 
The Corporation does not, as of the date of this Management Proxy Circular, offer any benefits 
or perquisites to its NEOs other than potential grants of incentive stock options as otherwise 
disclosed and discussed herein.  



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 51 

 
  

Hedging by Named Executive Officers or Directors  

The Corporation has not, to date, adopted a policy restricting its executive officers and directors 
from purchasing financial instruments, including, for greater certainty, prepaid variable forward 
contracts, equity swaps, collars, or units of exchange funds, which are designed to hedge or 
offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as compensation or held, directly 
or indirectly, by executive officers or directors. As of the date of this Management Proxy 
Circular, entitlement to grants of incentive stock options under the Corporation’s stock option 
plan is the only equity security element awarded by the Corporation to its executive officers and 
directors (see – Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans for a 
description of the Corporation’s stock option plan). 

Equity Participation 

The Corporation believes that encouraging its executives and employees to become 
shareholders is the best way of aligning their interests with those of its shareholders. Equity 
participation is accomplished through the Corporation’s stock option plan. Stock options are 
granted to executives and employees taking into account a number of factors, including the 
amount and term of options previously granted, base salary and bonuses and competitive 
factors. The amounts and terms of options granted are determined by the Board, upon 
recommendation of the Compensation Committee.  

Given the evolving nature of the Corporation’s business, the Board continues to review and 
redesign the overall compensation plan for senior management so as to continue to address the 
objectives identified above. 
 
Actions, Decisions or Policies Made After March 31, 2014 

There have been no actions, decisions or policies made after March 31, 2014 that could affect a 
reader’s understanding of NEO compensation other than as set out herein, except that 
management contracts were substantially amended on April 28, 2014.  See Events Subsequent 
to March 31, 2014 on page 9 above for a discussion of these changes. 
 
Option-Based Awards 
The Corporation has a stock option plan in place which was established to provide incentive to 
qualified parties to increase their proprietary interest in the Corporation and thereby encourage 
their continuing association with the Corporation. Management proposes stock option grants to 
the Board based on such criteria as performance, previous grants, and hiring incentives and all 
grants require approval of the Board.  The stock option plan is administered by the Board or the 
Board’s compensation committee and provides that options will be issued only to directors, 
officers, employees or consultants of the Corporation or a subsidiary of the Corporation.  
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 52 

 
  

Summary Compensation Table  
The compensation paid to the NEOs during the Corporation’s three most recently completed 
fiscal years of March 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 is as set out below and expressed in Canadian 
dollars unless otherwise noted.  

The amounts presented below reflect the amount expensed in the records of the Company.  For 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 the salary and other compensation (RRSP) were accrued 
and not paid to the NEOs below:    

Name and 
principal 
position Year 

Salary 
($)(1) 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards(2) 
($) 

Non-equity incentive 
plan compensation 

Pension 
value 

($) 

All other 
compensatio

n 
($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Annual 
incentive 
plans(3) 

($) 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

($) 

R. Bruce Duncan 
CEO(4) 

2014 
2013 
2012 

210,000 
180,000 
30,144 

Nil  
Nil 
Nil 

10,228 
71,157 

121,098 

Nil 
30,000 

Nil 

Nil  
Nil 
Nil 

Nil  
Nil 
Nil 

23,820 
22,970 
55,450 

244,048 
304,127 
206,692 

Charles E. 
Jenkins(5) 
CFO  

2014 
2013 
2012 

170,000 
170,000 
70,000  

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

7,306 
53,368 

138,776 

Nil 
20,000 
15,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

23,820 
22,970 
22,450 

201,126 
266,338 
346,226 

Quinton 
Hennigh(6) 
Former President 
and Chief 
Geologist  

2014 
2013 
2012 

Nil  
Nil 

35,682 

Nil  
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil  
Nil 

Nil   
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil   
Nil 
Nil 

Nil   
Nil 
 Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

35,682 

William Gee(7) 
former CEO 

2014 
2013 
2012 

Nil   
Nil 

149,866 

Nil   
Nil 
Nil 

Nil   
Nil 

203,694 

Nil  
Nil 

20,150 

Nil   
Nil 
Nil 

Nil   
Nil 
Nil 

Nil   
Nil 

193,450 

Nil   
Nil 

567,160 

Notes:  

(1) All amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars.   The salary and other compensation amounts for 2014 
represent the amount expensed in the records of the Company.  For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 the 
above noted expenses were accrued and not paid to the NEOs. The amounts for 2012 for Dr. Hennigh and Mr. 
Gee have been converted from US dollars using the following annual average exchange rate:  CDN$1.0075 
/US$1  for 2012. 

(2) The Corporation uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to calculate the fair value of share purchase 
options at the date of grant. The fair value is the estimated expense to the Company, and does not represent a 
payment to the NEO. During the year ended March 31, 2014, the following assumptions were used when 
calculating the fair value of share purchase options at the date of grant: (a) average risk-free interest rate of 
1.71%; (b) expected life of 5 years; (c) expected volatility of 97%; and (d) Nil dividends. 

(3) Represents bonuses paid in each fiscal year, after finalizing and filing results for that fiscal year. Amounts are 
expressed in Canadian dollars and have been converted from US dollars (in the case of Dr. Hennigh and Mr. 
Gee) using the Exchange Rate for 2010 (see note (1) above). 

(4) R. Bruce Duncan was appointed CEO on February 22, 2012 to replace William Gee.  Pursuant to an 
employment agreement with the Corporation in effect for 2013 and 2014 Mr. Duncan receives $180,000 
($15,000 per month), less applicable deductions for income tax, and is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses. 
Mr. Duncan is also entitled to an annual bonus, based on the extent to which he achieves his annual 
performance objectives as set by the Board, and is entitled to participate in the Corporation’s share option plan 
or any successors thereto.  Effective August 1, 2012 the salary increases to $200,000 ($16,667 per month). The 
amounts reported under “All Other Compensation” represent payments paid  or accrued on behalf of Mr. Duncan 
in respect of registered retirement savings plan (RRSP) contributions as well as director’s fees paid prior to his 
appointment as CEO.  This agreement was modified in April 2014 to $7,500 per month with no guaranteed 
bonus or RRSP.  This amount is accruing and has not yet been paid. 
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(5) Charles E. Jenkins was appointed to the positions of CFO and Corporate Secretary on December 22, 2010. On 
December 22, 2010, the Corporation entered into an executive employment agreement in effect for 2012, 2013 
and 2014 with Mr. Jenkins under which Mr. Jenkins receives an annual base salary of $170,000 ($14,666 per 
month), less applicable deductions for income tax, and is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses.  Mr. Jenkins is 
also entitled to an annual bonus, based on the extent to which he achieves his annual performance objectives as 
set by the Board, and is entitled to participate in the Corporation’s share option plan or any successors thereto.  
The Corporation may terminate the agreement upon 90 days prior written notice or for just cause. The amounts 
reported under “All Other Compensation” represent payments paid or accrued on behalf of Mr. Jenkins in respect 
of registered retirement savings plan (RRSP) contributions. This agreement was modified in April 2014 to $5,000 
per month with no guaranteed bonus or RRSP. This amount is accruing and has not yet been paid. 

(6) Dr. Quinton Hennigh, M. Sc., Ph.D. became the Corporation’s President on April 4, 2008 and a director of the 
Corporation effective August 21, 2008.  He resigned as President on June 8, 2011.  On April 1, 2008, the 
Corporation entered into an executive employment agreement with Dr. Hennigh under which Dr. Hennigh 
received an annual base salary of USD$144,000 ($14,166 per month), less applicable deductions for income tax, 
and is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses.  Mr. Jenkins was also entitled to an annual bonus, based on the 
extent to which he achieves his annual performance objectives as set by the Board, and was entitled to 
participate in the Corporation’s share option plan or any successors thereto.  The Corporation may terminate the 
agreement upon 90 days prior written notice or for just cause. The amounts reported under “All Other 
Compensation” represent payments paid on behalf Dr. Hennigh in respect of health benefit coverage, retirement 
plan (401(k)) contributions and other benefits.  Dr. Hennigh resigned as Director and Chief Geologist on 
November 7, 2011. 

(7) William Gee served as CEO from April 1, 2011 to February 22, 2012.  Pursuant to an employment agreement 
with the Corporation Mr. Gee received an annual base salary of USD$170,000 (USD$14,166.66 per month), less 
applicable deductions for income tax, and is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses. Mr. Gee was also entitled to 
an annual bonus, based on the extent to which he achieves his annual performance objectives as set by the 
Board, and is entitled to participate in the Corporation’s share option plan or any successors thereto.  The 
amounts reported under “All Other Compensation” represent payments paid on behalf of Mr. Gee in respect of 
contract termination payments. 
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Incentive Plan Awards 
 
Outstanding Option-based Awards 

The following table sets out all option-based awards and share-based awards outstanding who 
was an NEO at March 31, 2014, for each NEO (there were no share-based awards outstanding 
as at March 31, 2013 for any NEO): 

  Option-based Awards    

Named 
Executive 

Officer 
 

Number of 
securities 
underlying 

unexercised 
options 

(#) 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

Option 
expiration 

date 

Value of 
unexercised 
in-the-money 

options(1) 
($) 

Number of 
shares or 
units of 

shares that 
have not 
vested 

(#) 

Market or 
payout 
value of 
share-
based 
awards 

that have 
not vested 

($) 

Market or 
payout 
value of 
vested 
share-
based 

awards not 
paid out or 
distributed 

($) 
R. Bruce 
Duncan,  

350,000 $0.92 May 20, 2015 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  

CEO 200,000 $0.94 Feb.11, 2016 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 600,000 $0.37 Feb.27, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 600,000 $0.32 July 12, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 700,000 $0.05 Oct. 25, 2018 Nil Nil Nil Nil 
        
Charles E. 
Jenkins,  

500,000 
 

$0.97 
 

Jan.21, 2016 
 

Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  

CFO and  250,000 $0.37 Feb.27, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
Corporate  450,000 $0.32 July 12, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
Secretary 500,000 $0.05 Oct. 25, 2018 Nil Nil Nil Nil 
        

Notes:  
(1) These values are calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the trading price of the 

Corporation’s Common Shares on the TSX as at March 31, 2014 ($0.015 each) and then multiply that 
difference times the number of Common Shares available to the option holder for purchase at the 
stated exercise price. 

 
Incentive Plan Awards – Vested Value 
The following table sets out all option-based awards vested for each NEO was an NEO during 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014: 

Named Executive Officer 
 

Option-based awards – Value vested during the year 
($) 

R. Bruce Duncan 10,228   
Charles E. Jenkins 7,306 

 

See Securities Authorized under Equity Compensation Plans below for further information on 
the Corporation’s Share Option Plan. 

Pension Plan 

The Corporation has no pension plans for its directors, officers or employees.  
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Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

The executive employment agreements that the Corporation has entered into with each of 
Robert W. Barker, Charles E. Jenkins and R. Bruce Duncan (collectively, the “Executive 
Employment Agreements”) contain the same termination and change of control benefits.  This 
section reflects the contracts in place as of March 31, 2013.  On April 28, 2014 those contracts 
were amended to reduce the termination provisions to a six month payout period. 
 
Termination 

The Corporation may terminate an Executive Employment Agreement at any time without cause 
by providing the executive with ninety days’ written notice of termination and paying the 
executive the following amounts in lieu of notice: (a) the executive’s salary up to the termination 
date (if not already paid); (b) all outstanding and accrued regular and special vacation pay to the 
termination date; (c) all reimbursable expenses; (d) an amount equivalent to one year’s annual 
base salary and one year’s target annual bonus; (e) an amount equivalent to one year’s 
contribution to the executive’s Registered Retirement Savings Plan; (f) an amount in respect of 
outplacement counselling equal to at least ten percent of the executive’s annual base salary; 
and (g) an amount equivalent to one year’s cost to the Corporation of all other benefits and 
expenses that would have been paid by the Corporation for the benefit of the executive during 
the year immediately following the termination date.  If an executive’s employment is terminated 
without cause, any stock options granted to the executive and held by the executive on the 
termination date will immediately vest and will be exercisable for at least one year following the 
termination date. 
 
Change of Control 

The Executive Employment Agreements also contemplate a “Change of Control” of the 
Corporation.  For the purpose of the Executive Employment Agreements, a “Change of Control” 
of the Corporation occurs when: (a) an entity or entities or any person or persons acting in 
concert become the beneficial owner of more than 50% of the combined voting power of the 
Corporation or a significant subsidiary (i.e. a subsidiary that owns more than 50% of the 
consolidated assets of the Corporation); (b) a merger or consolidation of the Corporation (or a 
significant subsidiary) with any other entity is consummated, unless the merger or consolidation 
results in the voting securities of the Corporation (or significant subsidiary) outstanding 
immediately prior thereto continuing to represent more than 50% of the combined voting power 
of the surviving or resulting entity outstanding immediately after the merger or consolidation; or 
(c) the Corporation’s shareholders approve a plan or arrangement for the sale or disposition of 
more than 50% of the consolidated assets of the Corporation (or assets that generate more than 
50% of the Corporation’s consolidated revenues). 

For the purpose of the Executive Employment Agreements, “Constructive Dismissal” means, 
without the executive’s written consent, if there is a Change of Control and: (a) the Corporation 
requires the executive to relocate his office to a location more than 40 kilometres from its 
current location or reassigns the executive to a position of lesser rank and reduces or materially 
changes the executive’s responsibilities to the Corporation; or (b) there is a reduction to the 
executive’s base salary or any cash bonus that is not borne equally by all employees who enjoy 
such benefits at the time (and thereafter). 
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Following a Change of Control of the Corporation, if an Executive Employment Agreement is 
terminated by the Corporation, or by the executive upon an event of Constructive Dismissal, 
within one year of the Change of Control and within one year of the effective date of the 
Executive Employment Agreement, the Corporation must pay the executive the following 
amounts: (a) the executive’s salary up to the termination date (if not already paid); (b) all 
outstanding and accrued regular and special vacation pay to the termination date; (c) all 
reimbursable expenses; (d) an amount equivalent to one-half of the number of months of 
service by the executive to the Corporation multiplied by the executive’s annual base salary plus 
annual performance bonus; (e) an amount equivalent to the sum of all Registered Retirement 
Savings Plan contributions for the six months immediately following the termination date; (f) an 
amount in respect of outplacement counselling equal to at least ten percent of the executive’s 
annual base salary; and (g) an amount equivalent to six months’ cost to the Corporation of all 
other benefits and expenses that would have been paid by the Corporation for the benefit of the 
executive during the year immediately following the termination date.  If an executive’s 
employment is terminated without cause, any stock options granted to the executive and held by 
the executive on the termination date will immediately vest and will be exercisable for at least 
eighteen months following the termination date.  If there is no event of Constructive Dismissal 
and an executive terminates an Executive Employment Agreement within one year from a 
Change of Control, the Corporation must pay the executive an amount equal to one-fourth of the 
above amounts. 

Following a Change of Control of the Corporation, if an Executive Employment Agreement is 
terminated by the Corporation, or by the executive upon an event of Constructive Dismissal, 
within one year of the Change of Control and subsequent to the one year anniversary of the 
effective date of the Executive Employment Agreement, the Corporation must pay the executive 
the following amounts: (a) the executive’s salary up to the termination date (if not already paid); 
(b) all outstanding and accrued regular and special vacation pay to the termination date; (c) all 
reimbursable expenses; (d) an amount equivalent to three-fourths of the number of months of 
service by the executive to the Corporation multiplied by the executive’s annual base salary plus 
annual performance bonus, up to a maximum amount equivalent to two times the executive’s 
annual base salary plus two times the annual performance; (e) an amount equivalent to the sum 
of all Registered Retirement Savings Plan contributions for the one year immediately following 
the termination date; (f) an amount in respect of outplacement counselling equal to at least ten 
percent of the executive’s annual base salary; and (g) an amount equivalent to one year’s cost 
to the Corporation of all other benefits and expenses that would have been paid by the 
Corporation for the benefit of the executive during the year immediately following the termination 
date.  If an executive’s employment is terminated without cause, any stock options granted to 
the executive and held by the executive on the termination date will immediately vest and will be 
exercisable for at least eighteen months following the termination date.  If there is no event of 
Constructive Dismissal and an executive terminates an Executive Employment Agreement 
within one year from a Change of Control, the Corporation must pay the executive an amount 
equal to one-fourth of the above amounts. 
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Potential Payments upon Termination  

The following table provides information concerning the value of payments and benefits 
following termination of employment of each NEO under various circumstances.  Payments vary 
based on the reason for termination and the timing of a departure.  The amounts below are 
calculated as if the NEO’s employment had been terminated on March 31, 2014, and are not 
representative of the amounts payable under current contracts.  

NEO Termination Without Cause Change of Control 

R. Bruce Duncan  

Salary 210,000 420,000 
Bonus 70,000 70,000 
Additional Compensation 23,820 23,820 
Options 200,000 200,000 

Charles Jenkins 

Salary 170,000 340,000 
Bonus 56,667 56,667 
Additional Compensation 23,820 23,820 
Options 150,000 150,000 

Except as outlined above, there are no contracts, agreements, plans or arrangements that 
provide for payments to an NEO at, following or in connection with any termination (whether 
voluntary, involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the 
Corporation or a change in an NEO’s responsibilities. 

This section reflects the contracts in place as of March 31, 2014.  On April 28, 2014 those 
contracts were amended to reduce salaries and to reduce the termination provisions to a six 
month payout period.  Additional compensation, being RRSP contributions and fixed bonuses 
were also deleted from the revised contracts. 
 
Director Compensation 

Independent directors were formerly paid an annual retainer of $18,000, plus an additional 
annual retainer of $5,000 to each independent director who acts as a member of the Audit, 
Compensation or Corporate Governance Committees. Effective April 1, 2013 the payments 
were suspended indefinitely. 

The compensation provided to the directors, excluding a director who is included in disclosure 
for an NEO, for the Corporation’s most recently completed financial year ended March 31, 2014:   

Name 
 

Fees 
earned 

($) 

Share-
based 
awards 

($) 

Option-
based 

awards(1) 
($) 

Non-equity 
incentive 

plan 
compensati

on 
($) 

Pensio
n value 

($) 

All other 
compensatio

n 
($) 

Total 
($) 

Robert W. Barker(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
William (Bill) Majcher Nil Nil 1,488 Nil Nil Nil 1,488 
William F. Lindqvist(2) Nil Nil 1,488 Nil Nil Nil 1,488 
Robert Horsley  Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Notes:  
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(1) The Corporation uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to calculate the fair value of share purchase 
options at the date of grant.  During the year ended March 31, 2014, (a) average risk-free interest rate of 1.71%; 
(b) expected life of 5 years; (c) expected volatility of 97%; and (d) Nil dividends. 

(2) Robert W. Barker resigned from the Board on August 14, 2013, and William Lindqvist resigned March 5, 2014. 
 
Outstanding Share-based Awards and Option-based Awards 

The following table sets out all option-based awards and share-based awards outstanding as at 
March 31, 2014, for each director, excluding a director who is already set out in disclosure for a 
NEO for the Corporation:  

Name(1) 

 

Option-based Awards    

Number of 
securities 
underlyin

g 
unexercis

ed 
options 

(#) 

Option 
exerci

se 
price 

($) 

Option 
expiration 

date 
 

Value of 
unexercised 
in-the-money 

options(2) 
($) 

Number of 
shares or 
units of 

shares that 
have not 
vested 

(#) 

Market or 
payout 
value of 
share-
based 
awards 

that have 
not vested 

($) 

Market or 
payout 
value of 
vested 
share-
based 

awards 
not paid 
out or 

distribute
d 

($) 
William (Bill) 
Majcher 85,500 $0.17 Nov.18, 2014 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  

 100,000 $0.35 Jan.19, 2015 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 100,000 $1.25 Nov.30, 2014 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 200,000 $0.94 Feb.1, 2016 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 300,000 $0.37 Feb.27, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 300,000 $0.32 July 12, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 400,000 $0.05 Oct. 25,2018 Nil Nil Nil Nil 
        
William F. Lindqvist 
(3) 

350,000 $0.42 May 26, 2019 Nil  
Nil  Nil  Nil  

 100,000 $1.25 Nov.30, 2014 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 200,000 $0.94 Feb.1, 2016 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 300,000 $0.37 Feb.27, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 300,000 $0.32 July 12, 2017 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
 400,000 $0.05 Oct. 25,2018 Nil Nil Nil Nil 
        
Robert Horsley Nil Nil Nil Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  
        
        

Notes:  
(1) Directors as of March 31, 2014. 
(2) These values are calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the trading price of the Corporation’s 

Common Shares on the TSX as at March 31, 2014 ($0.015) and then multiply that difference times the number 
of Common Shares available to the option holder for purchase at the stated exercise price. 

(3) William Lindqvist resigned from the Board on March 5, 2014. 
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Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested 
The following table sets out all option-based awards vested during the year ended March 31, 
2014 for each director, excluding a director who is already set out in disclosure for a NEO for 
the Corporation: 

Name 
 

Option-based awards – Value vested during the year 
($) 

William (Bill) Majcher 1,488  
William F. Lindqvist(1) 1,488 
Robert  Horsley Nil  

Note: 
(1) William Lindqvist resigned from the Board on March 5, 2014. 

 
SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY 

COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
The only equity compensation plan which the Corporation has in place is its stock option dated 
for reference August 19, 2011, which was approved by shareholders at the Corporation’s 
Annual Meeting held on September 30, 2011 (the “Plan”).   TSX policies require each company 
listed on the exchange, and proposing to grant options, to have a stock option plan approved by 
ordinary resolution, and requires shareholder approval at every third annual general meeting of 
a TSX listed company, by ordinary resolution. 
 
 The Plan was established to provide incentives to increase individual performance and 
shareholder value, and to assist with the retention of employees. The Plan is administered by 
the board of directors of the Corporation or any committee thereof duly empowered or 
authorized to grant options under the Plan (the “Plan Administrator”). The Plan Administrator 
determines option grants within guidelines established by the Compensation Committee of the 
Board. All option grants are subject to Board ratification.  
 
The Plan provides for a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of the 
Corporation at the time an option is granted, less Common Shares reserved for issuance 
pursuant to currently outstanding options, to be reserved for options to be granted at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee to eligible optionees 
(“Optionees”). 

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Plan: 

(a)  All options granted under the Plan are non-assignable and non-transferable and are 
issuable for a period of up to 10 years; 

(b)  the minimum exercise price of an option granted under the Plan must not be less than 
the Market Price calculated the day before the grant being an exercise price which is no 
less than the five day volume weighted average trading price (“VWAP”) at the date of 
grant. VWAP means the price at which the exercisable Common Shares can be 
acquired and is calculated by dividing the total value of the Common Shares traded for 
the relevant period on the TSX by the total volume of shares; 
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(c)  the expiry of an option will, if there is a self-imposed blackout in place as contemplated 
under the Plan at the pre-determined expiry date of an option, become the tenth day 
following the lifting of such blackout; 

(d)  for stock options granted to employees or service providers (inclusive of management 
company employees), the Corporation must ensure that the proposed optionee is a bona 
fide employee or service provider (inclusive of management company employees), as 
the case may be, of the Corporation or any subsidiary; 

(e)  if an optionee ceases to be employed by the Corporation (other than as a result of 
termination with cause) or ceases to act as a director or officer of the Company or a 
subsidiary of the Corporation, any option held by such optionee may be exercised within 
90 days after the date such optionee ceases to be employed as an officer or director or, 
as the case may be; 

(f)  pursuant to the Plan, a “Change of Control” is deemed to occur when one party owns or 
controls 20% or more of the issued and outstanding Shares, and upon a Change of 
Control occurring all outstanding options granted to directors and officers of the 
Corporation, which are subject to vesting provisions, shall be deemed to have 
immediately vested upon the occurrence of the Change of Control; 

(g)  if an optionee dies, any vested option held by him at the date of death will become 
exercisable by the optionee’s lawful personal representatives, heirs or executors until the 
earlier of one year after the date of death of such optionee and the date of expiration of 
the term otherwise applicable to such option; 

(h)  in the case of an optionee being dismissed from employment or service for cause, such 
optionee’s options, whether or not vested at the date of dismissal, will immediately 
terminate without right to exercise same; 

(i)  vesting of options shall be at the discretion of the Board, and will generally be subject to: 

(i)  the service provider remaining employed by or continuing to provide services to 
the Corporation or any of its affiliates as well as, at the discretion of the Board, 
achieving certain milestones which may be defined by the Board from time to 
time or receiving a satisfactory performance review by the Corporation or any of 
its affiliates during the vesting period; or 

(ii)  the service provider remaining as a director of the Corporation or any of its 
affiliates during the vesting period; and 

(j)  the Board reserves the right in its absolute discretion to terminate the Plan with respect 
to all Plan shares in respect of options which have not yet been granted hereunder. 

Subject to TSX Policy requirements and the prior receipt of any necessary regulatory approval, 
the Board may in its absolute discretion, and without further shareholder approval, amend or 
modify the Plan or any option granted as follows: 

(a)  to make amendments which are of a typographical, grammatical or clerical nature; 

(b)  to change the vesting provisions of an option granted hereunder; 

(c)  to change the termination provision of an option granted hereunder, which does not 
entail an extension beyond the original expiry date of such Option; 
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(d)  to add a cashless exercise feature payable in cash or Common Shares which provides 
for a full deduction of the number of underlying Common Shares from the Common 
Shares reserved hereunder; 

(e)  to make amendments necessary as a result in changes in securities laws applicable to 
the Corporation; 

(f)  if the Corporation becomes listed or quoted on a stock exchange or stock market senior 
to the TSX, it may make such amendments as may be required by the policies of such 
senior stock exchange or stock market; and 

(g)  to make such amendments as reduce, and do not increase, the benefits of the Plan to 
Service Providers. 

The Plan provides that disinterested shareholder approval must be received prior to: 

(a) Common Shares being issuable at any time to Insiders under the Plan, when combined 
with all of the Corporation’s other share compensation arrangements, exceeding 10% of 
the outstanding Common Shares. 

(b)  Common Shares to be issued at any time to Insiders under the Plan, when combined 
with all of the Corporation’s other share compensation arrangements, exceeding 10% of 
the outstanding Common Shares in any 12 month period; 

(c)  Common Shares being issuable to independent directors under the Plan, when 
combined with all of the Corporation’s other share compensation arrangements, 
exceeding 1% of the outstanding Common Shares of the Corporation; and 

(d)  a reduction in the exercise price of an option granted hereunder to an Insider or an 
extension of the term of an option granted hereunder benefiting an Insider, would require 
the approval of the disinterested shareholders (defined below) of the Corporation. 

In the event any such matter is approved by disinterested vote it will need to be again approved 
by disinterested vote at the time the next three year vote to allow continuation of the Plan is 
required. 

The Plan provides that options may be issued to directors, officers, employees, management 
company employees or consultants of the Corporation, or a subsidiary of the Corporation.  

The options may not be assigned or transferred. 

The following table sets out equity compensation plan information as at the fiscal year end of 
March 31, 2014: 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Plan Category 

No. of Securities to be 
Issued Upon Exercise of 

Outstanding Options 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available 
for Future Issuance 

Under Equity 
Compensation Plans 
(excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 

 (a) (b) (c) 

Equity Compensation 
Plans Approved by 
Securityholders (the 
“Plan”) 

8,990,500 $0.39 7,240,400 
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Plan Category 

No. of Securities to be 
Issued Upon Exercise of 

Outstanding Options 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available 
for Future Issuance 

Under Equity 
Compensation Plans 
(excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 

 (a) (b) (c) 

Equity Compensation 
Plans Not Approved by 
Securityholders  

N/A N/A N/A 

Total: 8,990,500 $0.39 7,240,400 
 
 
 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
 N/A 

 
17.  Risk Factors 

Readers should consider the risk factors set out below and other information included in this 
listing statement. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones the 
Company may face. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that the Company is not 
aware of or that it currently deems immaterial, also may adversely affect the Company’s 
business. 

Changes in commodity prices and global demand for gold may have a material adverse 
impact on the Company’s business 

The price of the Common Shares, the Company’s financial results and exploration, development 
and mining activities have previously been, or may in the future be, significantly adversely 
affected by declines in the price of gold. Gold prices fluctuate widely and are affected by 
numerous factors beyond the Company’s control such as the sale or purchase of metals by 
various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or 
deflation, fluctuation in the value of the Canadian dollar and foreign currencies, global and 
regional supply and demand, and the political and economic conditions of major metals-
producing countries throughout the world. The fluctuation in the price of gold in recent years and 
future serious price declines could cause development of and commercial production from the 
Company’s properties to be impractical. Depending on the price of gold, cash flow from future 
mining operations may not be sufficient and the Company could be forced to discontinue 
production, may lose its interest in, or may be forced to sell, some of its properties. Future 
production from the Company’s mining properties is dependent on gold prices that are adequate 
to make these properties economic. Furthermore, reserve calculations and life-of-mine plans 
using significantly lower gold prices could result in material write-downs of the Company’s 
investment in mining properties and increased amortization, reclamation and closure charges. In 
addition to adversely affecting the Company’s reserve estimates and its financial condition, 
declining commodity prices can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility 
of a particular project. Even if the project is ultimately determined to be economically viable, the 
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need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt operations 
until the reassessment can be completed. 

Economic market conditions may materially adversely affect the Company’s ability to 
raise equity 

The exploration for, and mining of, mineral resources requires substantial capital investment. 
The development and expansion plans of the Company may also result in increases in capital 
expenditures and commitments. The Company may require additional funding to develop its 
mineral projects and expand the business if internally generated cash resources and available 
bank facilities are insufficient to finance these activities. If the Company is unable to obtain 
adequate financing on acceptable terms, or at all, to satisfy its operating, development and 
expansion plans, its business and results of operations may be materially and adversely 
affected. 

Conditions in the credit markets since June 2008 have restricted the ability of companies to 
access the credit markets. The Company’s ability to raise debt or equity financing could be 
significantly influenced by, among other things, general economic conditions, developments in 
the credit markets, volatility in the equity markets and investors’ desire to maintain cash and to 
assume additional levels of risk. If economic and credit conditions do not improve, the Company 
may not be able to raise debt or equity finance on attractive terms, or at all, and it may need to 
seek further financing from alternative sources. Alternative financing may also be on 
unfavourable terms. As a result, the Company’s business, results of operations, financial 
condition and prospects could be materially adversely affected. 

Exploration and Development involves a high degree of risk 

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree of risk and few properties which 
are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines.  There is no assurance that the 
Company’s continuing mineral exploration and development activities will result in any 
discoveries of bodies of commercial ore.  The long-term profitability of the Company’s 
operations will be in part directly related to the cost and success of its exploration and 
development programs, which may be adversely affected by a number of factors. 

Substantial expenditures are required to establish mineral reserves through drilling, to evaluate 
metallurgical processes to extract metal from ore and to develop the mining and processing 
facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining.  Although substantial benefits may be 
derived from the discovery of a major mineralized deposit, no assurance can be given that 
minerals will be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that the 
funds required for development can be obtained on a timely basis. 

The marketability of any minerals acquired or discovered may be affected by numerous factors 
which are beyond the Company’s control and which cannot be accurately predicted, such as 
market fluctuations, the proximity and capacity of milling facilities, mineral markets and 
processing equipment, and such other factors as government regulations, including regulations 
relating to royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting minerals and environmental 
protection. 
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The Company is exposed to currency fluctuations that could have a material adverse 
impact on results 

Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the costs that the Company incurs in its operations. The 
Company’s costs are incurred principally in United States dollars and Canadian dollars. The 
appreciation of United States or Canadian dollar currencies can increase the cost of exploration 
and capital expenditures. If there is an appreciation in the value of the U.S. currency against the 
Canadian dollar or prolonged periods of exchange rate volatility, these changes may have a 
material adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations. 

The Company’s business and growth prospects may be negatively impacted by 
reductions in its capital expenditure program 

The Company requires substantial capital to invest in mineral projects and to maintain and 
prolong the life and capacity of properties in which it has an interest. The Company may reduce 
its capital expenditure in light of various considerations such as expected global demand for 
products, the level of commodity pricing and the Company’s resources, which may negatively 
impact the timing of the Company’s growth and future prospects. If commodity markets improve, 
the Company’s ability to take advantage of that improvement may be constrained by earlier 
capital expenditure restrictions and the long term value of its business could be adversely 
impacted. The Company’s position in relation to its competitors may also deteriorate. 
Competitors may have sufficient funds or access to capital and be better positioned to respond 
quickly to changes in commodity prices or market conditions generally. The Company may also 
need to address commercial and political issues in relation to its reductions in capital 
expenditure in certain of the jurisdictions in which it operates. If the Company’s interest in its 
joint ventures is diluted or it loses key concessions or if it is prevented from reducing capital 
expenditure commitments in the relevant jurisdiction, its growth could be constrained. Any of the 
foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of 
operations, financial condition and prospects. 

Title to mineral properties can be uncertain, and the Company may risk loss of 
ownership of one or more of its properties  

The Company’s ability to explore and operate properties depends on the validity of title to that 
property. Some of the Company’s properties in the United States consist of leases of 
unpatented mining claims, and unpatented mining and millsite claims. Unpatented mining claims 
provide only possessory title and their validity is often subject to contest by third parties or the 
federal government, which makes the validity of unpatented mining claims uncertain and 
generally more risky. These uncertainties relate to such things as the sufficiency of mineral 
discovery, proper posting and marking of boundaries, assessment work and possible conflicts 
with other claims not determinable from descriptions of record. Since a substantial portion of all 
mineral exploration and development in the United States occurs on unpatented mining claims, 
this uncertainty is inherent in the mining industry. The Company has not obtained a title opinion 
on all its United States property interests with the attendant risk that title to some claims, 
particularly title to undeveloped property, may be defective. There may be valid challenges to 
the title to any property which, if successful, could impair development or operations. The 
Company remains at risk that the mining claims may be forfeited either to the United States, or 
to rival private claimants due to failure to comply with statutory requirements as to location and 
maintenance of the claims or challenges to whether a discovery of a valuable mineral exists on 
every claim. 
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The Company’s operations are resource intensive and changes in the cost or 
interruptions in the supply of key inputs could adversely affect their economic viability 

The Company’s operations are resource intensive and, as a result, its costs may be adversely 
affected by the availability or cost of energy, water, fuel or other key inputs. If carbon trading 
schemes or carbon taxes begin to apply to the Company’s operations or if the Company 
experiences interruptions in, or constraints on, its supply of energy, water, fuel or other key 
inputs, the Company’s costs could increase and its results could be materially adversely 
affected.  

The Company is dependent on the continued services of key personnel 

The Company’s ability to maintain its competitive position and to implement its business 
strategy is dependent on the services of its personnel, including key managerial, financial and 
commercial personnel and the maintenance of good labour relations. The loss or diminution in 
the services of such key personnel, an inability to attract and retain additional staff, or the lack of 
a competitive remuneration structure, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

The Company’s mining operations are vulnerable to natural disasters 

The Company’s business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including 
adverse environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, unusual or unexpected 
geological conditions, ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment 
and natural phenomena, such as inclement weather conditions, floods, hurricanes and 
earthquakes. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties or production 
facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage to the Company’s properties or the 
properties of others, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. Although the 
Company maintains insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it considers to 
be reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with the Company’s 
operations. The Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at 
economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may 
not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as loss 
of title to mineral property, environmental pollution, or other hazards as a result of exploration 
and production is not generally available to the Company or to other companies in the mining 
industry on acceptable terms. The Company might also become subject to liability for pollution 
or other hazards which may not be insured against or which the Company may elect not to 
insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may 
cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its 
financial performance and results of operations. 

Joint ventures may not be successful and non-managed projects and operations may not 
comply with the Company’s standards 

The Company may participate in joint venture arrangements in the future. Although the 
Company has, in relation to its existing joint ventures, sought to protect its interests, joint 
ventures necessarily involve special risks. Whether or not the Company holds majority interests 
or maintains operational control in its joint ventures, its partners may have economic or 
business interests or goals that are inconsistent with or opposed to those of the Company, 
exercise veto rights so as to block actions that the Company believes to be in its or the joint 
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venture’s best interests, take action contrary to the Company’s policies or objectives with 
respect to its investments, or as a result of financial or other difficulties, be unable or unwilling to 
fulfil their obligations under the joint venture or other agreements, such as contributing capital to 
expansion or maintenance projects. Where projects and operations are controlled and managed 
by the Company’s partners, the Company may provide expertise and advice, but it has limited 
control with respect to compliance with its standards and objectives. Improper management or 
ineffective policies, procedures or controls could adversely affect the value of the related non-
managed projects and operations and, by association, damage the Company’s reputation and 
thereby harm the Company’s other operations and access to new assets. 

Health, safety, environmental and other regulations, standards and expectations evolve 
over time and unforeseen changes could have an adverse effect on the Company’s 
earnings and cash flows 

The Company operates in an industry that is subject to numerous health, safety and 
environmental laws, regulations and standards as well as community and stakeholder 
expectations. The Company is subject to extensive governmental regulations. Operations are 
subject to general and specific regulations governing mineral exploration, mining, land tenure 
and use, environmental requirements (including site specific environmental licences, permits 
and statutory authorisations) and workplace health and safety. Evolving regulatory standards 
and expectations can result in increased litigation or increased costs, all of which can have a 
material and adverse effect on earnings and cash flows. 

Permitting of exploration and development 

The Company’s operations in the United States are subject to receiving and maintaining permits 
from appropriate governmental authorities. Although the Company’s operations currently have 
all required permits for their operations as currently conducted, there is no assurance that 
delays will not occur in connection with obtaining all necessary renewals of such permits for the 
existing operations, additional permits for any possible future changes to operations, or 
additional permits associated with new legislation. Prior to any development on any of its 
properties, the Company must receive permits from appropriate governmental authorities. There 
can be no assurance that the Company will continue to hold all permits necessary to develop or 
continue operating at any particular property. 

Legislation has been proposed that would significantly affect the mining industry 

Periodically, members of the US Congress have introduced bills which would supplant or alter 
the provisions of the General Mining Law of 1872, which governs the unpatented claims that we 
hold on our properties in the United States. One such amendment has become law and has 
imposed a moratorium on patenting of mining claims, which reduced the security of title 
provided by unpatented claims such as those on our United States properties. If additional 
legislation is enacted, it could substantially increase the cost of holding unpatented mining 
claims by requiring payment of royalties, and could significantly impair the Company’s ability to 
develop mineral resources on unpatented mining claims. Such bills have proposed, among 
other things, to make permanent the patent moratorium, to impose a federal royalty on 
production from unpatented mining claims and to declare certain lands as unsuitable for mining. 
Although it is impossible to predict at this time what royalties may be imposed in the future, the 
imposition of such royalties could adversely affect the potential for development of such mining 
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claims, and the economics of existing operating mines on federal unpatented mining claims. 
Passage of such legislation could adversely affect the Company’s business. 

Competition from other mining companies may harm our business 

The Company competes with other mining companies to attract and retain key executives, 
skilled labour, contractors and other employees. It also competes for the services of skilled 
personnel and contractors and for specialized equipment, components and supplies, such as 
drill equipment, necessary for exploration and development and for rights to mine properties 
containing gold and other minerals. Many of these companies have greater financial resources, 
operational experience and technical capabilities than the Company. As a result of this 
competition, the Company may be unable to maintain or acquire attractive mining properties on 
terms it considers acceptable or at all. Consequently, the Company’s revenues, operations and 
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. The Company may be unable to 
continue to attract and retain skilled and experienced employees, to obtain the services of 
skilled personnel and contractors or specialized equipment or supplies, or to acquire additional 
rights to mine properties. 

The Company will require significant additional capital to continue exploration activities, 
and, if warranted, to develop mining operations 

Substantial expenditures will be required to determine if proven and probable reserves exist at 
any of the properties in which the Company has an interest, to develop metallurgical processes 
to extract metal or develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at the 
Company’s existing or newly-acquired properties. The Company will be required to expend 
significant amounts for geological and geochemical analysis, assaying, and, if warranted, 
feasibility studies with regard to the results of our exploration. The Company may not benefit 
from these investments if it is unable to identify commercially exploitable mineralized material. If 
it is successful in identifying reserves, it will require significant additional capital to construct a 
mill and other facilities necessary to extract those reserves. The Company’s ability to obtain 
necessary funding, in turn, depends upon a number of factors, including the status of the 
national and worldwide economy and the price of gold. The Company may not be successful in 
obtaining the required financing for these or other purposes on terms that are favourable or at 
all, in which case, the Company’s ability to continue operating would be adversely affected. 
Failure to obtain such additional financing could result in delay or indefinite postponement of 
further exploration and the possible, partial or total loss of the Company’s potential interest in 
certain properties. The mining, processing, development and exploration of the Company’s 
properties, may require substantial additional financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing 
may result in delaying or indefinite postponement of exploration or development on any or all of 
the Company’s properties or even a loss of property interest. There can be no assurance that 
additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the 
terms of such financing will be favourable to the Company. 

Inadequate infrastructure may affect the Company’s operations 

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, 
on adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are 
important determinants, which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather 
phenomena, sabotage, community, government or other interference in the maintenance or 
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provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect the Company’s operations, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Foreign operations pose additional risks of operation 

The Company’s operations are currently conducted in the United States, and as such the 
Company’s operations are exposed to various levels of political, economic and other risks and 
uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, terrorism; 
expropriation; fluctuations in currency exchange rates; inflation; renegotiation or nullification of 
existing concessions, licenses, permits and contracts; changes in taxation policies; restrictions 
on foreign exchange and repatriation; and changing political conditions, currency controls and 
governmental regulations that favour or require the awarding of contracts to local contractors or 
require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies from, the United States. 
Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in the United States 
may adversely affect the Company’s operations. Operations may be affected in varying degrees 
by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, price 
controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, expropriation of property, foreign 
investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims, water use 
and mine safety. Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices 
relating to mineral right applications and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation 
of entitlements, or the imposition of additional local or foreign parties as joint venture partners 
with carried or other interests. The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties cannot 
be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the Company’s operations. 

The feasibility of mining any property has not been established and the Company has not 
completed exploration or other work necessary to determine if it is commercially feasible 
to develop any property  

The Company is currently an exploration stage company. It has no proven or probable mineral 
reserves on its properties. There are no assurances that we will be able to establish any mineral 
reserves on our properties. The mineralized material identified on our Rattlesnake Hills Property 
does not and may not have demonstrated economic viability. Substantial expenditures are 
required to establish mineral reserves through drilling and there is no assurance that mineral 
reserves will be established. The feasibility of mining on our properties has not been, and may 
never be, established. Whether a mineral deposit can be commercially viable depends upon a 
number of factors, including the particular attributes of the deposit, including size, grade and 
proximity to infrastructure; metal prices, which can be highly variable; and government 
regulations, including environmental and reclamation obligations. If we are unable to establish 
some or all of our mineralized material as proven or probable mineral reserves in sufficient 
quantities to justify commercial operations, we may not be able to raise sufficient capital to 
develop a mine, even if one is warranted. If we are unable to establish such mineral reserves, 
the market value of our securities may decline. 

The Company has incurred substantial losses and may never be profitable 

Since inception, the Company has not been profitable. To become profitable, the Company 
must identify additional mineralization and establish reserves on the properties, and then either 
develop the properties or locate and enter into agreements with third party operators. It could be 
years before the Company receives any revenues from gold production, if ever. The Company 
may suffer significant additional losses in the future and may never be profitable. The Company 
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does not expect to receive revenue from operations in the foreseeable future, if at all. Even if 
the Company does achieve profitability, it may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on 
a quarterly or annual basis. 
 

18. Promoters  

There is no person or company that has been, within the two most recently completed financial 
years or during the current financial year, a promoter of the Company or a subsidiary of the 
Company, as such term is defined in the Securities Act. 
 

19. Legal Proceedings 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no legal proceedings that the Company is or 
was a party to, or that any of its property is or was the subject of, during the Company’s most 
recently completed financial year. 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no (a) penalties or sanctions imposed 
against the Company by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority during the Company’s most recently completed financial year, (b) other penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision, or (c) 
settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to securities legislation 
or with a securities regulatory authority during the Company’s most recently completed financial 
year. 
 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

During the three most recently completed financial years ended March 31, 2011, 2012 and 
2013, and the subsequent period to the date of this listing statement, no director, executive 
officer or 10% shareholder of the Company or any associate or affiliate of any such person or 
company, has or had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction that has 
materially affected or will materially affect the Company or its subsidiaries, except as may be 
disclosed in this document. 

 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

The Registrar and Transfer Agents for the Company are: 

Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
2nd Floor, 510 Burrard Street 
Vancouver, B.C.  V6C 3B9 

Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
100 University Ave, 9th Floor 
Toronto, ON  M5J 2Y1 
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22. Material Contracts 

The following are material contracts of the Company within the last two years: 

(a) On June 24, 2011, the Company entered into the Rattlesnake JV Agreement with 
Agnico-Eagle with respect to the Rattlesnake Hills Property.  As announced by the 
Company on June 6, 2012, the Rattlesnake JV Agreement terminated effective June 30, 
2012. 

(b) On March 17, 2014 the Company announced that it has entered into a definitive 
agreement with NV Gold Corporation to option its 100% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills 
Project. Under the Agreement, NVX may acquire Rattlesnake Hills by completing the 
following:  

 
• paying US$100,000 as a non-refundable deposit; 
• paying US$300,000 as a down payment to EVG US;  
•  within 3 business days following receipt of TSX Venture Exchange acceptance of 

the option agreement, delivering US$100,000 and issuing to the Company 1,000,000 
common share purchase warrants, each such warrant exercisable to acquire one 
common share of NVX at CDN$0.10 per share for 36 months from the date of issue; 

• On or before August 1, 2014 paying US$200,000; 
• On or before September 15, 2014, issuing 1,000,000 common share purchase 

warrants to the Company, each such warrant exercisable to acquire one common 
share of NVX at CDN$0.10 per share until September 15th, 2016; 

• On or before November 1, 2014, paying US$800,000; 
• On or before the first anniversary of TSXV acceptance of this option agreement, 

paying  
US$1,000,000 and 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants, each such warrant 
exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at CDN$0.10 per share for a 
period of 18 months from the date of issue; and 

• On or before the second anniversary of the date of this option agreement, paying 
$1,000,000 and issuing 1,000,000 common shares of NVX;  

 

(c) On April 28, 2014, the Company announced the amendment of management contracts. 
Bruce Duncan, CEO and Chuck Jenkins, CFO have agreed to forgive certain amounts 
owing and to amend their existing management agreements to remove bonus and 
RRSP contribution obligations, reduce change in control benefits to 6 months and 
reduce management fees to $7500 and $5000 per month respectively.  

 
23. Interest of Experts 

The following persons, firms and companies are named as having prepared or certified a report, 
valuation statement or opinion described or included in a filing, or referred to in a filing, made 
under National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations by the Company during, or 
relating to, its most recently completed financial year and whose profession or business gives 
authority to the report, valuation statement or opinion made by the person, firm or company: 
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Name Description 

BDO Canada LLP 
Chartered 
Accountants 

Independent Auditor, Auditors’ Report for years ended March 31, 
2011, 2012, and 2013 

Steven R. Koehler, 
B.Sc., C.P.G. 

Author, Technical Report dated February 1, 2012 in respect of the 
Rattlesnake Hills Property 

Steven R. Koehler, 
B.Sc., C.P.G. 

Author, Technical Report dated January 23, 2012 in respect of the 
Humboldt and Carlin Properties 

William J. Crowl, 
R.G., MMSA-QP 

Author, Technical Report dated June 19, 2012 in respect of the 
Jake Creek Property 

Jennifer J. Brown, 
P.G., SME-RM 

Author, Technical Report dated June 19, 2012 in respect of the 
Jake Creek Property 

David Turner, M.Sc. 
, PGeoscientist  

Author, Technical report dated December 13, 2012 in respect of 
the Rattlesnake Hills Property 

BDO Canada LLP has advised the Company that it is independent of the Company within the 
rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. 

Mr. Koehler was an employee of the Company acting as Chief Geologist at the time of preparing 
of the Humboldt and Carlin Technical Report and the Rattlesnake Hills Technical Report.   

To the Company’s knowledge, each of the aforementioned firms or persons held less than 1% 
of the outstanding securities of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company 
when they prepared the reports referred to above or following the preparation of such reports.   

Other than as disclosed herein, none of such experts and no director, officer or employee of 
such experts is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or 
employee of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company. 
 

24. Other Material Facts 
 
N/A 
 

25. Financial Statements  
 

 The financial statements of the Company are attached as schedule B for the following periods: 
 

• Audited financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Evolving Gold Corp., hereby 
applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on CNSX.  The foregoing contains full, 
true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to (full legal name of the Issuer). It 
contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is 
required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false 
or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia, this 22nd day of July, 2014. 

“R. Bruce Duncan” “Charles E. Jenkins” 

 

 

   
R. Bruce Duncan 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 

 Charles E. Jenkins 
Chief Financial Officer 

   

“Robert Horsley” 

 

 

 “William Majcher” 

Robert Horsley 
Director 

 William Majcher 
Director 
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Tel:  604 688 5421 
Fax:  604 688 5132 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP 
600 Cathedral Place 
925 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver BC V6C 3L2 Canada 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 
To the shareholders of Evolving Gold Corp. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Evolving Gold Corp. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, 
changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity's preparation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Evolving Gold Corp., 
and its subsidiaries as at March 31, 2014 and 2013 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company has incurred a 
net loss of $35,711,754 for the year ended March 31, 2014 and has an accumulated deficit of $69,886,256 since inception. These 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
(signed) “BDO CANADA LLP” 
 
Chartered Accountants 
June 30, 2014 
 

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 
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Note March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equiva lents 5 52,531$                 129,517$                

Ava i lable for sa le securi ties 6 14,031                   1,261,134               

GST receivable 21,346                   26,529                    

Other receivable 14,000                   94,661                    

Prepaid expenses 23,942                   105,362                  

125,850                 1,617,203               

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 50,581                   127,503                  

Exploration and eva luation assets 8 9,483,240              43,561,963             

Total Assets 9,659,671$            45,306,669$           

Liabilitites

Current Liabilities

Accounts  payable and accrued l iabi l i ties 16 1,484,039$            1,291,010$             

1,484,039              1,291,010               

Other Liabilities

Warrant l iabi l i ty 11 97,890                   421,330                  

Asset reti rement obl igation 10 686,273                 686,273                  

784,163                 1,107,603               

Shareholders' Equity

Share Capita l 11 75,471,732            75,331,448             

Reserves 11 1,805,993              8,875,576               

Defici t (69,886,256)           (41,298,968)           

Total Equity 7,391,469              42,908,056             

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 9,659,671$            45,306,669$           

Events subsequent to the period end 19

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BY:

"R. Bruce Duncan"

Director Director
The accompanying notes  form an integra l  part of these consol idated financia l  s tatements

"William Majcher"
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Note 2014 2013
Expenses

Accounting and audit 49,149$                  105,190$           
Depreciation 9 57,911                    85,465               
Bank charges and interest 6,174                       18,757               
Consulting 16 4,886                       94,392               
Directors fees 16 -                                98,960               
Legal 11,827                    448,468             
Management fees 16 327,522                  572,055             
Office, rent and salaries 274,486                  712,602             
Promotion and advertising -                                60,802               
Property Investigation costs -                                1,734                  
Share-based payments 12 54,883                    897,398             
Transfer agent and fi l ing fees 74,197                    103,040             
Travel 2,446                       205,528             

863,481                  3,404,391          
Other Items

Change in fair value of warrant l iabil ity 11 (473,358)                 (1,194,924)        
Write-down of mineral properties 8 34,555,515            11,085,765       
Write-down of available for sale securities 6 217,325                  2,352,100          
Loss on disposition of available for sale securities 6 550,458                  -                           
Gain on disposal of Equipment (8,991)                     -                           
Foreign Exchange 43,003                    131,492             
Interest and other income (35,679)                   (56,764)              

(35,711,754)$         (15,722,060)$    

18 (0.22)                        (0.11)                   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Comprehensive loss per basic and diluted share

Year ended March 31, 

Comprehensive loss for the year 
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Note
 Number of 

shares Amount Reserves Deficit

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity

Balance at March 31, 2012 139,013,445        72,258,755$        11,952,510$        (29,551,240)$       54,660,025$        

11 12,000,000          3,587,313             -                              -                              3,587,313             
Warrant l iabil ity valuation on Private placement 11 -                             (1,523,394)           -                              -                              (1,523,394)           

11 5,555,555            1,003,100             -                              -                              1,003,100             
11 20,000                  5,674                     -                              -                              5,674                     

Share-based payments 11 -                             -                              897,398                -                              897,398                
Warrants expired 11 -                             -                              (3,974,332)           3,974,332             -                              
Net loss for the period -                             -                              -                              (15,722,060)          (15,722,060)         

Balance at March 31, 2013 156,589,000        75,331,448$        8,875,576$          (41,298,968)$       42,908,056$        

11 6,000,000            289,260                -                              -                              289,260                
Warrant l iabil ity valuation on Private placement 11 -                             (149,918)               -                              -                              (149,918)               

11 20,000                  942                        -                              -                              942                        
Share-based payments 11 -                             -                              54,883                  -                              54,883                  
Adjustment to options reserve 11 -                             -                              (7,124,466)           7,124,466             -                              
Net loss for the period -                             -                              -                              (35,711,754)          (35,711,754)         

Balance at March 31, 2014 162,609,000        75,471,732$        1,805,993$          (69,886,256)$       7,391,469$          

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Shares issued for property payments

Share Capital

Shares issued in relation to a private placement

Shares issued in relation to a private placement

Shares issued for property payments

Shares issued in exchange for 1,176,470 shares of 
Pinetree Capital
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2014 2013

Operating Activities
Net loss for the period (35,711,754)$    (15,722,060)$    
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash
used in operating activities:
Share-based payments 54,883                897,398             
Amortization 57,911                85,465                
Change in fair value of warrant l iabil ity (473,358)            (1,194,924)         
Loss on disposition of available for sale securities 550,458             -                           
Write-down of available-for-sale secrities 217,325             2,352,100          
Gain on disposal of equipment (8,991)                 -                           
Interest accrued on letter of credit -                      (12,209)              
Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets 34,555,515        11,085,765        
Changes in assets and l iabil ities:
   Receivables 85,844                (25,385)              
   Prepaid expenses & other current assets 81,420                36,155                
   Accounts payable & accrued l iabil ities 193,029             457,084             
Cash used in operating activities (397,718)            (2,040,611)         

Financing activities: , ,          
Issuance of Common shares 139,342             2,063,919          
Issuance of warrants 149,918             1,523,394          
Cash provided by financing activities 289,260             3,587,313          

Investment activities:
Mineral property expenditures (575,850)            (8,812,932)         
Property payment 100,000             200,178             
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 28,002                -                           
Acquistion of property and equipment -                      (86,018)              
Refund of letter of credit -                      682,518             
Funds received from sale of available for sale securities 479,320             1,190,706          
Cash used in investment activities 31,472                (6,825,548)         

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (76,986)              (5,278,846)         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance 129,517             5,408,363          

Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance 52,531$             129,517$           

Supplemental cash flow information

2014 2013

Shares issued for property payments 942$                   5,674$                

Interest paid -$                    -$                    
Taxes paid -$                    -$                    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Year ended March 31, 

During the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the 
Company had non-cash transactions as follows:

Cash used in operating activities includes:
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION  

Evolving Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Evolving”) was incorporated as 6109527 Canada Ltd. on June 19, 2003, under the 
Canada Business Corporation Act and is in the business of acquiring, exploring and evaluating mineral properties.  On 
September 30, 2003, the Company changed its name to Evolving Gold Corp.  The Company is in the exploration stage and 
has interests in mineral properties located in the United States of America.  Effective December 7, 2010, the common 
shares of the Company were listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TMX”) and trade under the symbol EVG.  
 
The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at 1166 Alberni Street, Suite 605, 
Vancouver, BC, Canada, V6E 3Z3.   The Company’s registered address is Suite 1500, 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, 
BC V6E 4N7. 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  
a) Statement of Compliance  

These financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on June 27, 2014. 
 

b) Basis of Measurement 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets and derivative liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency, 
unless otherwise indicated.  The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to 
make certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment of complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled entities.  Details of 
controlled entities are as follows: 

 
  Percentage owned 
 incorporation 

Jurisdiction March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 
Evolving Gold Corporation (“Evolving US”) USA                100%   100% 
5210 Nunavut Ltd. Nunavut                100%   100% 
Exemplar Gold Corp. Canada                   100%                     100% 
Rattlesnake Mining Corporation Canada 100%                     100% 
Rattlesnake Mining Company (Wyoming) USA 100%                     100% 

 
Inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company 
transactions, are eliminated on consolidation. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

  
c) Nature of Operations  

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will be able to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of the business for the foreseeable future. As at 
March 31, 2014, the Company has incurred a net loss of $35,711,754 for the year ended March 31, 2014 and has an 
accumulated deficit of $69,886,256 since inception. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty 
which casts significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The continuing operations 
of the Company are dependent upon obtaining, in the short term, the necessary financing to meet the Company’s 
operating and mineral property commitments as they come due and to finance future exploration and development 
of potential business acquisitions, economically recoverable reserves, securing and maintaining title and beneficial 
interest in the properties and upon future profitable production. Failure to continue as a going concern would require 
that assets and liabilities be recorded at their liquidation values, which might differ significantly from their carrying 
values. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial statements 
unless otherwise indicated. 

a) Foreign Currency Transactions 

Foreign currency accounts are translated into United States dollars as follows: 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated 
into United States dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the year-end date, unsettled 
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into United States dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the 
year-end date and the related translation differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising 
on the retranslation of monetary available-for-sale financial assets are treated as a separate component of the 
change in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary available-for-sale 
financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial instrument 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into United States dollars by 
using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value or a revalued amount are translated into United States 
dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date the value is determined and the related translation differences 
are recognized in net income or other comprehensive loss consistent with where the gain or loss on the underlying 
non-monetary asset or liability has been recognized. 

b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, demand deposits with financial institutions and other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For cash flow statement presentation 
purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

c) Leased Assets 

Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the 
Company (a "finance lease"), the asset is treated as if it had been purchased outright. The amount initially recognized 
as an asset is the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments 
payable over the term of the lease. The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments are 
analyzed between capital and interest. The interest element is charged to the statement of comprehensive loss over 
the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital 
element reduces the balance owed to the lessor. 

Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are not transferred to the Company (an 
"operating lease"), the total rentals payable under the lease are charged to the statement of comprehensive loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of lease incentives is recognized as a reduction of the 
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 

d) Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Pre-exploration Costs 

Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures 
include such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and amortization 
on plant and equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they occur. 
 
The Company may occasionally enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Company will transfer part of a 
mineral interest as consideration for an agreement by the transferor to meet certain exploration and evaluation 
expenditures which would have otherwise been undertaken by the Company. The Company does not record any 
expenditures made by the farmee on its behalf. Any cash consideration received from the agreement is credited 
against the costs previously capitalized to the mineral interest given up by the Company, with any excess cash 
accounted for as a gain on disposal.   
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration and 
evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those exploration and 
evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of comprehensive 
loss/income.  
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the 
property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as ‘mines under construction’. Exploration 
and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties.   
As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection with exploration 
activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 

e) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Recognition and Measurement 

On initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are valued at cost, being the purchase price and directly 
attributable cost of acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Company, including appropriate borrowing costs and the 
estimated present value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding 
liability would be recognized within provisions. Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, less any accumulated impairment losses, with the exception of land which is not 
depreciated. When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss and is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
assets as follows: 

Office furniture and fixtures Straight line over 3 Years 

Computer equipment  Straight line over 3 Years 

Exploration vehicles Straight line over 5 Years 

Leasehold improvements Straight line over the term of the lease 

Computer software One year 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

f) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

Non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is 
written down accordingly. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out 
on the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent they reverse gains previously recognized in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income. 

g) Financial Instruments 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into one of the following categories based on the purpose for which the asset was 
acquired. All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.  The Company's 
accounting policy for each: category is as follows: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 

h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

Loans and Receivables 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a lender to a 
borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.  They are initially recognized at 
fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently carried at 
amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is calculated 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables 
are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 

Available-For-Sale Investments  

Non-derivative financial assets that do not meet the definition of loans and receivables are classified as available-for-
sale and comprise principally the Company's strategic investments in entities not qualifying as subsidiaries or 
associates. Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other 
comprehensive loss/income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale 
financial asset (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any 
amount previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income, is recognized in profit or loss.  If there is no 
quoted market price in an active market and fair value cannot be readily determined, available-for-sale investments 
are carried at cost. (Note 6)  

On sale or impairment, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive loss/income is reclassified from 
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income to profit or loss. 

Impairment on Financial Assets 

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and only if, 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the 
group of financial assets. 

Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities, based on the 
purpose for which the liability was incurred, and are initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument.  

The warrant liability is carried at fair value through profit or loss and reflects the estimated fair value in US dollars of 
the derivative liability associated with the underlying share purchase warrants which are denominated in Canadian 
dollars. 

Other financial liabilities comprise trade payables and accrued liabilities and are subsequently carried at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method.  This ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate 
on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial position. Interest expense in this context includes initial 
transaction costs and premiums payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is 
outstanding. 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
year which are unpaid. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 
i) Provisions 

Asset Retirement Obligation 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused by 
exploration and evaluation activities. The Company records the present value of the estimated future costs of legal 
and constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites in the year in which the obligation is incurred. 
The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the affected 
exploration sites.  

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and 
regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the 
carrying amount of the related exploration properties. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes 
in present value based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks.   

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions to the 
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the year in which they occur. 

Other Provisions 

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past transactions, 
including legal or constructive obligations.  The provision is measured at the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 

j) Income Taxes 

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net 
income except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive loss/income. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss 
for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.  Current income taxes 
are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax 
base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences 
arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted 
to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset 
can be utilized.  At the end of each reporting year the Company reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The 
Company recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

k) Share Capital 

Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the Company. Financial instruments 
issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial 
liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares are classified as equity instruments.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
l) Earnings / Loss Per Share 

Basic earnings/loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant year.  

Diluted earnings/loss per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares 
by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common 
shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted. 

m) Stock Based Payments 

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are 
taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, 
ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventually 
vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. As 
long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting conditions are 
satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or where a non-vesting 
condition is not satisfied.  Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the 
fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of 
comprehensive loss/income over the remaining vesting period. 

Where equity instruments are granted to employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the equity instrument 
granted at the grant date. The grant date fair value is recognized in comprehensive loss/income over the vesting 
period, described as the period during which all the vesting conditions are to be satisfied.   

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services 
received in the statement of comprehensive loss/income.  Options or warrants granted related to the issuance of 
shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital. 

When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, 
the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model. 

All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in stock option reserves, until exercised. Upon exercise, shares 
are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in stock option reserves is credited to share capital, adjusted for 
any consideration paid. 

Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting 
conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and 
recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the 
vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an 
equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured 
at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an expense. 

n) Changes in Accounting Policies 

New and revised standards adopted by the Company: 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated  Financial Instruments 

IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation requirements in IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and 
Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”) Interpretation 12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 
introduces a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective of the nature of the 
investee, and was adopted commencing April 1, 2013. The adoption of IFRS 10 did not have an impact on these 
consolidated financial statements. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
n)  Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

 In May 2011, the IASB issued guidance establishing principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint 
arrangement. IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. Under IFRS 11, joint arrangements are 
classified as joint operations or joint ventures based on the rights and obligations of the parties to the joint 
arrangements. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement (“joint operators”) have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement (“joint venturers”) have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. IFRS 11 requires that a joint 
operator recognize its portion of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of a joint arrangement, while a joint 
venturer recognizes its investment in a joint arrangement using the equity method. The adoption of this 
standard, commencing April 1, 2013, did not have an impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

• IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities 

 IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature 
of, and risks associated with, its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. The disclosure requirements are applicable to all forms of 
interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured 
entities. The adoption of this standard, commencing April 1, 2013, did not result in additional disclosures to 
what the Company has already been providing in regards to its interests in other entities. 

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  

 IFRS 13 aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a 
single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, 
which are largely aligned between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but 
provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards 
within IFRSs or US GAAP. The adoption of this standard, commencing April 1, 2013, did not have an impact on 
these consolidated financial statements. 

• IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements  

 IAS 27 was amended as a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 10, 11 and 12. IAS 27 sets the standards for 
investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates when an entity elects, or is required, to 
present separate non-consolidated financial statements. The adoption of this new standard, commencing April 
1, 2013, did not have an impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

• IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  

 IAS 28 was amended as a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 10, 11 and 12. IAS 28 provides additional 
guidance for investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method 
when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures. The adoption of this new standard, 
commencing April 1, 2013, did not have an impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

• IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 

In IFRIC 20, the IFRS Interpretations Committee sets out principles for the recognition of production stripping 
costs in the balance sheet. The interpretation recognizes that some production stripping in surface mining 
activity will benefit production in future periods and sets out criteria for capitalizing such costs. The adoption of 
IFRIC 20, commencing April 1, 2013, did not have an impact on these consolidated financial statements.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
n)  Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 

 Changes to accounting standards not yet effective 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement  

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments and is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company 
is currently evaluating the impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

• IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets 

IFRS 36 was amended by recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets. The amendments apply 
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The change in accounting standard will 
not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, actual experience may differ 
from these estimates and assumptions. 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive income in the 
year of the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year of the change and future years, if the change affects 
both. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements within the next financial 
year are discussed below: 

i) Rehabilitation Provisions 

Rehabilitation provisions have been created based on the Company’s internal estimates. Assumptions, based on the 
current economic environment, have been made which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to 
estimate the future liability. These estimates take into account any material changes to the assumptions that occur 
when reviewed regularly by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on current regulatory 
requirements. Significant changes in estimates of contamination, restoration standards and techniques will result in 
changes to provisions from year to year. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future market prices for 
the rehabilitation costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the rehabilitation costs are actually 
incurred.  The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions may be higher or lower than currently 
provided for. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

ii) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment in 
determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on 
assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the profit or loss in the year the new information 
becomes available. 

iii) Title to Mineral Property Interests 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers 
and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

iv) Income Taxes 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s current 
understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Company records 
its best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. 
Management believes they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final 
outcome may result in a materially different outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities. In addition, the 
Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference can be utilized.  This is deemed to be 
the case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the 
same taxable entity which are expected to reverse in the same year as the expected reversal of the deductible 
temporary difference, or in years into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or 
forward. However, utilization of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests 
at the time the losses are recouped. 

v) Share-based Payment Transactions and Derivative Liabilities related to Equities 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the 
grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the 
expected life of the stock option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.   Similar 
methodology is used to determine the fair value of derivative liabilities related to warrants denominated in Canadian 
dollars. 

vi) Impairment of mineral interests, property, plant and equipment 

Impairment testing is done at the cash generating unit level and judgment is involved in assessing whether there is 
any indication that an asset or cash generating unit may be impaired. This assessment is made based on an analysis 
of, amongst other factors, changes in the market or business environment, events that have transpired that have 
impacted the asset or cash generating unit, and information from internal reporting. 

vii) Impairment of AFS Securities 

The determination of whether an investment is impaired requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the 
company evaluates, amongst other things, the duration and extent to which the fair value of the investment is less 
than its original cost at each reporting period. 
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at banks and on hand earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. As at March 31, 2014, cash and 
cash equivalents consisted of $52,531 (2013: $129,517) held in commercial deposit accounts with a Canadian Chartered 
Bank.   

6. AVAILABLE FOR SALE SECURITIES 

Available for sale securities consist of investments in the common shares of Prosperity Goldfields Corp., NV Gold Corp and 
Pinetree Capital Corp. and therefore have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. The fair value of the listed available-for-
sale securities has been determined directly by reference to published price quotations in an active market: 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company recorded a loss on sale of available for sale securities of $767,783 (2013 - 
$nil). 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company recorded an write-down of $217,325 (2013: $2,352,100) attributable to 
the change in fair value of available for sale securities. 

7. PRIOR PERIOD RECLASSIFICATION 
 

On February 7, 2013, the Company announced, subject to shareholder and regulatory approval, a Plan of Arrangement 
(the “Arrangement”) whereby the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Evolving US, would transfer its Rattlesnake mineral 
property to a newly incorporated US company named Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Company (“Rattlesnake Wyoming”) 
As a result, the property was accounted for as discontinued operations and classified in the consolidated financial 
statements as an Asset Held for Sale.  During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company determined that it would be 
unable to proceed with the Arrangement. 
 
As a result, due to the Rattlesnake mineral property being held in a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, the financial 
statements of the prior year have been amended in order to include the Rattlesnake property previously classified as 
“Assets Held for Sale” on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in the amount of $12,056,318 as at March 31, 
2013 as a component of the Exploration and Evaluation assets on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 
March 31, 2013.  (Note 8)  

 

 

 Fair Value (US$) 

 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 
Prosperity Goldfields Corp   
   

March 2014- 408,504 shares; March 2013 – 4,008,704 shares $14,031 $535,153 
   

NV Gold Corp   
   

March 2014 - nil shares; March 2013- 829,500 shares - 32,593 
   

Pinetree Capital Corp   
   

March 2014- nil shares; March 2013- 1,176,470 shares  - 693,388 
   

 $14,031 $1,261,134 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

     

 

   
 

Carlin Humboldt Jake Creek Malone Rattlesnake 
 

March 31, 2014 
 Acquisition costs 

    
 

   Opening  Balance     2,553,789              2,533,445                             -                         -  2,978,952 $ 8,066,186  
 Additions     43,804                   26,853                  47,123                         -  - 

 
                     117,780    

Write down of mineral properties -          (2,560,298) - - -                (2,560,298)  

 
2,597,593                           -                   47,123                         -  2,978,952 

 
                  5,623,668    

     
 

   Deferred exploration costs 
    

 
   Opening balance   18,634,195              3,746,829              2,393,125             863,716  8,505,366 
 

34,143,231  
 Assays and reports      7,612                             -                             -                         -  - 

 
                          7,612  

 Drilling     5,020                             -                            -                         -  - 
 

                      5,020  
 Field expenses        86,433                             -                             -                         -  321,881 

 
                     408,314  

 Geological consulting     198,116                             -                            -                    -  - 
 

                   198,116  
 Geophysical and geological studies      695                             -                            -                         -  - 

 
                              695  

 Staking, recording and land maintenance      51,550                             -                            -                         -  - 
 

                    51,550    

 
  18,983,621              3,746,829              2,393,125             863,716  8,827,247 

 
34,814,538    

     
 

   
     

 
   Reclamation bonds        167,978                             -                             -                         -  286,000 
 

                     453,978  
 

Asset retirement obligation       320,273  
                         

50,000                   30,000                         -  286,000 
 

                     686,273  
 

Write-down of mineral properties 
             

(16,552,099)           (3,796,829) 
                          

(1,235,124)           (863,716)  (9,547,449) 
 

                (31,995,217) 
 Property payment            -                             -                             -                         -  (100,000) 

 
(100,000) 

 

 
(16,063,848)                (3,746,829)                  (1,205,124)  

                      
(863,716)  

 
(9,075,449) 

 
                 (30,954,966) 

 
     

 
   

 
$     5,517,366   $                       -   $         1,235,124   $                    -  2,730,750 $ 9,483,240                 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

         
 

Carlin Humboldt Jake Creek Malone Rattlesnake 
 

March 31, 2013 
          Acquisition costs 

        Opening  Balance  $       1,787,741   $         2,157,915   $                        -   $                    -  $              3,179,130  $                 7,124,786  
 Additions     766,048                 375,530                             -                         -                               -                      1,141,578    

 
    2,553,789              2,533,445                             -                         -                3,179,130                      8,266,364    

         Deferred exploration costs 
        Opening balance    12,461,577              3,016,373              2,087,931             848,318  19,215,161  

 
                37,629,360  

 Assays and reports      119,529                             -                             -                         -                               -  
 

                     119,529  
 Drilling     5,266,886                 573,455                   35,912                         -                      (6,771) 

 
                  5,869,482  

 Field expenses        195,938                   10,494                   12,471                 1,017                   132,226  
 

                     352,146  
 Geological consulting     467,527                   95,371                 121,035                 2,723                   124,304  

 
                     810,960  

 Geophysical and geological studies      51,186                   16,040                   30,656                         -                     51,200  
 

                     149,082  
 Staking and recording      71,552                   35,096                 105,120               11,658                     99,491                         322,917    

 
  18,634,195              3,746,829              2,393,125             863,716              19,615,611                    45,253,476    

                  Reclamation bonds        380,273                             -                             -                         -                   261,520  
 

                     641,793  
 Asset retirement obligation       320,273                   50,000                   30,000                         -                   286,000  

 
                     686,273  

 Write-down of mineral properties              -                             -                             -                         -          (11,085,765) 
 

           (11,085,765) 
 Property payment             -                             -                             -                         -                   (200,178) 

 
                (200,178) 

 
 

      700,546                   50,000                   30,000                         -             (10,738,423)                 (9,957,877) 
          

 
$     21,888,530   $         6,330,274   $         2,423,125   $        863,716   $     12,056,318                            $              43,561,963    
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Newmont Mineral Properties  
 
In September 2007, the Company signed a Letter of Intent to enter into an agreement with Newmont USA Limited, Newmont 
Capital Limited and Elko Land and Livestock Company (collectively “Newmont”) concerning an exploration partnership on the 
Carlin Property and sundry other mineral properties which have been released by the Company over the intervening years.   
 
In addition, the Company acquired the Humboldt Properties adjacent to the above mentioned Carlin properties as well as 
additional properties which fell within the Carlin Agreement boundary. 
 
A Mineral Lease, Sublease and Agreement which was signed effective November 28, 2007 continues to govern the Company’s 
interest in the Carlin mineral property.  Under the terms of this Agreement, Newmont would lease or sublease to the Company 
its interest in certain lands, unpatented mining claims and fee interests in these areas, subject to a back-in right in exchange for 
the Company:  
 

• Assume all of Newmont’s lease obligations insofar as they pertain to these project areas. 
• Incur US$3,500,000 in aggregate exploration expenditures (70% of exploration expenditures to be incurred for 

direct drilling) within the project area over five years. (Completed). 
• Reimburse Newmont for all payments and filings necessary to keep the properties in good standing. 
• Provide semi-annual reports to Newmont for each project area’s work program and costs incurred 
• After six years, in the event that US$750,000 was not incurred on exploration expenditures during the preceding 

lease year on any project area, Evolving would pay annual rental on each project area calculated at $10 per acre, 
escalating by 5% each year, for each project area so defined.  

• Pay a 3% to 5% sliding scale net smelter return royalty on production from the property less any underlying 
royalties with a minimum of 2% 

 
Newmont can elect to terminate the agreement and enter into one or more joint venture agreements with the Company 
covering all or a portion of each project area.  Newmont may earn a 51% interest in each joint venture property by expending 
on the property 200% of the exploration expenditures made by the Company from the date of the agreement to the date 
Newmont elects to exercise its joint venture option and may elect to earn an additional 19% interest in the joint venture 
property by expending on the property an additional 150% of the Company’s expenditures on the joint venture property.  If the 
Company decides to commence mineral production of the project area and Newmont elects not to exercise the joint venture 
option or elects not to complete its earn-in expenditures, Newmont would agree to sell its interest in the project area property 
to the Company. 
 
The Company has the right to provide sixty days written notice at any time to surrender the agreement as to all or any part of 
the property. 
 
If Evolving decides to commence mineral production of any project area and Newmont elects not to exercise the joint venture 
option or elects not to complete its earn-in expenditures Newmont would agree to sell its interest in the project area property 
to Evolving. 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 
Carlin Mineral Property 
 
Carlin comprises approximately 10,880 acres, made up of a combination of Federal lode claims that were staked or leased by 
the Company, fee surface and mineral rights acquired or leased by the Company, and earn-in rights to both fee surface and 
mineral rights, as well as lode claims on Federal lands, held by Newmont. 

On January 11, 2010, the Company signed a ten-year surface lease agreement for the lands described as the Carlin property in 
exchange for cash of $16,000 (paid) and $10,000 payable annually on January 11, 2011 and each year thereafter. Prior to 
commencement of commercial production the Company is obligated to purchase the area for $2,000 per applicable acre.  The 
agreement can be terminated by Evolving after thirty days written notice is provided and can be extended if certain conditions 
are met including providing compensation for surface area disturbance. 

On March 29, 2010, the Company signed a purchase and royalty reservation agreement for a 50% undivided fee interest in 
additional lands on the Carlin property in exchange for cash of $10,000, cash of $190,000 paid on completion and the issue of 
non-interest bearing promissory notes for $1,200,000 payable in annual $300,000 instalments commencing May 27, 2011. 
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company paid first instalment of $300,000 and in June 2012, the Company paid the 
second promissory note instalment of $300,000. 

On April 13, 2010 the Company signed an additional purchase agreement for a 100% undivided fee interest in additional 
adjacent lands in exchange for cash paid on signing of $10,000, cash of $290,000 paid on completion and the issue of 
promissory notes for $2,200,000 payable in annual $550,000 instalments, commencing August 10, 2011.  During the 2012 fiscal 
year, the Company re-negotiated the terms of the Carlin Property promissory note.  The note was revised to the following: 

- $2,200,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest rate shall be the Wall 
Street Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%.  Payments of $360,000 are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each 
year thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. 

In addition with respect to both the March 29, 2010 and the April 13, 2010 aforementioned agreements, the Company will be 
committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR royalty on production. 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company notified the vendors of the additional Carlin properties that it would be 
unable to comply with the payment obligations on their due dates and thus was released from any further obligation under this 
note. 

At March 31, 2014, the Company assessed the carrying amount of its Carlin property for indicators of impairment such as 
changes in (1) the period for which the entity cannot explore in the specific area or whether these rights have expired during 
the period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed and (2) whether substantive expenditure on 
further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned. An impairment 
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use (being the present value of the expected cash 
flows) of the relevant assets. In this particular case the recoverable amount is considered to be $5,517,366. 

As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $16,552,099 in the Comprehensive Statement of Loss for the year 
ended March 31, 2014 in respect of the Carlin property.  

  Humboldt Property 

On March 29, 2010, the Company signed a purchase and royalty reservation agreement for a 50% undivided fee interest in 
additional lands on the Humboldt property in exchange for cash paid of $15,000, cash of $285,000 paid on completion, and the 
issue of non-interest bearing promissory notes for $2,800,000 payable in annual $700,000 instalments, commencing May 27, 
2011. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company paid the first promissory note instalment of $700,000 and in June 
2012, the Company paid the second instalment of $700,000.  
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Humboldt Property (continued) 

At April 13, 2010 the Company also signed two other purchase agreements for a 100% undivided fee interest in additional 
adjacent lands in exchange for cash of $20,000 paid, cash of $480,000 paid on closing and the issue of non-interest bearing 
promissory notes for $1,800,000 and $3,200,000 payable in annual $450,000 and $800,000 instalments respectively, 
commencing August 10, 2011. In addition with respect to both the March 29, 2010 and the April 13, 2010 aforementioned 
Humboldt agreements, the Company will be committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR on production.   

During the 2012 fiscal year, the Company re-negotiated the terms of the Humboldt Property promissory notes.  The notes were 
revised to the following: 

1) $3,200,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest rate shall be the Wall 
Street Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%.  Payments of $523,000 are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each 
year thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. During 
the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company negotiated an extension of the $523,000 payment originally due 
February 10, 2013 to a new due date of May 27, 2013.    

 

2) $1,800,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest rate shall be the Wall 
Street Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%.  Payments of $295,000 are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each 
year thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. During 
the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company negotiated an extension of the $295,000 payment originally due 
February 10, 2013 to a new due date of May 27, 2013.    

During the ended March 31, 2014, the Company notified the vendors of the additional Humboldt properties that it would be unable 
to comply with the payment obligations on their due dates and was thus released from any further obligations under the promissory 
notes. 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company abandoned the claims in the Humboldt property and recorded an impairment 
charge of $6,357,127 in respect of the mineral expenditures deferred on this property.    

Carlin and Humboldt Properties  

 On October 26, 2009 the Company signed a mineral lease and property option agreement comprising sixty-two unpatented 
mining claims located in Elko County, Nevada, part of the Humboldt property. In addition on February 28, 2010 the Company 
signed a mineral lease and royalty buy down agreement comprising eight unpatented mining claims located adjacent to 
those Humboldt claims acquired in the aforementioned October 26, 2009 agreement.  

 Both agreements have a primary term of fifteen years and so long thereafter as exploration, development or mining is being 
conducted on the property but can be terminated at any time in whole or in part after the Company provides thirty days 
written notice.  Pursuant to the terms of these two agreements the Company is required to pay: 

 $ 25,000 (paid) 

Advance royalty payments: 

- $ 10,000 (paid) 
- $ 12,500 (paid)  
- $ 15,000 on October 26, 2011 (paid) 
- $ 17,500 on October 26, 2012 (paid) 
- $ 20,000 on October 26, 2013 (forgiven) 
- $ 25,000 on October 26, 2014 and 
- $25,000 consumer price index adjusted, to be paid annually on October 26, 2015 and each year thereafter for the duration 

of the lease 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Carlin and Humboldt Properties (continued)  

 
Advance royalty payments: 
- $ 10,000 on February 28, 2011 to 2015 (paid  $30,000) 
- $ 15,000 on February 28, 2016 to 2020  
- $ 20,000 on February 28, 2021 and  
- $ 20,000 consumer price index adjusted, to be paid annually on February 28, 2021 and each year thereafter for the 

duration of the lease  
 
Shares to be issued: 
- 50,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent) by October 26, 2014 
- 50,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent) by February 28, 2015 
- 200,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent), at commencement of production. 
 
Pay claim maintenance fees and filings to maintain the unpatented claims. 

The agreements are subject to a royalty of 2.775% to 3% of net smelter returns which the Company can, with respect to the 8 
unpatented claims, reduce to 2% with the payment of $1,000,000 for each 0.5% reduction. 

Pursuant to the terms of the October 26, 2009 Agreement, the Company has the right to acquire ownership of the 62 
unpatented claims (and royalty) in exchange for a cash payment of $4,000,000 subject to recoupment of any royalty payments 
made by the Company. 

On April 13, 2010, the Company signed a ten year surface lease agreement for the lands in exchange for cash of $42,503 on 
execution and on each anniversary thereafter if acreage is not decreased.  The Company will also pay a onetime payment of 
$1,500 for each drill site and $100 per acre per year for other surface disturbance if ranching and grazing is not possible.  One 
half of these lands have been allocated to each of the Carlin and Humboldt properties. During the ended March 31, 2014, the 
Company notified the Carlin property vendors that it would be unable to comply with the payment obligations on their due dates. The 
Company approached the vendors to discuss the renegotiation of the terms of the agreements, but ultimately decided not to hold the 
additional properties. 

On April 13, 2010 the Company signed two mineral lease agreements encompassing a total of 4,635.76 acres of additional lands 
in the Elko and Eureka counties in Nevada in exchange for cash paid for advance mineral royalties of $55,725.  One half of these 
lands have been allocated to each of the Carlin and Humboldt properties. 

Future royalties will be payable annually based on the amount of acreage utilized but will be at least $20,000.  The term of each 
lease is ten years which can be extended if certain conditions are achieved. 

Pursuant to the terms of both leases the Company can decrease the leased acreage or can otherwise terminate the lease after 
thirty days written notice is provided and has also been granted the right of first refusal to purchase either property.  The 
agreements are subject to a non-participating production royalty of 5% of net smelter returns. 

Malone Property 

In 2006, the Company entered into a quitclaim deed and royalty agreement with Newmont North America Exploration Ltd. 
whereby the Company was granted all rights, title, estate and interest in unpatented mineral claims in Lordsburg, New Mexico 
in exchange for $20,000. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company abandoned its rights under this agreement and recorded an impairment 
charge of $863,176. 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Jake Creek Property  

In December 2007, the Company increased its exploration activities in north-central Nevada and acquired additional claims 
near the Sheep Creeks area (the “Jake Creek property”). 

At March 31, 2014, the Company assessed the carrying amount of its Jake Creek property for indicators of impairment and 
determined that the carrying amount of the property exceeded its recoverable amount. As a result, the Company recorded an 
impairment charge of $1,235,124 in the Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the year ended March 31, 2014 in respect of the 
Jake Creek property.  

 

Rattlesnake Property  

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement (“NVX 
Agreement”) with NV Gold Corporation ("NVX") to option its 100% interest in the Rattlesnake property. Under the Agreement, 
NVX may acquire Rattlesnake Hills by paying and issuing the following: 

1. At signing $100,000 (Received);  
2. At signing, but payable at regulatory approval $300,000 (Received subsequent to March 31, 2014);  
3. At regulatory approval $100,000 and NVX issuing 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants, each such   
4. on or before August 1st, 2014 $200,000;  
5. on or before September 15th, 2014, 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants, each such warrant 
 exercisable to acquire one common share of NVX at CDN$0.10 per share until September 15th, 2016;  
6. on or before November 1st, 2014, $800,000;  
7. on or before the first anniversary of TSXV acceptance of this option agreement, $1,000,000 and 1,000,000 common  
8. On or before the second anniversary of the date of this option agreement, $1,000,000 and 1,000,000 common shares 
 of NVX; 

Upon NVX completing the total cash payments of $3,500,000, issuing 3,000,000 common share purchase warrants and issuing 
1,000,000 common shares, NVX shall have exercised its option and 100% interest in the property, subject to royalties, shall be 
transferred to NVX at that time.  

As a result of the terms included in the NVX agreement, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $9,547,449 in its 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the year ended March 31, 2014 (March 31, 2013: $11,110,245) in order to reduce the 
value of the Rattlesnake property to its recoverable amount.  
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9. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Office furniture 
and equipment 

 Computer 
equipment and 

software 
 Leasehold 

Improvements 
 Exploration 

Vehicles Total

Cost:
March 31, 2013 136,744              137,953              18,910               105,254             398,861               
Disposals (3,250)                  (22,336)               -                           (105,254)            (130,840)              

March 31, 2014 133,494              115,617              18,910               -                           268,021               

Depreciation
March 31, 2013 (119,055)             (87,586)               (5,682)                (59,035)              (271,358)              
Additions (4,974)                  (23,509)               (2,220)                (27,208)              (57,911)                
Disposal 3,250                   22,336                 -                           86,243               111,829               

March 31, 2014 (120,779)             (88,759)               (7,902)                -                           (217,440)              

Net Book Value
March 31, 2013 17,689$              50,367$              13,228$             46,219$             127,503$             
March 31, 2014 12,715$              26,858$              11,008$             -$                        50,581$               

 Office furniture 
and equipment 

 Computer 
equipment and 

software 
 Leasehold 

Improvements 
 Exploration 

Vehicles Total

Cost:
March 31, 2012 136,782              224,559              68,502               172,753             602,596               
Additions 11,872                 65,424                 8,722                  -                           86,018                  
Disposals (11,910)               (152,030)             (58,314)              (67,499)              (289,753)              

March 31, 2013 136,744              137,953              18,910               105,254             398,861               

Depreciation
March 31, 2012 (109,651)             (215,290)             (49,607)              (101,098)            (475,646)              
Additions (21,314)               (24,326)               (14,389)              (25,436)              (85,465)                
Disposal 11,910                 152,030              58,314               67,499               289,753               

March 31, 2013 (119,055)             (87,586)               (5,682)                (59,035)              (271,358)              

Net Book Value
March 31, 2012 27,131$              9,269$                 18,895$             71,655$             126,950$             
March 31, 2013 17,689$              50,367$              13,228$             46,219$             127,503$             
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10. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS   

The Company estimated the present value of its Rattlesnake Hills Mineral Property future reclamation obligation as 
legally required by the United States Federal and State Government permitting requirements.  The increase in the asset 
retirement obligation since March 31, 2009 results from an increase in exploration activity on various properties.  The 
Company fulfils its site restoration obligations as required when a drill site is abandoned, and accordingly no discounted 
present value was calculated due to the expected short term nature of the obligation.  Management will continue to 
assess asset retirement obligations as future exploration activity is undertaken.   

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company requested a re-evaluation of its asset retirement liability on the 
Rattlesnake property.  As a result of this re-evaluation, the Company increased its cash bond on Rattlesnake by $136,000 
to $286,000, the amount calculated by the State of Wyoming.  The letter of credit previously required to secure the 
obligation was cancelled November 5, 2012 resulting in a net increase of $11,000 in the asset retirement obligations of 
the Company.   

Due to the state of the capital markets, during the year ended March 31, 2014 the Company conducted limited work on 
its properties, mostly with respect to the care and maintenance of properties.  Accordingly, there were no changes to 
asset retirement obligations. 

The asset retirement obligations are as follows: 

  March 31, 2014  March 31, 2013 
     

Opening balance  $ 686,273 $ 485,000 
Additions   -  201,273 
 $ 686,273 $ 686,273 
     

 

11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

a) Common Shares  

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, issuable in series. The holders of 
common shares are entitled to receive dividends which are declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote 
per share at meetings of the Company.  All shares are ranked equally with regards to the Company's residual assets. 

The changes to share capital during the year ended March 31, 2014, are summarized in the Consolidated Statement 
of Shareholders’ Equity included in these financial statements. 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company completed the following transactions: 

• 6,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net proceeds of $289,260 
(Canadian $300,000).  Each Unit consisted of one common share and one common share purchase warrant, 
for a total of 6,000,000 warrants for which proceeds of $149,918 were allocated at their fair value 
determined by the Black Scholes pricing model using the following inputs: Exercise Price - CDN$0.08; Share 
price  - $CDN 0.05; expected life – 3.0 years; volatility – 90%; dividend yield – 0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles 
the holder thereof to acquire one common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.08 until August 23, 
2016.  
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• 11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 

a) Common Shares (continued) 

• 20,000 shares were issued with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for Prosperity Goldfields 
Corp., pursuant to the property agreement previously signed by the Company prior to the sale of Prosperity.  
The value attributed to these shares was $942 based on the quoted market price of the Company’s shares 
on the date of their issuance.  The Company received 25,313 additional Prosperity shares as repayment for 
this issuance (prior to the consolidation of Prosperity common shares). 

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company completed the following transactions: 

• 12,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net proceeds of $3,587,313.  
Each Unit consisted of one common share and one common share purchase warrant, for a total of 
12,000,000 warrants for which proceeds of $1,523,394 were allocated at their fair value determined by the 
Black Scholes pricing model using the following inputs: Exercise Price - CDN$0.40; Share price  - $CDN 0.30; 
expected life – 3.0 years; volatility – 85%; dividend yield – 0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof 
to acquire one common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.40 until August 13, 2015. In connection 
with the Offering, the Company also issued finder’s compensation warrants totaling 49,000 warrants having 
a fair value of $28,928 and recorded as a share issue cost. These compensation warrants are exercisable 
into one common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.30 until August 13, 2014. All securities issued in 
the Offering are subject to a four-month hold period ending December 14, 2012 in accordance with 
applicable Canadian securities laws.  

• 5,555,555 common shares were issued in consideration for the issuance of 1,176,470 common shares of 
Pinetree Capital at a price of $0.85 CAD cents per share based on the quoted market price of Pinetree 
Capital on the date of the transaction for a total of $1,003,100.  

• 20,000 shares were issued with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for Prosperity Goldfields 
Corp., pursuant to the property agreement previously signed by the Company prior to the sale of Prosperity.  
The value attributed to these shares was $5,674 based on the quoted market price of the Company’s shares 
on the date of their issuance.  The Company received 25,250 additional Prosperity shares as repayment for 
this issuance. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

b) Share Purchase Warrants  

The following is a summary of changes in warrants for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013: 

 March 31, 2014  March 31, 2013 

 

Number of 
warrants 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
(CDN $) 

 

Number of 
warrants 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 
(CDN $) 

Warrants outstanding, beginning of 
period   17,145,000  $ 0.51    5,145,000  $ 0.75 

Warrants issued   6,000,000        0.08    12,000,000        0.40 

Warrants exercised   -   -    -   - 

Warrants expired (5,145,000) 0.04  - - 

Warrants outstanding, end of period  18,000,000  $ 0.51   17,145,000  $ 0.51 

During the year ended March 31, 2014, in addition to the warrants above, the Company issued nil (2013 – 49,000) agent 
warrants exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of CDN $nil (2013 - $0.30).  

On January 21, 2013 the Company announced that it has received approval from Toronto Stock Exchange to extend the 
term of 5,145,000 warrants that were set to expire on February 23, 2013 to February 23, 2014 and to reduce the exercise 
price of the Warrants from $0.75 per share to $0.40 per share. These Warrants were originally issued on August 23, 2011 
as part of a private placement, and expired unexercised during the year ended March 31, 2014. 

As at March 31, 2014, the Company had total outstanding warrants, including Agent’s warrants, as follows: 

 
Number of 
warrants Exercise price Expiry 

Share purchase warrants 12,000,000 CDN$0.40 August 13, 2015 

 6,000,000 CDN$0.08 August 23, 2016 

Share purchase warrants, excluding agents warrants 18,000,000   

 49,000 CDN$0.30 August 13, 2014 

 18,049,000   
 

The Company re-measures the fair value of share purchase warrants granted to unit holders denominated in currencies 
other than that of the functional currency of the entity every reporting period using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. 

As at March 31, 2014, the fair value of these warrants was $97,890 (2013: $421,330). During the year ended March 31, 
2014, the Company granted 6,000,000 (2013: 12,000,000) share purchase warrants having a fair value of $149,918 (2013: 
$1,523,394) in connection with a private placement. The fair value of these warrants were measured using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: stock price: $CDN0.02, exercise price: $CDN 0.08, volatility: 
118%, risk-free discount rate: 1.07%, dividend rate: 0.0% (2013: $CDN0.28, exercise price: $CDN 0.40 - $CDN 0.75, 
volatility: 90-99%, risk-free discount rate: 4.20%, dividend rate: 0.0%). 

As a result, for the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company has recorded the change in fair value of its warrant liabilities 
in the statement of comprehensive loss totaling $473,358 (2013:$1,194,924).      
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11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

The warrant liabilities are summarized as follows: 

 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 
   

Balance, beginning of the year   $421,330 $92,860 
Additions  149,918 1,523,394 
Change in fair value  (473,358) (1,194,924) 
   

Balance, end  of the year    $97,890 $421,330 

 

c) Nature and Purpose of Reserves 
 
Reserves  
 
• Stock option reserve 

The stock option reserve records items recognized as stock-based compensation expense until such time 
that the stock options are exercised, at which time the corresponding amount will be transferred to share 
capital. If the options expire unexercised, the amount recorded is transferred to deficit. 

 
• Warrant reserves 

The warrant reserve records items recognized as the value of warrants issued with respect to financings and 
not classified as liabilities until such time as the warrants are exercised, at which time the corresponding 
amount will be transferred to share capital. The value of the warrants which eventually expire unexercised 
is reallocated to deficit upon their expiry.   

 
• Deficit 

Deficit is used to record the Company’s change in deficit from earnings and losses from period to period and 
to record the value of expired options and warrants that were originally accounted for as equity 
instruments. 

 
• Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) is used to record the unrecognized changes in fair value 
of the Company’s holdings of available for sale securities 

 

Reserves balances in the consolidated financial statements are comprised as follows: 

Warrants and Stock Options   

Balance, March 31, 2012  $ 11,952,510 

Share based payments  897,398 

Transfer of reserves related to expiry of warrants  (3,974,332) 

Balance, March 31, 2013 $ 8,875,576 

Share-based payments  54,883 

Transfer of reserves related to expiry of unexercised options   (7,124,466) 

Balance, March 31, 2014    $     1,805,993 
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12. STOCK BASED PAYMENTS 
The Company established a share purchase option plan (the “Plan”) in September 2004.  In September, 2007 shareholder 
approval was obtained to adopt a “rolling” stock option plan.  The Board of Directors administers the Plan, pursuant to 
which the Board of Directors may grant from time to time incentive stock options up to an aggregate maximum of 10% of 
the issued and outstanding shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees, consultants or advisors.  All options 
granted under the Plan shall expire not later than the tenth anniversary of the date the options were granted. The 
exercise price of an option is determined by the Board of Directors, but shall not be less than the market price of the 
common shares of the Company on the TSX on the last business day before the date on which the options are granted, 
less any discount permitted by the rules of the exchange.  Vesting and terms are at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors.  The vesting of options range from vested immediately, a vesting period of three months to a two year period 
from the date of the grant, at 25% and 20% respectively.  Options granted for Investor relations vest in accordance with 
TSX regulation.  The changes in options during the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2014 are as follows: 

Details of options outstanding as at March 31, 2014 are as follows: 

 

Expiry Date 
Exercise Price 

 (CDN$) Options Outstanding 

   

November 30, 2014 $1.25 255,000 

May 21, 2015 $0.92 350,000 
December 2, 2015 $1.14 105,000 
January 24, 2016 $0.97 500,000 
February 2, 2016 $0.94 600,000 
February 27, 2017 $0.37 1,345,000 
November 14, 2018 $0.17 85,500 
January 15, 2019 $0.35  100,000 
April 15, 2019 $0.35                50,000 
May 26, 2019 $0.42  350,000 
July 12, 2017 $0.32 2,550,000 
October 25, 2018 $0.05 2,700,000 
  8,990,500 

 

 

Number of 
options 

March  31, 
2014 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(CDN $) 

 

Number of 
options 

March 31, 
2013 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(CDN $) 
Options outstanding, beginning of 

period 10,349,000  $ 0.52  9,524,000  $ 0.84 

Options granted 2,900,000  $            0.05  3,175,000  $            0.32 

Options exercised -   -  -   - 

Options cancelled - -  (280,000) $             0.90 

Options expired (4,258,500)            $            0.48  (2,070,000)            $            0.83 

Options outstanding, end of period 8,990,500  $ 0.39  10,349,000  $ 0.52 

Options exercisable, end of period 7,190,500  $ 0.47  8,232,333  $ 0.57 
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12. STOCK BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
Fair Value of Options Issued During the Period 

2,900,000 options granted during the year ended March 31, 2014 (2013: 3,175,000 options granted).  The weighted 
average fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended March 31, 2014 was $0.04 (2013: $0.25). 

Options Issued to Employees 

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

Options Issued to Non-Employees 

Options issued to non-employees, are measured based on the fair value of the goods or services received, at the date of 
receiving those goods or services. If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, the 
options are measured by determining the fair value of the options granted, using a valuation model. 

The model inputs for options granted during the years ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013 included: 

 

 

 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 
   
Share  price on grant date  CDN $0.04 CDN $0.32 
Exercise price  CDN $0.05 CDN $0.32 
Risk-free interest rate  1.71% 4.20% 
Expected life (yrs.) 5  5 
Volatility  96.97% 103.8% 
Dividend rate  0% 0% 

 

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for 
any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

Expenses Arising from Share-based Payment Transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year ended March 31, 2014 as part 
of employee benefit expense were $54,883 (2013  - $897,398). 

Amounts Capitalized Arising from Share-based Payment transactions 

No amounts were capitalized during the year ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013. 
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13. INCOME TAXES 

The difference between tax expense for the year and the expected income taxes based on the statutory tax rate arises as 
follows: 

  March 31, 2014  March 31, 2013 
     

Loss before income taxes  $ (35,711,754) $ (15,722,060) 
     
Tax recovery based on the statutory rate of 26% (2013: 25%)  (9,285,000)  (3,931,000) 

Non-deductible expenses  (100,000)  - 

Foreign income taxed at other than Canadian statutory rate  (3,105,000)  (1,135,000) 

Impact of under-provision in previous year  320,000  (418,000) 

Non taxable portion of capital gains  103,000  - 

Other  (384,000)  293,000 

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets  12,451,000  5,191,000 
     

Income tax expense (recovery) $ - $ - 
 

Effective April 1, 2014, the Canadian Federal corporate tax rate is 15% and the BC provincial tax rate is increased to 11%. 
The US tax rate remains unchanged at 35% 
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13. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)  

Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities, after applying enacted corporate tax 
rates, are as follows: 

  March 31, 2014  March 31, 2013 
     
Share Issue costs  $ 25,000 $ 71,000 

Accounts receivable  1,292,000  - 

Marketable securities  141,000  58,000 

Equipment  63,000  87,000 

Mineral properties and related deferred exploration  2,288,000  684,000 

Asset retirement obligation  100,000  240,000 

Non – capital losses carried forward  19,654,000  12,478,000 

Capital losses   102,000  - 

  23,665,000  13,618,000 

Unrecognized deferred tax asset  (23,665,000)  (11,214,000) 

Deferred tax asset  -  2,404,000 

Mineral properties and related deferred exploration   -  (2,404,000) 

Offset against deferred tax assets     2,404,000 

Deferred tax liability  $ - $ - 

     

The Company has only recognized deferred income tax assets to the extent to which it is probable that sufficient taxable 
income will be realized, or taxable temporary differences will reverse, during the carry-forward periods to utilize the 
deferred tax assets. 

As at March 31, 2014, the Company had accumulated non-capital losses totaling approximately $13,595,000 in Canada 
expiring in various amounts from 2015 to 2034, and $46,053,000 in the US expiring in various amounts from 2028 to 2034 
that may be applied against future year’s taxable income in Canada and US. 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The company is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks: 

• Market Risk 

• Credit Risk 

• Liquidity Risk 

In common with all other businesses, the company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This 
note describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to 
measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial 
statements. 

There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, polices 
and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous years unless otherwise 
stated in the note. 

General Objectives, Policies and Processes: 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk management objectives and 
policies and, while retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating 
processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Company’s finance function.  

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the 
Company’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below. 

• Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market prices are comprised of four types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, 
commodity price risk and equity price risk.  

• Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and US dollar or other 
foreign currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial results.  The Company has significant exposure 
to foreign exchange rate fluctuation. The Company is exposed to currency risk to the extent that monetary assets and 
liabilities held by the Company are not denominated in US dollars. The Company has not entered into any foreign 
currency contracts to mitigate this risk. The Company holds balances in Canadian dollars which could give rise to 
exposure to foreign exchange risk.  Sensitivity to a plus or minus 10% change in the foreign exchange rate of the US 
dollar to the Canadian dollar would affect the reported loss and comprehensive loss by approximately $141,748 
(March 31, 2013: $9,964) as detailed below:    

 

Canadian Dollar Denominated Balances 
March 31,  

2014 
March 31, 

 2013 

Cash          52,531           129,517  

Available for sale securities       14,031        1,261,134  

Accounts payable    (1,484,039)    (1,291,010) 

 

(1,417,477) 99,641 

10% change in exchange rate impact  $       141,748   $            9,964  
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

• Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. Financial instruments which are potentially subject to credit risk for the Company 
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with financial institutions of 
reputable credit and may be redeemed upon demand.  

• The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Company has gross credit 
exposure at March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013 relating to cash and cash equivalents of $52,531 and $129,517 
respectively.  All cash and cash equivalents are held in deposits at a Canadian chartered bank. The Company considers 
this credit risk to be minimal for all cash and cash equivalent assets based on changes that are reasonably possible at 
the reporting date 

• Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The 
Company’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when they 
become due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Company’s reputation. The key to success in managing liquidity is the degree of certainty in the cash flow 
projections. If future cash flows are fairly uncertain, the liquidity risk increases. 

Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses. To 
achieve this objective, the Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and 
updated as considered necessary.  Further, the Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on exploration 
projects to further manage expenditure.   

The Company monitors its risk of shortage of funds by monitoring the maturity dates of existing trade and other 
accounts payable.  

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash flows) of financial 
liabilities: 

 

 

 

 

 

Determination of Fair Value: 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When 
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to 
that asset or liability. 

The Statement of Financial Position carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and trade and other 
payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. Due to the use of subjective judgments and uncertainties 
in the determination of fair values these values should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement 
of the financial instruments. 

Fair Value Hierarchy: 

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped in Levels 1 to 3 based 
on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

Accounts payable and other 
liabilities 

Up to 3 
months 

Between 3 
and 12 
months 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

March 31, 2014  $    1,484,039   $                 -   $                 -   $              -   $    1,484,039 

March 31, 2013  $    1,291,010   $                 -   $                 -   $              -   $    1,291,010 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Hierarchy (continued) 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities; and  

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and  

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The available-for-sale securities are based on quoted prices and are therefore considered to be Level 1. 

The fair value of the warrant liabilities are determined with the use of a fair value pricing model and are determined to be 
Level 3 liabilities. 

15. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The company monitors its cash, common shares, warrants and stock options as capital. The Company’s objectives when 
maintaining capital are to maintain sufficient capital base in order to meet its short-term obligations and at the same 
time preserve investor’s confidence required to sustain future development and production of the business.  

The company is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements nor were there any changes in the 
Company’s capital management processes during the year. 

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Key Management Compensation 

Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of an 
entity, and include executive and non-executive directors. Payments to key management are recorded as 
management, consulting and directors’ fees. During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company incurred 
share-based payment charges for its key management totaling $40,696 (2013: $650,204).  

In addition, the following related key management compensation transactions were incurred: 

  March 31, 2014  March 31, 2013 
     

Consulting fees $ - $ 71,832 

Directors fees  -  99,618 

Management fees and salaries   407,642  572,055 

 $ 407,642 $ 743,505 

Unpaid and accrued management fees  included in 
accounts payable $ 436,184 $ - 
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17. SEGMENTED REPORTING 
The Company is organized into business units based on mineral properties and has one reportable operating segment, 
being that of acquisition and exploration and evaluation activities. 

 

18. LOSS PER SHARE 

Basic loss per share amounts is calculated by dividing the net loss for the year by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. (2014: 160,264,781; 2013: 147,735,508) 
The basic and diluted loss per share is the same as there are no instruments that have a dilutive effect on earnings. 
Diluted loss per share for each of years presented excludes the effect of potentially dilutive securities including 8,990,500 
share purchase options (2013: 10,349,000 options) and 18,049,000 share purchase warrants (2013: 17,194,000 warrants) 
as their inclusion in the calculation of diluted loss per share would have been anti-dilutive.   

 

19. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE PERIOD END 

Subsequent to March 31, 2014, the Company announced a settlement agreement with Management of the Company. 
The Company will issue a total of 16,250,000 common shares in consideration for settlement of debts of $325,000. The 
agreement is subject to regulatory approval, and the common shares will be subject to a four-month hold. In connection 
with the settlement of debt for shares, Management agreed to forgive certain amounts owing and to amend their 
existing management agreements to remove bonus and RRSP contribution obligations, reduce change in control benefits 
to 6 months and reduce management fees to $7,500 and $5,000 per month for the CEO and CFO, respectively. These 
shares have yet to be issued. 
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Tel:  604 688 5421 
Fax:  604 688 5132 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP 
600 Cathedral Place 
925 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver BC V6C 3L2 Canada 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 
To the shareholders of Evolving Gold Corp. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Evolving Gold Corp. and its subsidiaries, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Evolving Gold Corp., and its subsidiaries as at March 31, 2013 and 2012 and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that the 
Company has incurred a net loss of $15,722,060 for the year ended March 31, 2013 and has an accumulated deficit of 
$41,298,968 since inception. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence 
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
(signed) “BDO CANADA LLP” 
 
Chartered Accountants 
June 25, 2013 
 

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 
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Note March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equiva lents 5 129,517$               5,408,363$             

Ava i lable for sa le securi ties 6 1,261,134              3,795,166               

GST receivable 26,529                   39,695                    

Other receivable 94,661                   56,110                    

Prepaid expenses 105,362                 141,517                  

Asset held for sa le 7 12,056,318            -                             

13,673,521            9,440,851               

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash 8 -                             670,309                  
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Note 2013 2012
Expenses

Accounting and audit 105,190$                108,956$           
Depreciation 10 85,465                    83,490               
Bank charges and interest 18,757                    5,231                  
Consulting 17 94,392                    220,097             
Directors fees 17 98,960                    147,982             
Legal 17 448,468                  176,629             
Management fees 17 572,055                  793,787             
Office, rent and salaries 17 712,602                  802,937             
Promotion and advertising 60,802                    333,750             
Property Investigation costs 1,734                       14,112               
Share-based payments 13 897,398                  1,146,031          
Transfer agent and fi l ing fees 103,040                  156,982             
Travel 205,528                  135,062             

3,404,391               4,125,046          
Other Items

Change in fair value of warrant l iabil ity 12 (1,194,924)             (849,621)            
Write-down of mineral properties 9 -                                1,588,118          
Write-down of available for sale securities 6 2,352,100               -                           
Foreign Exchange 131,492                  70,662               
Interest and other income (56,764)                   (61,507)              

Loss for the year from continuing operations (4,636,295)             (4,872,698)        

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 7 (11,085,765)           4,084,065          

Net loss for the year (15,722,060)$         (788,633)$         
Other comprehensive loss

Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities -                                (132,347)            

(15,722,060)$         (920,980)$         

 - bas ic (0.03)                        (0.04)                   
 - di luted (0.03)                        (0.04)                   

 - bas ic (0.08)                        0.03                    
 - di luted (0.08)                        0.03                    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the 
owners of the parent

Loss per share from continuing operations:

Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations:
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Note
 Number of 

shares Amount Reserves

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) Deficit

Equity 
attributable to 

the owners of the 
parent

Non-controll ing 
interest

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity

Balance at March 31, 2011 128,580,445        67,145,331          10,874,474          132,347                (28,762,607)         49,389,545          2,524,146            51,913,691          

12 10,290,000          5,715,783            -                             -                             -                             5,715,783            -                             5,715,783            

Warrant l iabil ity valuation on Private placement 12 (718,767)              -                             -                             -                             (718,767)              -                             (718,767)              
12 123,000                38,721                  -                             -                             -                             38,721                  -                             38,721                  

Fair value of options exercised 12 67,995                  (67,995)                 -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             
12 20,000                  9,692                    -                             -                             -                             9,692                    -                             9,692                    

Share-based payments 12 -                             -                             1,146,031            -                             -                             1,146,031            -                             1,146,031            
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities 6 -                             -                             -                             (132,347)              -                             (132,347)              -                             (132,347)              
Disposition of interest in Prosperity Goldfields (2,524,146)           (2,524,146)           
Net loss for the year -                             -                             -                             -                             (788,633)              (788,633)              -                             (788,633)              
Balance at March 31, 2012 139,013,445        72,258,755$        11,952,510$        -$                           (29,551,240)$      54,660,025$        -$                           54,660,025$        

12 12,000,000          3,587,313            -                             -                             -                             3,587,313            -                             3,587,313            
Warrant l iabil ity valuation on Private placement 12 -                             (1,523,394)           -                             -                             -                             (1,523,394)           -                             (1,523,394)           

12 5,555,555            1,003,100            -                             -                             -                             1,003,100            -                             1,003,100            
12 20,000                  5,674                    -                             -                             -                             5,674                    -                             5,674                    

Share-based payments 12 -                             -                             897,398                -                             -                             897,398                -                             897,398                
Warrants expired 12 -                             -                             (3,974,332)           -                             3,974,332            -                             -                             -                             
Net loss for the year -                             -                             -                             -                             (15,722,060)         (15,722,060)         -                             (15,722,060)         

Balance at March 31, 2013 156,589,000        75,331,448$        8,875,576$          -$                           (41,298,968)$      42,908,056$        -$                           42,908,056$        

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Shares issued for property payments

Share Capital

Shares issued in relation to a private placement

Shares issued on the exercise of options

Shares issued for property payments

Shares issued in relation to a private placement

Shares issued in exchange for 1,176,470 shares 
of Pinetree Capital
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2013 2012

Operating Activities
Net loss for the period (15,722,060)$    (788,633)$          
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash
used in operating activities:
Share-based payments 897,398             1,146,031          
Depreciation 85,465                83,490                
Change in fair value of warrant l iabil ity (1,194,924)         (849,621)            
Write-down of available for sale securities 2,352,100          -                           
Loss (gain) on dilution and disposition of Prosperity Goldfields -                      (4,084,065)         
Interest accrued on letter of credit (12,209)              -                           
Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets 11,085,765        1,588,118          
Unrealized foreign exchange -                      (18,714)              
Changes in assets and l iabil ities:
   Receivables (25,385)              (16,288)              
   Prepaid expenses & other current assets 36,155                (37,538)              
   Accounts payable & accrued l iabil ities 457,084             (791,468)            
Cash used in operating activities (2,040,611)         (3,768,688)         

Financing activities:

Issuance of Common shares 2,063,919          5,035,737          
Issuance of warrants 1,523,394          718,767             
Cash provided by financing activities 3,587,313          5,754,504          

Investing activities:
Mineral property expenditures (8,434,962)         (9,328,076)         
Cash used in investment activities - discontinued operations (177,792)            -                           
Property payments received -                      1,000,000          
Acquistion of property and equipment (86,018)              (51,223)              
Cash provided by discontinued operations -                      2,820,094          
Revocation of letter of credit 682,518             -                           
Funds received from disposition of available for sale securities 1,190,706          -                           
Cash used in investment activities (6,825,548)         (5,559,205)         

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (5,278,846)         (3,573,389)         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance 5,408,363          8,981,752          

Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance 129,517$           5,408,363$        

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Year ended March 31, 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 Evolving Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Evolving”) was incorporated as 6109527 Canada Ltd. on June 19, 2003, under the Canada 
Business Corporation Act and is in the business of acquiring, exploring and evaluating mineral properties.  On September 30, 
2003, the Company changed its name to Evolving Gold Corp.  The Company is in the exploration stage and has interests in 
mineral properties located in the United States of America.  Effective December 7, 2010, the common shares of the Company 
were listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TMX”) and trade under the symbol EVG.  

The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at 1166 Alberni Street, Suite 605, Vancouver, 
BC, Canada, V6E 3Z3.   The Company’s registered address is Suite 1500, 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4N7. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 a) Statement of Compliance 

 These financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

 The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on June 26, 2013. 

 b) Basis of Measurement 

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets and derivative liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

 The financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency, unless 
otherwise indicated.  The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment of complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.  

 The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled entities.  Details of controlled 
entities are as follows: 

  Percentage owned 
 incorporation 

Jurisdiction March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 
Evolving Gold Corporation USA                100%   100% 
5210 Nunavut Ltd. Nunavut                100%   100% 
Exemplar Gold Corp. Canada                   100%                     100% 
Rattlesnake Mining Corporation Canada 100% - 
Rattlesnake Mining Company (Wyoming) USA 100% - 

Inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company 
transactions, are eliminated on consolidation. 

In order to effect the Rattlesnake Plan of Arrangement (Note 9), the Company incorporated two wholly owned subsidiaries 
during the year ended March 31, 2013, Rattlesnake Mining Corporation (Canada) and Rattlesnake Mining Company 
(Wyoming) (USA). 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 c) Nature of Operations 

 These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of the business for the foreseeable future. As at March 31, 2013, the 
Company has incurred a net loss of $15,722,060 for the year ended March 31, 2013 and has an accumulated deficit of 
$41,298,968 since inception. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which casts significant doubt 
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon 
obtaining, in the short term, the necessary financing to meet the Company’s operating and mineral property commitments 
as they come due and to finance future exploration and development of potential business acquisitions, economically 
recoverable reserves, securing and maintaining title and beneficial interest in the properties and upon future profitable 
production. Failure to continue as a going concern would require that assets and liabilities be recorded at their liquidation 
values, which might differ significantly from their carrying values.  

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial statements unless 
otherwise indicated.  

 a) Foreign Currency Transactions 

 Foreign currency accounts are translated into United States dollars as follows: 

 At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated into 
United States dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the year-end date, unsettled monetary assets 
and liabilities are translated into United States dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the year-end date and the 
related translation differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the retranslation of 
monetary available-for-sale financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change in fair value and recognized 
in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary available-for-sale financial assets form part of the overall gain or 
loss recognized in respect of that financial instrument. 

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into United States dollars by using the 
exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value or a revalued amount are translated into United States dollars by using the 
exchange rate in effect at the date the value is determined and the related translation differences are recognized in net 
income or other comprehensive loss consistent with where the gain or loss on the underlying non-monetary asset or liability 
has been recognized. 

 b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, demand deposits with financial institutions and other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash 
equivalents includes bank overdrafts.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 c) Leased Assets 

Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the 
Company (a "finance lease"), the asset is treated as if it had been purchased outright. The amount initially recognized as an 
asset is the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments payable 
over the term of the lease. The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments are analyzed 
between capital and interest. The interest element is charged to the statement of comprehensive loss over the period of the 
lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital element reduces the 
balance owed to the lessor. 

Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are not transferred to the Company (an "operating 
lease"), the total rentals payable under the lease are charged to the statement of comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of lease incentives is recognized as a reduction of the rental expense over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 d)  Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 Pre-exploration Costs 

Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 

 Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include 
such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and amortization on plant and 
equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including 
general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they occur. 

The Company may occasionally enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Company will transfer part of a mineral 
interest as consideration for an agreement by the transferor to meet certain exploration and evaluation expenditures which 
would have otherwise been undertaken by the Company. The Company does not record any expenditures made by the 
farmee on its behalf. Any cash consideration received from the agreement is credited against the costs previously capitalized 
to the mineral interest given up by the Company, with any excess cash accounted for as a gain on disposal.   

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration and evaluation 
expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure 
costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of comprehensive loss/income.  

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use.  

 Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the property 
is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as ‘mines under construction’. Exploration and evaluation 
assets are also tested for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties.   

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection with exploration 
activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 e) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Recognition and Measurement 

On initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are valued at cost, being the purchase price and directly attributable 
cost of acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by the Company, including appropriate borrowing costs and the estimated present value 
of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability would be recognized within 
provisions. Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, less any 
accumulated impairment losses, with the exception of land which is not depreciated. When parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, 
plant and equipment. 

 Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss and is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets 
as follows: 

Office furniture and fixtures Straight line over 3 Years 
Computer equipment  Straight line over 3 Years 
Exploration vehicles Straight line over 5 Years 
Leasehold improvements Straight line over the term of the lease 
Computer software One year 

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate. 

 f) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

Non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 
accordingly. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the 
asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent they reverse gains previously recognized in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss/income. 

 g) Financial Instruments 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into one of the following categories based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. All 
transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.  The Company's accounting policy for each: 
category is as follows: 

 Loans and Receivables 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a lender to a borrower 
in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.  They are initially recognized at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently carried at amortized cost, using 
the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. 
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 g)    Financial Instruments (CONTINUED) 

Available-For-Sale Investments  

Non-derivative financial assets that do not meet the definition of loans and receivables are classified as available-for-sale 
and comprise principally the Company's strategic investments in entities not qualifying as subsidiaries or associates. 
Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive 
loss/income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset (which 
constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any amount previously 
recognized in other comprehensive loss/income, is recognized in profit or loss.  If there is no quoted market price in an 
active market and fair value cannot be readily determined, available-for-sale investments are carried at cost. (Note 6)  

On sale or impairment, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive loss/income is reclassified from 
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income to profit or loss.  

 Impairment on Financial Assets 

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets.  

 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities, based on the purpose 
for which the liability was incurred, and are initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable 
to the issuance of the instrument.  

The warrant liability is carried at fair value through profit or loss and reflects the estimated fair value in US dollars of the 
derivative liability associated with the underlying share purchase warrants which are denominated in Canadian dollars. 

Other financial liabilities comprise trade payables and accrued liabilities and are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  This ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the 
balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial position. Interest expense in this context includes initial transaction costs 
and premiums payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding. 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the year 
which are unpaid. 

 h) Provisions 

Asset Retirement Obligation 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused by 
exploration and evaluation activities. The Company records the present value of the estimated future costs of legal and 
constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites in the year in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of 
the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the affected exploration sites.  

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and 
regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying 
amount of the related exploration properties. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present 
value based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks.   

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions to the corresponding 
assets and rehabilitation liability in the year in which they occur.  

 Other Provisions 

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past transactions, 
including legal or constructive obligations.  The provision is measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the reporting date. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 i)  Income Taxes 

 Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income except 
to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive 
loss/income. 

 
Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss for the 
current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.  Current income taxes are determined 
using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base, 
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

 Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted to 
those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be 
utilized.  At the end of each reporting year the Company reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Company 
recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 j) Share Capital 

Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the Company. Financial instruments issued 
by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability or 
financial asset. The Company’s common shares are classified as equity instruments.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.  

 k) Earnings / Loss Per Share 

Basic earnings/loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares of the Company by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant year.  

Diluted earnings/loss per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the 
sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common shares that would 
have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted.  

 l) Stock Based Payments 

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is charged to the 
statement of comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are taken into account by 
adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount 
recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market 
vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a 
charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure 
to achieve a market vesting condition or where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied.  Where the terms and conditions of 
options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the 
modification, is also charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the remaining vesting period. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 l)   Stock Based Payments (CONTINUED) 

 Where equity instruments are granted to employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the equity instrument granted at 
the grant date. The grant date fair value is recognized in comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period, described as the 
period during which all the vesting conditions are to be satisfied.   

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services received 
in the statement of comprehensive loss/income.  Options or warrants granted related to the issuance of shares are recorded 
as a reduction of share capital. 

When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, the fair 
value is measured by use of a valuation model. 

 All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in stock option reserves, until exercised. Upon exercise, shares are 
issued from treasury and the amount reflected in stock option reserves is credited to share capital, adjusted for any 
consideration paid. 

Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting conditions are 
not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes the amount 
that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the vesting period. Any payment 
made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an equity interest except to the extent the 
payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess is 
recognized as an expense. 

m) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for accounting 
years beginning after April 1, 2013 or later years. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements, except for the following: 

 The following standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective: 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is part of the IASB's wider project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary measurement 
categories for financial assets: amortized cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity's business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the new standard on 
the accounting for the available-for-sale investment. 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  

IFRS 10 builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity 
should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company. The standard provides 
additional guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. The Company is yet to 
assess the full impact of IFRS 10 and intends to adopt the standard no later than the accounting period beginning on 
April 1, 2013. 

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 describes the accounting for arrangements in which there is joint control; proportionate consolidation is not 
permitted for joint ventures (as newly defined). IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC 13 Jointly 
Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. The Company is yet to assess the full impact of IFRS 
11 and intends to adopt the standard no later than the accounting period beginning on April 1, 2013. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 m)  Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective (CONTINUED) 

 • IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities 

IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, 
associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The Company is yet to assess the full impact 
of IFRS 12 and intends to adopt the standard no later than the accounting period beginning on April 1, 2013. 

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  

IFRS 13 aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single 
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are 
largely aligned between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on 
how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP. 
The Company is yet to assess the full impact of IFRS 13 and intends to adopt the standard no later than the accounting 
period beginning on April 1, 2013. 

• IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 

In IFRIC 20, the IFRS Interpretations Committee sets out principles for the recognition of production stripping costs in 
the balance sheet. The interpretation recognizes that some production stripping in surface mining activity will benefit 
production in future periods and sets out criteria for capitalizing such costs. While the Company is not yet in the 
production phase, the Company is currently assessing the future impact of this interpretation which is effective for the 
accounting period beginning on April 1, 2013.   

There are no other IFRS’s or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Company. 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, actual experience may differ from 
these estimates and assumptions. 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive income in the year 
of the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year of the change and future years, if the change affects both. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements within the next financial year 
are discussed below: 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 i) Rehabilitation Provisions 

Rehabilitation provisions have been created based on the Company’s internal estimates. Assumptions, based on the current 
economic environment, have been made which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the 
future liability. These estimates take into account any material changes to the assumptions that occur when reviewed 
regularly by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on current regulatory requirements. Significant 
changes in estimates of contamination, restoration standards and techniques will result in changes to provisions from year 
to year. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future market prices for the rehabilitation costs which will 
reflect the market condition at the time the rehabilitation costs are actually incurred.  The final cost of the currently 
recognized rehabilitation provisions may be higher or lower than currently provided for.  

 ii) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment in 
determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on 
assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the profit or loss in the year the new information becomes 
available. 

 iii) Title to Mineral Property Interests 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these procedures do 
not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers and title may be 
affected by undetected defects. 

iv) Income Taxes 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The 
Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s current 
understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its 
best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management 
believes they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result 
in a materially different outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities. 

 In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference can be utilized.  This is 
deemed to be the case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and 
the same taxable entity which are expected to reverse in the same year as the expected reversal of the deductible 
temporary difference, or in years into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. 
However, utilization of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the 
losses are recouped. 

 v) Share-based Payment Transactions and Derivative Liabilities related to Equities 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This 
estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 
stock option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.   Similar methodology is used to determine 
the fair value of derivative liabilities related to warrants denominated in Canadian dollars. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

vi) Impairment of mineral interests, property, plant and equipment 

Impairment testing is done at the cash generating unit level and judgment is involved in assessing whether there is any 
indication that an asset or cash generating unit may be impaired. This assessment is made based on an analysis of, amongst 
other factors, changes in the market or business environment, events that have transpired that have impacted the asset or 
cash generating unit, and information from internal reporting 

vii) Impairment of AFS Securities 

The determination of whether an investment is impaired requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the 
company evaluates, amongst other things, the duration and extent to which the fair value of the investment is less than its 
original cost at each reporting period. 

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Cash at banks and on hand earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. As at March 31, 2012, cash 
equivalents included a total of $3,958,490 ($CDN 3,954,250) held in guaranteed investment certificates bearing interest at 
annual rates ranging from 1.25% - 1.40%.   

6. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES 

 

Available-for-sale securities consist of an investment in common shares of Prosperity Goldfields Corp., NV Gold Corp and 
Pinetree Capital Corp. and therefore have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. The fair value of the listed available-for-sale 
securities has been determined directly by reference to published price quotations in an active market: 

 
 Fair Value ($US) 

 
 

March 31, 
 2013  

March 31, 
 2012 

     

 
Prosperity Goldfields Corp 

$535,153 
 

$3,587,232 
 

March 2013- 4,008,704 shares; March 2012 – 3,983,454 shares 

 
NV Gold Corp 

32,593 
 

207,934 
 

March 2013- 829,500 shares; March 2012- 829,500 shares 

 
Pinetree Capital Corp 

March 2013- 1,176,470 shares; March 2012- nil shares  
 

693,388  - 

 
 $1,261,134   $3,795,166 

     On February 28, 2012 the Company announced it had entered into agreements for the sale of 7,950,108 shares of Prosperity 
Goldfields Corp. in two tranches for a total consideration of $4,010,800. Of this total consideration, $2,820,094 was received 
on closing of the first tranche on March 12, 2012; the balance of $1,190,706 in respect of the second tranche was received 
during the year ended March 31, 2013. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company recorded an impairment write-down of $2,352,100 (2012: Nil) 
attributable to the prolonged and significant decline in the market value of available for sale securities. 
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

 

 

Subsequent to March 31, 2013, the Company initiated a plan to sell its Rattlesnake Hills mineral property. Although no 
agreement for the sale of this property has been executed, management expects the completion of an agreement to 
occur by March 31, 2014. Accordingly, the Rattlesnake Hills property and its associated asset retirement obligation has 
been accounted for as discontinued operations and classified in the consolidated financial statements as follows as at 
March 31, 2013: 

 
 March 31, 2013  March 31, 2012 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION     

Current Assets     

 Acquisition costs $ 4,179,130 $ - 

 Deferred exploration costs  19,615,611  - 

 Reclamation bond  286,000  - 

 Asset retirement obligation  286,000   

 Write-down and payments received  (12,310,423)  - 
     

Asset held for sale $ 12,056,318 $ - 

     

Current Liabilities     

 Asset retirement obligation $ 286,000 $ - 

     

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS     
     

 Write-down of mineral properties $ (11,085,765) $ - 

 Gain on disposal of interest  -  4,084,065 

 Gain / (loss) from discontinued operations $ (11,085,765) $ 4,084,065 

 Earnings / loss per share from discontinued operations:     

- Basic  (0.08)  0.03 

- Diluted  (0.08)  0.03 
     

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS     

Investment Activities     

Mineral property expenditures $ (377,970) $ - 

Property payments received  200,178  - 

Proceeds from disposal of interest in Prosperity  -  2,820,094 

Cash provided by (used in) investment activities – discontinued 
operations $ (177,792) $ 2,820,094 
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 

During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company agreed to sell 7,950,108 shares of Prosperity Goldfields for total 
consideration of $4,010,800. Of this total consideration, $2,820,094 was received in the year ended March 31, 2012 and the 
remaining $1,190,706 was received during the year ended March 31, 2013.  As a result of the reduction of its interest in 
Prosperity Goldfields, the Company recorded a gain on disposal within discontinued operations totaling $4,084,065.  

8. RESTRICTED CASH 

As a result of United States Federal and State Government environmental permitting requirements, effective May 22, 2009 the 
Company established a US$600,000 irrevocable letter of credit in order to provide for future site restoration at the Company’s 
Rattlesnake Hills mineral property.  This letter of credit was provided by the Company’s bank on behalf of the Company and 
was secured by an interest-bearing term deposit.  The deposit was reflected as long-term restricted cash due to the nature of 
the obligation it secured.  
During the period ended December 31, 2012, the Company requested a re-evaluation of its asset retirement liability on the 
Rattlesnake property by the State of Wyoming.  As a result of this re-evaluation, the Company increased its cash bond on 
Rattlesnake by $136,000 to $286,000 as determined by the state on October 23, 2012.   

The Company also requested the cancellation of the requirement for the letter of credit, which eliminated the corresponding 
restriction on its term deposit with the Company’s bank.  The State of Wyoming released the letter of credit on November 5, 
2012, and the restricted term deposit and accrued interest totaling $682,518 was returned to general corporate funds  

 



Evolving Gold Corp.  
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
Expressed in United States Dollars 
For the year-ended March 31, 2013 

 

18 
 

9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

          
 

Carlin Humboldt Jake Creek Malone Rattlesnake 
 

March 31, 2013 
 

March 31, 2012 
          Acquisition costs 

         Opening  Balance  $       1,787,741   $         2,157,915   $                        -   $                    -   $              945,951  
 

 $               4,891,607  
 

 $             2,400,975  
Reclassification of opening balance      -                             -                             -                         -                3,233,179  

 
                  3,233,179  

 
                               -  

Additions     766,048                 375,530                             -                         -                               -                      1,141,578                    2,490,632  

 
    2,553,789              2,533,445                             -                         -                4,179,130                      9,266,364                    4,891,607  

          Deferred exploration costs 
         Opening balance    12,461,577              3,016,373              2,087,931             848,318              22,448,340  

 
                40,862,539  

 
              34,965,734  

Reclassification of opening balance            -                             -                             -                         -               (3,233,179) 
 

                (3,233,179) 
 

                               -  
Assays and reports      119,529                             -                             -                         -                               -  

 
                     119,529  

 
                   199,916  

Drilling     5,266,886                 573,455                   35,912                         -                      (6,771) 
 

                  5,869,482  
 

                5,733,250  
Field expenses        195,938                   10,494                   12,471                 1,017                   132,226  

 
                     352,146  

 
                   370,152  

Geological consulting     467,527                   95,371                 121,035                 2,723                   124,304  
 

                     810,960  
 

                   818,749  
Geophysical and geological studies      51,186                   16,040                   30,656                         -                     51,200  

 
                     149,082  

 
                               -  

Staking and recording      71,552                   35,096                 105,120               11,658                     99,491                         322,917                       362,856  

 
  18,634,195              3,746,829              2,393,125             863,716              19,615,611                    45,253,476                  42,450,657  

                    Reclamation bonds        380,273                             -                             -                         -                   286,000  
 

                     666,273  
 

                   594,555  
Asset retirement obligation       320,273                   50,000                   30,000                         -                   286,000  

 
                     686,273  

 
                   485,000  

Write-down of mineral properties              -                             -                             -                         -             (11,110,245) 
 

              (11,110,245) 
 

               (1,588,118) 
Property and other payments received            -                             -                             -                         -               (1,200,178) 

 
                (1,200,178) 

 
               (1,000,000) 

Transfer to  assets held for sale               -                             -                             -                         -  (12,056,318)        (12,056,318) 
 

                               -  

 
      700,546                   50,000                   30,000                         -             (23,794,741)                 (23,014,195) 

 
               (1,508,563) 

          
 

$     21,888,530   $         6,330,274   $         2,423,125   $        863,716   $                           -     $             31,505,645     $           45,833,701  
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
In September 2007, the Company signed a Letter of Intent to enter into an agreement with Newmont USA Limited, Newmont 
Capital Limited and Elko Land and Livestock Company (collectively “Newmont”) concerning an exploration partnership on the 
Sheep Creeks, Boulder Valley, Carlin and Cottonwood Creek properties.  A fifth property, identified as Susie Creek, has not had 
any activity to date and accordingly no interest in this property is reflected in these financial statements.  

During fiscal 2012, the Company decided to terminate any further exploration on Boulder Valley, and wrote off $1,588,118 of 
deferred exploration costs. 

In addition, the Company acquired the Carlin and Humboldt Properties, which are adjacent to, but do not form part of the 
Newmont properties noted above. 

A Mineral Lease, Sublease and Agreement which was signed effective November 28, 2007 continues to govern the Company’s 
interest in the Boulder Valley and Carlin mineral properties.  Under the terms of this Agreement, Newmont would lease or 
sublease to the Company its interest in certain lands, unpatented mining claims and fee interests in these areas, subject to a 
back-in right in exchange for the Company: 

  - Assuming all of Newmont’s lease obligations insofar as they pertain to these project areas. 

  - Incurring exploration expenditures of $3,500,000 for each of the two properties for a total of $7,000,000 over five 
years with 70% of such expenditures in direct drilling costs: 

• On or before November 28, 2008  – $200,000 (incurred); 
• On or before June 20, 2009  – $200,000 (incurred); 
• On or before November 28, 2009  – additional $600,000 (incurred); 
• On or before November 28, 2010  – additional $1,200,000 (incurred); 
• On or before November 28, 2011  – additional $2,000,000 (incurred); 
• On or before November 28, 2012  – additional $2,800,000 (incurred); 

 

   In the event Newmont or the Company acquires any interest in minerals within the Susie Creek project area, the 
Company will need to incur $3,500,000 in exploration expenditures over a similar five year period from the 
acquisition date then determined. 

  - Reimbursing Newmont for all payments and filings necessary to keep each property in good standing. 

  - Providing semi-annual reports to Newmont for each project area’s work program and costs incurred. 

  - After six years, paying an annual rental on each project area, if $750,000 was not incurred on exploration 
expenditures during the preceding lease year on that project area.  Annual rental would be calculated at $10 per acre, 
escalating by 5% each year. 

- Paying a 3% to 5% sliding scale net smelter return (“NSR”) royalty on production from each property less any 
underlying royalties, with a minimum of 2%. 

 Newmont can elect to terminate the agreement and enter into one or more joint venture agreements with the Company covering 
all or a portion of each project area.  Newmont may earn a 51% interest in each joint venture property by expending on the property 
200% of the exploration expenditures made by the Company from the date of the agreement to the date Newmont elects to exercise its 
joint venture option and may elect to earn an additional 19% interest in the joint venture property by expending on the property an 
additional 150% of the Company’s expenditures on the joint venture property.  If the Company decides to commence mineral 
production of the project area and Newmont elects not to exercise the joint venture option or elects not to complete its earn-in 
expenditures, Newmont would agree to sell its interest in the project area property to the Company. 

The Company has the right to provide sixty days written notice at any time to surrender the agreement as to all or any part of this 
property. 

Carlin Property 

The Carlin property also forms part of the Newmont Agreement aforementioned under the Boulder Valley property. 

On January 11, 2010, the Company signed a ten-year surface lease agreement for the lands described as the Carlin property in 
exchange for cash of $16,000 (paid) and $10,000 payable annually on January 11, 2011 and each year thereafter. Prior to 
commencement of commercial production the Company is obligated to purchase the area for $2,000 per applicable acre.  The 
agreement can be terminated by Evolving after thirty days written notice is provided and can be extended if certain conditions 
are met including providing compensation for surface area disturbance. 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
Carlin Property (continued) 

On March 29, 2010, the Company signed a purchase and royalty reservation agreement for a 50% undivided fee interest in 
additional lands on the Carlin property in exchange for cash of $10,000, cash of $190,000 paid on completion and the issue of 
non-interest bearing promissory notes for $1,200,000 payable in annual $300,000 instalments commencing May 27, 2011. During 
the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company paid first instalment of $300,000 and in June 2012, the Company paid the second 
promissory note instalment of $300,000. 

On April 13, 2010 the Company signed an additional purchase agreement for a 100% undivided fee interest in additional adjacent 
lands in exchange for cash paid on signing of $10,000, cash of $290,000 paid on completion and the issue of promissory notes for 
$2,200,000 payable in annual $550,000 instalments, commencing August 10, 2011.  During the 2012 fiscal year, the Company re-
negotiated the terms of the Carlin Property promissory note.  The note was revised to the following: 

$2,200,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest rate shall be the Wall Street 
Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%.  Payments of $360,000 are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each year 
thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. 

In addition with respect to both the March 29, 2010 and the April 13, 2010 aforementioned agreements, the Company will be 
committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR royalty on production. 

Subsequent to March 31, 2013, the Company notified the Carlin property vendors that it would be unable to comply with payment 
obligations totaling $660,000 on their due dates. The Company has initiated plans to fulfill its obligations that include approaching 
the vendors to discuss the renegotiation of the terms of the agreements. Although there is no assurance that it will be successful in 
doing so, the Company believes it will be able to successfully obtain new terms of agreement from the property vendors. 

Humboldt Property 

On March 29, 2010, the Company signed a purchase and royalty reservation agreement for a 50% undivided fee interest in 
additional lands on the Humboldt property in exchange for cash paid of $15,000, cash of $285,000 paid on completion, and the 
issue of non-interest bearing promissory notes for $2,800,000 payable in annual $700,000 instalments, commencing May 27, 
2011. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company paid the first promissory note instalment of $700,000 and in June 
2012, the Company paid the second instalment of $700,000.  

At April 13, 2010 the Company also signed two other purchase agreements for a 100% undivided fee interest in additional 
adjacent lands in exchange for cash of $20,000 paid, cash of $480,000 paid on closing and the issue of non-interest bearing 
promissory notes for $1,800,000 and $3,200,000 payable in annual $450,000 and $800,000 instalments respectively, commencing 
August 10, 2011. In addition with respect to both the March 29, 2010 and the April 13, 2010 aforementioned Humboldt 
agreements, the Company will be committed to pay up to 1.0% NSR on production.   

During the 2012 fiscal year, the Company re-negotiated the terms of the Humboldt Property promissory notes.  The notes were 
revised to the following: 

1) $3,200,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest rate shall be the Wall Street 
Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%.  Payments of $523,000 are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each year 
thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. During the year 
ended March 31, 2013, the Company negotiated an extension of the $523,000 payment originally due February 10, 2013 to a 
new due date of May 27, 2013.    

2) $1,800,000 bearing an interest rate of 4% until February 10, 2016, at which time the interest rate shall be the Wall Street 
Journal bank prime lending rate plus 1%.  Payments of $295,000 are due on February 10, 2012 (paid) and each year 
thereafter until February 10, 2018 at which time the balance remaining shall become due and payable. During the year 
ended March 31, 2013, the Company negotiated an extension of the $295,000 payment originally due February 10, 2013 to a 
new due date of May 27, 2013.    

Subsequent to March 31, 2013, the Company notified the Humboldt property vendors that it would be unable to comply with payment 
obligations totaling $1,518,000 on their due dates. The Company has initiated plans to fulfill its obligations that include approaching the 
vendors to discuss the renegotiation of the terms of the agreements. Although there is no assurance that it will be successful in doing so, 
the Company believes it will be able to successfully obtain new terms of agreement from the property vendors.    
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
Jake Creek Property  

In December 2007, the Company increased its exploration activities in north-central Nevada and acquired additional claims near 
the Sheep Creeks area (the “Jake Creek property”). 

Carlin and Humboldt Properties  

 On October 26, 2009 the Company signed a mineral lease and property option agreement comprising sixty-two unpatented 
mining claims located in Elko County, Nevada, part of the Humboldt property. In addition on February 28, 2010 the Company 
signed a mineral lease and royalty buy down agreement comprising eight unpatented mining claims located adjacent to those 
Humboldt claims acquired in the aforementioned October 26, 2009 agreement.  

 Both agreements have a primary term of fifteen years and so long thereafter as exploration, development or mining is being 
conducted on the property but can be terminated at any time in whole or in part after the Company provides thirty days written 
notice.  Pursuant to the terms of these two agreements the Company is required to pay: 

 Cash of $ 25,000 (paid) 

 Advance royalty payments: 

- $ 10,000 (paid) 
- $ 12,500 (paid)  
- $ 15,000 on October 26, 2011 (paid) 
- $ 17,500 on October 26, 2012 (paid) 
- $ 20,000 on October 26, 2013   
- $ 25,000 on October 26, 2014 and 
- $25,000 consumer price index adjusted, to be paid annually on October 26, 2015 and each year thereafter for 

the duration of the lease 
 
 Advance royalty payments: 

- $ 10,000 on February 28, 2011 to 2015 (paid  $30,000) 
- $ 15,000 on February 28, 2016 to 2020  
- $ 20,000 on February 28, 2021 and  
- $ 20,000 consumer price index adjusted, to be paid annually on February 28, 2021 and each year thereafter 

for the duration of the lease  
 
  Shares to be issued: 

- 50,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent) by October 26, 2014 
- 50,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent) by February 28, 2015 
- 200,000 shares to be issued (or cash equivalent), at commencement  of production. 

 
  Pay claim maintenance fees and filings to maintain the unpatented claims. 

 
 The agreements are subject to a royalty of 2.775% to 3% of net smelter returns which the Company can, with respect to the 8 

unpatented claims, reduce to 2% with the payment of $1,000,000 for each 0.5% reduction. 

 Pursuant to the terms of the October 26, 2009 Agreement, the Company has the right to acquire ownership of the 62 unpatented 
claims (and royalty) in exchange for a cash payment of $4,000,000 subject to recoupment of any royalty payments made by the 
Company. 

On April 13, 2010, the Company signed a ten year surface lease agreement for the lands in exchange for cash of $42,503 on 
execution and on each anniversary thereafter if acreage is not decreased.  The Company will also pay a onetime payment of 
$1,500 for each drill site and $100 per acre per year for other surface disturbance if ranching and grazing is not possible.  One half 
of these lands have been allocated to each of the Carlin and Humboldt properties. 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
On April 13, 2010 the Company signed two mineral lease agreements encompassing a total of 4,635.76 acres of additional lands 
in the Elko and Eureka counties in Nevada in exchange for cash paid for advance mineral royalties of $55,725.  One half of these 
lands have been allocated to each of the Carlin and Humboldt properties. 

Future royalties will be payable annually based on the amount of acreage utilized but will be at least $20,000.  The term of each 
lease is ten years which can be extended if certain conditions are achieved. 

Pursuant to the terms of both leases the Company can decrease the leased acreage or can otherwise terminate the lease after 
thirty days written notice is provided and has also been granted the right of first refusal to purchase either property.  The 
agreements are subject to a non-participating production royalty of 5% of net smelter returns. 

Rattlesnake Property 

In July 2007, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent with Golden Predator Mines, Inc. and Golden Predator Mines Inc. 
(collectively “GPM”) for the acquisition of Golden Predator’s mining option on a 100% interest in Bald Mountain Mining 
Company’s (“BMM”) Rattlesnake Hills mineral property located in Natrona County, Wyoming.  The Company is required to make 
payments of $20,000 per year to the owners of the property as long as the Company continues to make option payments on this 
property. On December 11, 2007, BMM signed an amended and restated Option Agreement with GPM with respect to BMM 
acquiring a 100% interest in this property.  On January 15, 2008 a Letter of Agreement was signed to formalize the terms by 
which BMM would assign its interest in the amended and restated Rattlesnake Hills Option Agreement to the Company.  Under 
the terms of the January 15, 2008 Letter of Agreement, the Company would acquire its interest in the property option from BMM 
in exchange for the issue of cash of  $200,000 (paid) and the issuance of 400,000 shares which were valued at the share trading 
price at the date of issuance.  On January 16, 2008, the Company signed a property option agreement with GPM.  Under the 
terms of this Agreement, the Company could acquire up to a 100% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills Property in exchange for the 
issue of 3,000,000 shares to be issued in three separate tranches of 1,000,000 shares each, over approximately a two year period. 
A finder’s fee was paid by the issue of 75,000 shares in connection with this transaction. 

In February 2010, the Company exercised its option to complete the acquisition of 100% of the Rattlesnake Hills Property by 
issuing the final tranche of 1,000,000 shares to GPM.  Each of the three 1,000,000 share issues has been valued at the share price 
at the date of its issuance. 

As part of the agreement GPM will retain a 0.5% NSR royalty with respect to the property and the Company will have the option 
to purchase one-half of the NSR royalty for $375,000, reducing it to 0.25%.  The property is currently subject to a 4% production 
royalty payable to the underlying owners and equal to the gross proceeds less a deduction for all milling, smelting, refining, 
treatment and other processing costs.  Prior to the Company completing the acquisition of this mineral property option, GPM had 
the right to purchase up to 10% of the shares offered in private placements undertaken by the Company, such purchases to be at 
the same terms and conditions as other purchasers participating in the offering. Pursuant to these terms 1,000,000 units were 
issued to GPM in April, 2008 for proceeds of $1,000,000 and an additional 1,234,578 units were issued as part of the November, 
2009 private placement for proceeds of $1,111,120.  Each unit was comprised of one common share and one-half of a share 
purchase warrant.  The 500,000 warrants attached to the April, 2008 unit have now expired. 

On May 9, 2011, the Company announced that it had signed a Letter Agreement with a subsidiary of Agnico–Eagle Mines Ltd. to 
form a joint venture on its Rattlesnake Hills project in Wyoming. Under the terms of the Letter Agreement, Agnico–Eagle (A) Ltd. 
(Agnico-Eagle) had the option to earn up to a 70% interest in the Rattlesnake Hills project by carrying Evolving Gold through 
completion of a feasibility study. In order to earn a 70% interest over a seven-year period Agnico-Eagle was required to make 
payments to EVG totalling $12 million, to purchase C$23 million in the common shares of EVG, and to expend a minimum of $41 
million on exploration/development work on the project. A binding joint venture agreement was completed on June 24, 2011, 
and a drill program followed. Agnico-Eagle’s minimum work expenditure for the first year was $3 million. The 2011 exploration 
program included drilling extensions of the two main gold zones, drilling targets between these two zones, testing previously 
identified targets in the core area, and completing a regional program to define additional drill targets on the large Rattlesnake 
Hills property. 

On May 28, 2012, Agnico-Eagle provided notice of its intent to terminate the joint venture, effective June 30, 2012.  A 
termination agreement was subsequently negotiated and signed. 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
Rattlesnake Property (Continued) 

Rattlesnake Plan of Arrangement 

On February 7, 2013, the Company announced, subject to shareholder and regulatory approval, a Plan of Arrangement ( the 
“Arrangement”) whereby Evolving’s wholly owned subsidiary, Evolving US, would transfer specific Rattlesnake net assets to a 
newly incorporated US company named Rattlesnake Mining (Wyoming) Company ( “Rattlesnake Wyoming”).  Rattlesnake 
Wyoming’s parent is Rattlesnake Mining Corp. (“RMC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Evolving. The net assets transferred include 
the mineral interests in the Rattlesnake property and the related reclamation bond, and asset retirement obligation. 
Consideration for the transfer will be a note payable for $11,700,000.  The valuation of the assets was determined by an 
independent valuation, as a result of which capitalized exploration and evaluation expenditure were written down in these 
financial statements by $11,110,245 to reflect fair market value. 

RMC will issue 58,500,000 shares to Evolving in exchange for the Rattlesnake Wyoming Note with a value of $11,700,000. Under 
the terms of the Arrangement, RMC shares will be distributed to Evolving’s shareholders by way of the Arrangement on the basis 
of one share of Rattlesnake Mining Corp. for every ten Evolving common shares held. Shares received in excess of the distribution 
to Evolving Shareholders will be retained by Evolving.   

As part of the Arrangement, holders of Evolving warrants and options who have not exercised as of the effective date of the Plan 
of Arrangement will be entitled to receive one share of Rattlesnake Mining Corp. for every 10 Evolving warrants or options they 
exercise after the effective date.  

Concurrent with the completion of the Plan of Arrangement, RMC will offer a minimum of 15,000,000 and a maximum of 
25,000,000 units at a price of $0.20 Cdn per unit, for minimum proceeds of $3,000,000 Cdn and maximum proceeds of 
$5,000,000 Cdn.  Each unit will be comprised of one RMC share and one-half of a warrant, each whole warrant entitling the 
holder thereof to purchase an additional RMC share for $0.30 Cdn per share, for a period of three years from issuance. 

Subsequent to the March 31, 2013 year end, the Company was approached by third parties to exploring the possible sale of the 
Rattlesnake project.  Due to general market conditions and the difficulty of raising funds in this market, the Company decided to 
explore this option as well as the proposed plan of arrangement. As a result, the Rattlesnake property has been classified as being 
held for sale (Note 7).  The Company has not made a final determination as to which course of action is most beneficial to the 
Company.  

Malone Property 

On April 17, 2006 the Company entered into a quitclaim deed and royalty agreement with Newmont North America Exploration 
Limited whereby the Company was granted all rights, title, estate and interest in unpatented mineral claims located in Lordsburg, 
New Mexico in exchange for cash paid of $20,000.  The agreement is subject to a royalty of 2% of net smelter returns. 

  



Evolving Gold Corp. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Expressed in United States dollars 
For the year-ended March 31, 2013 
 

24 
 

 

10. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
   Office furniture 

and equipment 

 Computer 
equipment and 

software 
 Leasehold 

Improvements 
 Exploration 

Vehicles Total

Cost:
March 31, 2012 136,782                224,559                68,502                  172,753                602,596             
Additions 11,872                  65,424                  8,722                    86,018               
Disposals (11,910)                 (152,030)              (58,314)                 (67,499)                 (289,753)           

March 31, 2013 136,744                137,953                18,910                  105,254                398,861             

Depreciation
March 31, 2012 (109,651)              (215,289)              (49,607)                 (101,098)              (475,646)           
Additions (21,314)                 (24,326)                 (14,389)                 (25,436)                 (85,465)              
Disposal 11,910                  152,030                58,314                  67,499                  289,753             

March 31, 2013 (119,055)              (87,585)                 (5,682)                   (59,035)                 (271,358)           

Net Book Value
March 31, 2012 27,131$                9,269$                  18,895$                71,655$                126,950$          
March 31, 2013 17,689$                50,367$                13,228$                46,219$                127,503$          

 Office furniture 
and equipment 

 Computer 
equipment and 

software 
 Leasehold 

Improvements 
 Exploration 

Vehicles Total

Cost:
March 31, 2011 108,768                209,880                59,972                  172,753                551,373             
Additions 28,014                  14,679                  8,530                    51,223               
Disposals

March 31, 2012 136,782                224,559                68,502                  172,753                602,596             

Depreciation
March 31, 2011 (92,164)                 (193,137)              (30,319)                 (76,536)                 (392,156)           
Additions (17,487)                 (22,153)                 (19,288)                 (24,562)                 (83,490)              
Disposal

March 31, 2012 (109,651)              (215,289)              (49,607)                 (101,098)              (475,646)           

Net Book Value
March 31, 2011 16,604$                16,743$                29,653$                96,217$                159,217$          
March 31, 2012 27,131$                9,269$                  18,895$                71,655$                126,950$          
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11. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

The Company has estimated the present value of its Rattlesnake Hills Mineral Property future reclamation obligation as legally required 
by the United States Federal and State Government permitting requirements.  The increase in the asset retirement obligation since 
March 31, 2009 results from an increase in exploration activity on various properties.  The Company fulfils its site restoration obligations 
as required when a drill site is abandoned, and accordingly no discounted present value was calculated due to the expected short term 
nature of the obligation.  Management will continue to assess asset retirement obligations as future exploration activity is undertaken.   

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company requested a re-evaluation of its asset retirement liability on the Rattlesnake 
property.  As a result of this re-evaluation, the Company increased its cash bond on Rattlesnake by $136,000 to $286,000, the amount 
calculated by the State of Wyoming.  The letter of credit previously required to secure the obligation was cancelled November 5, 2012 
resulting in a net increase of $11,000 in the asset retirement obligations of the Company.   

The balances are as follows: 

 

March 31, 
2013 

March 31, 
2012 

 
Opening balance  $485,000 $302,000 
Additions during the period  201,273 183,000 
  $686,273 $485,000 
    
Asset retirement obligations are classified in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows:    
 Asset retirement obligation – discontinued operations   $286,000 - 
 Asset retirement obligation  400,273 485,000 
  $686,273 $485,000 

 

12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 a) Common Shares  

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, issuable in series. 

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends which are declared from time to time, and are entitled to 
one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  All shares are ranked equally with regards to the Company's residual 
assets. 

The changes to share capital during the year ended March 31, 2013, are summarized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Shareholders’ Equity included in these financial statements. 

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company completed the following share related transactions: 

• 12,000,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net proceeds of $3,587,313.  Each Unit 
consisted of one common share and one common share purchase warrant, for a total of 12,000,000 warrants for 
which proceeds of $1,523,394 were allocated at their fair value determined by the Black Scholes pricing model using 
the following inputs: Exercise Price - CDN$0.40; Share price  - $CDN 0.30; expected life – 3.0 years; volatility – 85%; 
dividend yield – 0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one common share of the Company at a 
price of CDN$0.40 until August 13, 2015. In connection with the Offering, the Company also issued finder’s 
compensation warrants totaling 49,000 warrants having a fair value of $28,928 and recorded as a share issue cost. 
These compensation warrants are exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.30 until 
August 13, 2014. All securities issued in the Offering are subject to a four-month hold period ending December 14, 
2012 in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws.  

• 5,555,555 common shares were issued in consideration for the issuance of 1,176,470 common shares of Pinetree 
Capital at a price of $0.85 CAD cents per share based on the quoted market price of Pinetree Capital on the date of the 
transaction for a total of $1,003,100.  

• 20,000 shares were issued with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for Prosperity Goldfields Corp., 
pursuant to the property agreement previously signed by the Company prior to the sale of Prosperity.  The value 
attributed to these shares was $5,674 based on the quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date of their 
issuance.  The Company received 25,250 additional Prosperity shares as repayment for this issuance. 
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12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

 a)  Common Shares (Continued) 

  During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company completed the following share related transactions: 

• 10,290,000 units were issued pursuant to a private placement offering for net proceeds of $5,715,783.  Each Unit 
consisted of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, for a total of 5,145,000 
warrants for which proceeds of $718,767 were allocated at their fair value determined by the Black Scholes pricing 
model using the following inputs: Exercise Price - $CDN0.75; Share price  - $CDN 0.60; expected life – 1.5 years; 
volatility – 62.18%; dividend yield – 0.00% .  Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one common share of 
the Company at a price of CDN$0.75 until February 23, 2013. In connection with the Offering, the Company also 
issued finder’s compensation warrants totaling 110,400 warrants exercisable into one common share of the Company 
at a price of CDN$0.60 until February 23, 2013. All securities issued in the Offering are subject to a four-month hold 
period ending December 24, 2011 in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws.   

• 123,000 shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of options during the period at various prices.  Gross proceeds 
were $38,721.  

• 20,000 shares were issued with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for Prosperity.  The value attributed to 
these shares was $9,692.  The Company received 8,403 additional Prosperity shares as repayment for this issuance. 

 b) Reserves 

   March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 

 Warrants  $                    - $            3,974,332 

 Stock Options   8,875,576 7,978,178 

 Reserves     $    8,875,576 $         11,952,510 
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12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 

 c) Share Purchase Warrants  

The following is a summary of changes in warrants for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013:  

 March 31, 2013  March 31, 2012 

 

Number of 
warrants 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
(CDN $) 

 

Number of 
warrants 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 
(CDN $) 

Warrants outstanding, beginning of period   5,145,000  $ 0.75    6,263,630  $ 1.23 

Warrants issued   12,000,000        0.40    5,145,000        0.75 

Warrants exercised   -   -    -   - 

Warrants expired - -  (6,263,630) 1.23 

Warrants outstanding, end of period  17,145,000  $ 0.51   5,145,000  $ 0.75 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2013, in addition to the warrants above, the Company issued 49,000 (2012 - 110,400) agent 
warrants exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of CDN$0.30 (2012 - $0.60).  

On January 21, 2013 the Company announced that it has received approval from Toronto Stock Exchange to extend the term of 
5,145,000 warrants that were set to expire on February 23, 2013 to February 23, 2014 and to reduce the exercise price of the 
Warrants from $0.75 per share to $0.40 per share. These Warrants were originally issued on August 23, 2011 as part of a 
private placement. 

As at March 31, 2013, the Company had total outstanding warrants, including Agent’s warrants, as follows: 

 
Number of 
warrants Exercise price Expiry 

Share purchase warrants 5,145,000 CDN$0.40 February 23, 2014 

 12,000,000 CDN$0.40 August 13, 2015 

Share purchase warrants, excluding agents warrants 17,145,000   

 49,000 CDN$0.30 August 13, 2014 

 17,194,000   
 

The Company re measures the fair value of share purchase warrants granted to unit holders denominated in currencies other 
than that of the functional currency of the entity every reporting period using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

As at March 31, 2012, the fair value of these warrants was $92,860. During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company 
granted 12,000,000 share purchase warrants having a fair value of $1,523,394 in connection with a private placement. The fair 
value of these warrants were measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: stock 
price: $CDN0.28, exercise price: $CDN 0.40, volatility: 85%, risk-free discount rate: 1.12%, dividend rate: 0.0%      

As at March 31, 2013, the Company re-measured its warrant liabilities and determined their fair value to be $421,330 (2012: 
$92,860) The fair value of these warrants were measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following 
assumptions: stock price: $CDN0.28, exercise price: $CDN 0.40 - $CDN 0.75, volatility: 90-99%, risk-free discount rate: 4.20%, 
dividend rate: 0.0%. As a result, for the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company has recorded the change in fair value of its 
warrant liabilities in the statement of comprehensive loss totaling $1,194,924 (2012: $849,621)      
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12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
d) Nature and Purpose of Reserves 

 
Reserves  
• Stock option reserve 

The stock option reserve records items recognized as stock-based compensation expense until such time that the stock 
options are exercised, at which time the corresponding amount will be transferred to share capital. If the options expire 
unexercised, the amount recorded is transferred to deficit. 
 

• Warrant reserves 
The warrant reserve records items recognized as the value of warrants issued with respect to financings and not 
classified as liabilities until such time as the warrants are exercised, at which time the corresponding amount will be 
transferred to share capital. The value of the warrants which eventually expire unexercised is reallocated to deficit upon 
their expiry.   
 

• Deficit 
Deficit is used to record the Company’s change in deficit from earnings and losses from period to period and to record 
the value of expired options and warrants that were originally accounted for as equity instruments. 

 
• Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) is used to record the unrecognized changes in fair value of the 
Company’s holdings of available for sale securities 

 
 
  
 

13. STOCK BASED PAYMENTS 
The Company established a share purchase option plan (the “Plan”) in September 2004.  In September, 2007 shareholder approval 
was obtained to adopt a “rolling” stock option plan.  The Board of Directors administers the Plan, pursuant to which the Board of 
Directors may grant from time to time incentive stock options up to an aggregate maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding 
shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees, consultants or advisors.  All options granted under the Plan shall expire not 
later than the tenth anniversary of the date the options were granted. The exercise price of an option is determined by the Board of 
Directors, but shall not be less than the market price of the common shares of the Company on the TSX on the last business day 
before the date on which the options are granted, less any discount permitted by the rules of the exchange.  Vesting and terms are at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors.  The vesting of options range from vested immediately, a vesting period of three months to a 
two year period from the date of the grant, at 25% and 20% respectively.  Options granted for Investor relations vest in accordance 
with TSX regulation.  The changes in options during the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Number of 
options 

March  31,  
2013 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(CDN $) 

 

Number of 
options 

March 31, 
 2012 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(CDN $) 
Options outstanding, beginning of 

period 9,524,000  $ 0.84  8,712,000  $ 0.81 

Options granted 3,175,000  $            0.32  2,510,000   0.38 

Options exercised -   -  (123,000)   0.35 

Options cancelled (280,000) $             0.90  (1,575,000)                      0.98 

Options expired (2,070,000)            $            0.83  - - 

Options outstanding, end of period 10,349,000  $ 0.52  9,524,000  $ 0.84 

Options exercisable, end of period 8,232,333  $ 0.57  7,934,000  $ 0.73 
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13. STOCK BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Details of options outstanding as at March 31, 2013 are as follows: 

Expiry Date 
Exercise Price 

 (CDN$) 
Options 

Outstanding 

   

November 30, 2014 $1.25 740,000 

May 21, 2015 $0.92 350,000 
December 2, 2015 $1.14 260,000 
January 24, 2016 $0.97 500,000 
February 2, 2016 $0.94 1,000,000 
September 30, 2016 $0.46 250,000 
February 27, 2017 $0.37 2,230,000 
November 14, 2018 $0.17 1,070,000 
January 15, 2019 $0.35  350,000 
April 15, 2019 $0.35                74,000 
May 26, 2019 $0.42  350,000 
July 12, 2017 $0.32 3,175,000 

           10,349,000 

 

Fair Value of Options Issued During the Period 

3,175,000 options granted during the year ended March 31, 2013 (2012: 2,510,000 options granted).  The weighted average fair 
value at grant date of options granted during the year ended March 31, 2013 was $0.25 (2012: $0.37). 

Options Issued to Employees 

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, 
the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, 
the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

Options Issued to Non-Employees 

Options issued to non-employees, are measured based on the fair value of the goods or services received, at the date of 
receiving those goods or services. If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, the options are 
measured by determining the fair value of the options granted, using a valuation model. 

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended March 31, 2013 included: 

Expiry Date 
Share Price at 

Grant Date Exercise Price 
Risk-Free 

Interest Rate 
Expected 

Life Volatility Factor 
Dividend 

Yield 

July 12, 2017 CDN$ 0.32 CDN$0.32 4.20% 60 months 103.80% 0% 

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended March 31, 2012 included: 

Expiry Date 
Share Price at 

Grant Date Exercise Price 
Risk-Free 

Interest Rate 
Expected 

Life Volatility Factor 
Dividend 

Yield 

February 27, 2017 CDN$ 0.37 CDN$0.37 2.25% 60 months 115.00% 0% 

September 30, 2016 CDN$ 0.40 CDN$0.46 2.25% 60 months 115.00% 0% 
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13. STOCK BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any 
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

Expenses Arising from Share-based Payment Transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year ended March 31, 2013 as part of 
employee benefit expense were $897,398 (2012  - $1,146,031). 

Amounts Capitalized Arising from Share-based Payment transactions 

No amounts were capitalized during the year ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012. 
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 14. INCOME TAXES 

 The difference between tax expense for the year and the expected income taxes based on the statutory tax rate arises as 
follows: 

  
March 31, 2013 

$ 
March 31,  2012 

$ 

 Loss before income taxes  (15,722,060) (788,633) 

    

 Tax recovery based on the statutory rate of 26.13% (2012: 26.13%) (3,931,000)  (206,000) 

 Non-deductible expenses - 79,000 

 Foreign income taxed at other than Canadian statutory rate (1,135,000) (235,000) 

 Impact of under provision in previous year (418,000) 2,128,000 

 Effect of change in treatment of Prosperity Goldfields Corp - 300,000 

 Non taxable portion of capital gains - (617,000) 

 Other 293,000 26,000 

 Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets 5,191,000 (1,475,000) 

 Total income tax expense (recovery)  - - 

 
Effective January 1, 2013, the Canadian Federal corporate tax rate is 15% and the BC provincial tax rate is 10%.  

 
Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities, after applying enacted corporate tax 
rates, are as follows: 

 
 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

Share issue costs  71,000 111,000 

Marketable securities 58,000 (238,000) 

Equipment 87,000 63,000 

Mineral properties and related deferred exploration (1,720,000) (4,202,000) 

Asset retirement obligation 240,000 176,000 

Non – capital losses carried forward 12,478,000 10,113,000 

Unrecognized tax assets (11,214,000) (6,023,000) 

 - - 
 

 

The Company has only recognized deferred income tax assets to the extent to which it is probable that sufficient taxable 
income will be realized, or taxable temporary differences will reverse, during the carry-forward periods to utilize the 
deferred tax assets. 

As at March 31, 2013, the Company had accumulated non-capital losses totaling approximately $12,280,000 in Canada 
expiring in various amounts from 2014 to 2033, and $27,028,000 in the US expiring in various amounts from 2028 to 2033 
that may be applied against future year’s taxable income in Canada and US. 
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The company is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks: 

• Market Risk 

• Credit Risk 

• Liquidity Risk 

In common with all other businesses, the company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note 
describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure them. 
Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements. 

There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, polices and 
processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous years unless otherwise stated in the 
note. 

General Objectives, Policies and Processes: 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk management objectives and policies 
and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that 
ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Company’s finance function.  

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the 
Company’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below. 

• Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market prices are comprised of four types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity 
price risk and equity price risk.  

• Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and US dollar or other 
foreign currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial results.  The Company has significant exposure to 
foreign exchange rate fluctuation. The Company is exposed to currency risk to the extent that monetary assets and 
liabilities held by the Company are not denominated in US dollars. The Company has not entered into any foreign 
currency contracts to mitigate this risk. The Company holds balances in Canadian dollars which could give rise to 
exposure to foreign exchange risk.  Sensitivity to a plus or minus 10% change in the foreign exchange rate of the US 
dollar to the Canadian dollar would affect the reported loss and comprehensive loss by approximately $9,964 (March 
31, 2012: $836,960) as detailed below:    

Canadian Dollar Denominated Balances 
March 31,  

2013 
March 31, 

 2012 

Cash          129,517  5,408,363  

Available for sale securities       1,261,134      3,795,166  

Accounts payable    (1,291,010)       (833,926) 

 

99,641         8,369,603  

10% change in exchange rate impact  $            9,964   $          836,960  
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

• Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. Financial instruments which are potentially subject to credit risk for the Company 
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with financial institutions of 
reputable credit and may be redeemed upon demand.  

• The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Company has gross credit 
exposure at March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 relating to cash and cash equivalents of $129,517 and $5,408,363 
respectively.  All cash and cash equivalents are held in deposits at a Canadian chartered bank. The Company considers 
this credit risk to be minimal for all cash and cash equivalent assets based on changes that are reasonably possible at 
the reporting date 

• Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The 
Company’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when they become 
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Company’s reputation. The key to success in managing liquidity is the degree of certainty in the cash flow projections. 
If future cash flows are fairly uncertain, the liquidity risk increases. 

Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses. To 
achieve this objective, the Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and 
updated as considered necessary.  Further, the Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on exploration 
projects to further manage expenditure.   

The Company monitors its risk of shortage of funds by monitoring the maturity dates of existing trade and other 
accounts payable.  

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash flows) of financial 
liabilities: 

 

 

 

 

 

Determination of Fair Value: 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. 
When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes 
specific to that asset or liability. 

The Statement of Financial Position carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and trade and 
other payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. Due to the use of subjective judgments and 
uncertainties in the determination of fair values these values should not be interpreted as being realizable in an 
immediate settlement of the financial instruments. 

Fair Value Hierarchy: 

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped in Levels 1 to 3 
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

  

Accounts payable and other 
liabilities 

Up to 3 
months 

Between 3 
and 12 
months 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

March 31, 2013  $    1,291,010   $                 -   $                 -   $              -   $    1,291,010 

March 31, 2012  $       833,926   $                 -   $                 -   $              -   $       833,926  
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities; and  

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and  

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The available-for-sale securities are based on quoted prices and are therefore considered to be Level 1. 

The fair value of the warrant liabilities are determined with the use of a fair value pricing model and are determined to be Level 
3 liabilities. 

 
 

16. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

 

The company monitors its cash, common shares, warrants and stock options as capital. The Company’s objectives when 
maintaining capital are to maintain sufficient capital base in order to meet its short-term obligations and at the same time 
preserve investor’s confidence required to sustain future development and production of the business.  

The company is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements nor were there any changes in the Company’s 
capital management processes during the year. 
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 The following is a summary of the Company’s related party transactions during the year: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a) Legal Fees 

No legal fees were paid to related parties during the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. 

b) Rental Payments 

Rental payments of $Nil (year-ended March 31, 2012: $25,000) were paid to a company controlled by a former director of the 
Company.   

c) Related Party Transaction with Prosperity Goldfields 

As disclosed in note 12(a) and in accordance with the agreement dated October 28, 2010 (note 7), 20,000 shares of the 
Company were issued during the year ended March 31, 2012 with respect to the acquisition of the Kiyuk property for 
Prosperity.  The value attributed to these shares was $5,674.  The Company received 25,250 additional Prosperity shares 
having the equivalent fair value as repayment for this issuance. 

d) Key Management Compensation 

Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of an entity, and 
include executive and non-executive directors. Payments to key management are recorded as management, consulting and 
directors’ fees. During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company incurred share-based payment charges for its key 
management totaling $650,204 (2012: $751,152). 

  

 

 

The Company incurred the following transactions with directors and officers of the Company. 

 Year ended March 31, 

 2013 2012 

Consulting fees  $ 71,832  $ 220,097 

Directors fees               99,618               147,982 

Management fees   572,055   793,787 

Office rent - 25,188 

  $ 743,505  $ 1,187,054 
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18. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 

 The Company is organized into business units based on mineral properties and has one reportable operating segment, being that 
of acquisition and exploration and evaluation activities.  

19. LOSS PER SHARE 

 Basic loss per share amounts is calculated by dividing the net loss for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year. (2013: 147,735,508; 2012: 134,923,843) 

 The basic and diluted loss per share is the same as there are no instruments that have a dilutive effect on earnings. Diluted loss per 
share for each of years presented excludes the effect of potentially dilutive securities including 10,349,000 share purchase options 
(2012: 9,524,000 options) and 17,194,000 share purchase warrants (2012: 5,145,000 warrants) as their inclusion in the calculation 
of diluted loss per share would have been anti-dilutive.   
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